DERIVATIVES OF RANKIN–SELBERG *L*-FUNCTIONS AND HEIGHTS OF GENERALIZED HEEGNER CYCLES

DAVID T.-B. G. LILIENFELDT AND ARI SHNIDMAN

ABSTRACT. Let f be a newform of weight 2k and let χ be an unramified imaginary quadratic Hecke character of infinity type (2t, 0), for some integer $0 < t \le k-1$. We show that the central derivative of the Rankin–Selberg *L*-function $L(f, \chi, s)$ is, up to an explicit positive constant, equal to the Beilinson–Bloch height of a generalized Heegner cycle. This generalizes the Gross–Zagier formula (the case k = 1) and Zhang's higher weight formula (the case t = 0).

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Jacobi functions	6
3.	<i>L</i> -functions	10
4.	Heights	15
5.	Generalized Heegner cycles	18
6.	Variations of Hodge structures	20
7.	Laplacians	26
8.	Green's kernels	34
9.	Brylinski pairings	41
10.	Cycle classes	46
11.	Archimedean local heights	49
12.	Non-archimedean local heights	59
13.	Final formula	67
14.	Algebraicity	69
15.	Corollary	71
Ap	Appendix: Conventions for Heegner points	
Ref	References	

Date: August 8, 2024.

²⁰²⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 11G40, 11G15, 14C25.

Key words and phrases. Rankin–Selberg L-series, generalized Heegner cycles, Beilinson–Bloch height, Beilinson–Bloch conjecture, complex multiplication, Bloch–Kato Selmer group, Green's kernel.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Main result. Let $0 < t \le k - 1$ be integers, and let K be an imaginary quadratic field of odd discriminant. We consider the Rankin–Selberg L-function $L(f, \chi, s)$ associated to a newform $f \in S_{2k}(\Gamma_0(N))$ and an unramified Hecke character χ of K of infinity type (2t, 0). This L-series admits analytic continuation and a functional equation with global root number $-\epsilon_K(N)$, where ϵ_K is the quadratic Dirichlet character associated to K. We further impose the Heegner hypothesis:

(1)
$$p \mid N \implies p \text{ splits in } K,$$

so that $-\epsilon_K(N) = -1$ and $L(f, \chi, s)$ vanishes to odd order at its center s = k + t.

Our main result (which is also Theorem 13.4) is the following formula for the central derivative in terms of the Beilinson–Bloch height of a certain algebraic cycle $\Delta'_{\gamma,f}$:

Theorem 1.1. With the notations and assumptions as above, we have

$$L'(f,\chi,k+t) = \frac{4^{k+t}\pi^{2k}(f,f)_{\text{Pet}}}{(k-t-1)!(k+t-1)!hu^2|D|^{k-t-1/2}} \langle \Delta'_{\chi,f}, \Delta'_{\chi,f} \rangle^{\text{BB}},$$

where $h = \#Cl_K$, D = Disc(K), $2u = \#\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}$, and $(f, f)_{Pet}$ is the Petersson inner product.

The class $\Delta'_{\chi,f}$ is constructed from an algebraic cycle $\Delta_{\chi} \in \operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(X)_{\mathbb{C}}$, of middle arithmetic codimension on the generalized Kuga–Sato variety $X = W_{2k-2} \times A^{2t}$ defined over the Hilbert class field H of K. Here, $W_{2k-2} \longrightarrow X(N)$ is the Kuga–Sato variety realizing the motive of f [33] and Ais an elliptic curve over H with CM by \mathcal{O}_K . The cycles Δ_{χ} are weighted sums of the generalized Heegner cycles defined by Bertolini–Darmon–Prasanna [3], and will be described in more detail in Section 5.2. Roughly speaking, they are built out of graphs of isogenies living in CM fibers of $X \longrightarrow X(N)$, isogenies which "mix" the Kuga–Sato components with the constant components of the fiber. Let $\operatorname{CH}^i(X)_0 \subset \operatorname{CH}^i(X)$ denote the subgroup of homologically trivial algebraic cycles. The conjectural Beilinson–Bloch height pairing [1, 7]

$$\langle , \rangle^{\mathrm{BB}} \colon \mathrm{CH}^{k+t}(X)_0 \times \mathrm{CH}^{k+t}(X)_0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$

is well-defined on a certain subgroup $G \subset \operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(X)_0$, and $\Delta_{\chi} \in G \otimes \mathbb{C}$. Let Δ'_{χ} be the image of Δ_{χ} in the quotient of $\operatorname{Span}\{T_m\Delta_{\chi}: (m,N)=1\}$ by the kernel of the height pairing (extended to a \mathbb{C} -valued hermitian pairing). The cycle $\Delta'_{\chi,f}$ in Theorem 1.1 is the *f*-isotypic component of Δ'_{χ} with respect to the Hecke action.

Theorem 1.1 generalizes the formula of Zhang [41] (the case t = 0), which is itself a generalization of the Gross–Zagier formula in the case k = 1 (and hence t = 0) [22]. The second author proved a *p*-adic version of Theorem 1.1 in [35], which was subsequently generalized by Disegni in [14].

As in [22] and [41], we deduce the following result about the analytic ranks

$$r_{\mathrm{an}}(f \otimes \chi) := \operatorname{ord}_{s=k+t} L(f, \chi, s)$$

of the complex *L*-functions $L(f, \chi, s)$.

Corollary 1.2. For $\sigma \in \text{Gal}_{\mathbb{O}}$, we have

$$r_{\rm an}(f\otimes\chi)=1\iff r_{\rm an}(f^{\sigma}\otimes\chi^{\sigma})=1.$$

If the height pairing on generalized Heegner cycles is positive-definite, as is expected, then we also deduce that $L'(f, \chi, k+t) \ge 0$, as is predicted by the Riemann hypothesis for $L(f, \chi, s)$.

1.2. The Beilinson-Bloch and Bloch-Kato conjectures. Let Y be a smooth and proper variety over a number field F. Taken together, the Beilinson-Bloch and Bloch-Kato conjectures [6, 8] predict that for each integer $i \ge 0$ and prime ℓ , the higher Abel-Jacobi map

(2)
$$\operatorname{AJ}_Y^i \colon \operatorname{CH}^i(Y)_0 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_\ell \longrightarrow H^1_f(\operatorname{Gal}_F, H^{2i-1}_{\operatorname{et}}(\overline{Y}, \mathbb{Q}_\ell(i)))$$

to the Bloch–Kato Selmer group is an isomorphism of \mathbb{Q}_{ℓ} -vector spaces, and moreover these spaces have dimension $\operatorname{ord}_{s=i} L(H^{2i-1}(Y), s)$, where $L(H^{2i-1}(Y), s)$ is the *L*-function attached to the associated system of ℓ -adic Gal_F-representations.

In our setting, $L(f, \chi, s)$ is a factor of $L(H^{2k+2t-1}(X), s)$, and so Theorem 1.1 yields the following implication predicted by Beilinson–Bloch–Kato:

Corollary 1.3. With the notations and assumptions as above, we have

 $r_{\mathrm{an}}(f \otimes \chi) = 1 \implies \dim_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathrm{CH}^{k+t}(X)_0 \ge 1.$

The Beilinson-Bloch-Kato conjecture is compatible with algebraic correspondences: if $M \subset h(X)$ is a rational Chow submotive of X, determined by an idempotent correspondence ϵ , then we expect that $\operatorname{ord}_{s=i} L(H^{2i-1}(M), s) = \dim_{\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{CH}^{i}(M)_{0} = \dim_{\mathbb{Q}} \epsilon \operatorname{CH}^{i}(X)_{0}$. Combining Theorem 1.1 with work of Castella-Hsieh [13] and Elias [15] on Euler systems of generalized Heegner cycles, we obtain the following conditional result for the motive $h(f) \otimes h(\chi) \subset h(X)$:

Corollary 1.4. Suppose the map AJ_X^{k+t} (2) is injective. Then

$$r_{\mathrm{an}}(f \otimes \chi) = 1 \implies \dim_{K(\chi)} \epsilon_{\chi,f} \operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(X)_0 = 1.$$

Here, $\epsilon_{\chi,f}$ is the idempotent defining the rational Chow motive $h(f) \otimes h(\chi)$ inside h(X).¹

Castella–Hsieh [13] proved an analogous result in analytic rank 0, under some technical hypotheses. See [11, Rem. 1.2.2] for further applications of our results to the Tamagawa number conjecture.

As the Bloch–Kato Selmer group of a rational Chow motive M depends only on its ℓ -adic realizations M_{ℓ} , we also deduce some applications to an a priori larger class of motives which should have useful applications. Let $V_{f,\chi,\ell}$ be the 4-dimensional ℓ -adic representations of $\operatorname{Gal}_{\mathbb{Q}}$ attached to $f \otimes \chi$.

Corollary 1.5. Let M be a rational Chow motive over \mathbb{Q} such that $M_{\ell} \simeq V_{f,\chi,\ell}$ for all but finitely many ℓ . Suppose that AJ_X^{k+t} is injective. Then for primes $\ell \nmid 2(2k-1)!N\varphi(N)$ split in K, we have

$$r_{\mathrm{an}}(f \otimes \chi) = 1 \implies \dim_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}} H^1_f(\mathrm{Gal}_{\mathbb{Q}}, M_\ell(k+t)) = 1.$$

The technical hypotheses on ℓ again come from [13].

Remark 1.6. If Y is a rigid Calabi–Yau (2k - 1)-fold and A^{2t} is a power of a CM elliptic curve, then $h(Y \times A^{2t})$ contains a motive M such that $M_{\ell} \simeq V_{f,\chi,\ell}$, by [18]. More elementary examples come from abelian varieties J isogenous to $E^{2k-1} \times A^{2t}$, for some CM elliptic curve E. When J is moreover a Jacobian, there is a canonical Ceresa-type cycle in codimension k+t, which one expects is typically non-zero in $\operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(M)$ and hence in the Bloch–Kato Selmer group as well. See [28] or [5] for 3-dimensional examples of this type. Part of our interest in these examples is that they tend to give extremal behavior: e.g., the Jacobian J of the modular curve X(8), which is the genus 5 curve with largest automorphism group. In these examples, $\operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(M)$ is the 0-th graded piece of the coniveau filtration on the Griffiths group $\operatorname{Gr}^{k+t}(Z)$, where $Z = Y \times A^{2t}$ or Z = J. Note that the Tate conjecture implies that $M \simeq h(f) \otimes h(\chi)$, but the Tate conjecture is open in these cases.

¹Scholl constructs $h(f) \subset h(W_{2k-2})$ in the category of Chow motives modulo homological equivalence [33], but injectivity of (2) implies that h(f) has the desired properties even in the category of motives modulo rational equivalence.

One can deduce *p*-adic variants of Corollary 1.5 from [14, 35] or [2] respectively, with hypothesis that a certain *p*-adic *L*-function vanishes to order 1 (resp. 0), and where the conclusion requires taking $\ell = p$. These *p*-adic results are unconditional since Nekovář's *p*-adic height factors through the Abel–Jacobi map. Corollary 1.5 is the first complex result for motives of this type, but it seems difficult to make it unconditional at the moment.

1.3. Strategy of proof. As in [22], the proof of Theorem 1.1 is divided into four steps.

First we compute the Fourier coefficients of a newform $g = \sum_{m>1} a_g(m)q^m \in S_{2k}(\Gamma_0(N))$ satisfying

(3)
$$(f,g) = \frac{\sqrt{|D|D^t(2k-2)!}}{2^{4k-1}\pi^{2k}}L'(f,\chi,k+t), \quad \forall f \in S_{2k}^{\text{new}}(\Gamma_0(N)).$$

This step is carried out using Rankin's method to arrive at an integral representation of $L(f, \chi, s)$ as the Petersson product of f with the product of Θ_{χ} with a non-holomorphic Eisenstein series. Using holomorphic projection, we compute the desired Fourier coefficients (Theorem 3.6).

The second and third steps are concerned with the calculation of the geometric q-expansion

$$\sum_{m} \langle \Delta_{\chi}, T_m \Delta_{\chi} \rangle^{\mathrm{BB}} q^m.$$

Injectivity of AJ_X^{k+t} would imply that this q-expansion is a modular form as well, however this is not known and is only deduced as a result of our proof.² This means we must compute Fourier coefficients even in cases where Δ_{χ} and $T_m \Delta_{\chi}$ intersect in the generic fiber. For each m, the height pairing admits a decomposition as a sum of local height pairings indexed by the places of H. The second and third steps are the calculations of the archimedean and non-archimedean contributions, respectively. Both steps are carried out using Brylinski's pairing for local systems on curves [10]. The second step requires us to identify the Green's kernel attached to the polarized variation of Hodge structures $W_{k,t}$ described below. This occupies a large part of the paper (Sections 6 – 8). The third step can be extracted from local height calculations performed in [35], at least when there is no intersection in the generic fiber. In both steps, the case of intersection in the generic fiber uses Zhang's work [41] on limits of local height pairings. The outcome of the second and third steps is the equality

(4)
$$\langle \Delta_{\chi}, T_m \Delta_{\chi} \rangle^{\text{BB}} = \kappa \cdot a_g(m), \quad \forall (m, N) = 1,$$

where κ is an explicit non-zero constant independent of m (Theorem 13.1).

In the fourth and final step, we derive Theorem 1.1 from (3) and (4) using standard arguments.

1.4. **Green's kernels.** Generalized Heegner cycles give rise to elements in fibers of the weight 0 polarized variation of Hodge structures

$$W_{k,t} := (\operatorname{Sym}^{2k-2} R^1 \pi_* \mathbb{Z})(k-1) \otimes \kappa_{2t} H^{2t}(A^{2t}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z})(t),$$

where $\pi: \mathcal{E} \to Y(N)$ is the universal elliptic curve and κ_{2t} is the projector (26). In Lemma 8.2 we show that the Green's kernel associated to $W_{k,t}$ (defined for z = x + iy and z' = x' + iy' distinct in the upper half-plane) is obtained by averaging the function

$$g_{k,t}(z,z') := -Q_{k,t}\left(1 + \frac{|z-z'|^2}{2yy'}\right),$$

where

$$Q_{k,t}(x) := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{2^{2t} dw}{(x + \sqrt{x^2 - 1}\cosh(w))^{k-t}(x + 1 + \sqrt{x^2 - 1}e^w)^{2t}}$$

²In the *p*-adic setting, the injectivity of AJ_X^{k+t} is not necessary to deduce modularity of the analogous *q*-expansion of *p*-adic heights, which is one reason why this paper is technically more involved than [35].

is a Jacobi function of the second kind. As a result, the archimedean contribution to the height $\langle \Delta_{\chi}, T_m \Delta_{\chi} \rangle^{\text{BB}}$ is a linear combination of sums of the form

$$\mathcal{G}_{k,t}^{m}(z,z') := \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{a,b,c,d \in \mathbb{Z} \\ ad-bc=m,N|c}} g_{k,t} \left(z, \frac{az'+b}{cz'+d}\right) (c\bar{z}z'+d\bar{z}-az'-b)^{2t}$$

Let $\lambda = \{\lambda_m\}_{\geq 1}$ be a relation for $S_{2k}(\Gamma_0(N))$, in the sense of [22, p. 316], so that:

- i) $\lambda_m \in \mathbb{Z}, \lambda_m = 0$ for all but finitely many m;
- ii) $\sum_{m>1} \lambda_m a_m = 0$ for all $\sum_{m>1} a_m q^m \in S_{2k}(\Gamma_0(N));$
- iii) $\lambda_m = 0$ if $(m, N) \neq 1$ or $r_{\mathcal{A}, \chi}(m) \neq 0$ for some $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$.

As a consequence of our local height and Fourier coefficient calculations, we show that for points z and z' in the upper half-plane with complex multiplication by \mathcal{O}_K , the value

$$\sum_{m\geq 1} m^{k-t-1} \lambda_m \mathcal{G}_{k,t}^m(z,z')$$

is an algebraic multiple of the logarithm of an algebraic number, conditional on the non-degeneracy of the Beilinson–Bloch height pairing. See Theorems 14.1 and 14.2 for the precise statements. This extends the algebraicity results [22, V (4.3)] and [41, Thm. 5.2.2] of Gross–Zagier and Zhang, which were recently generalized in a different direction by Bruinier–Ehlen–Yang [9] and Li [27].

1.5. Assumptions. It would be desirable to relax some of the hypotheses in Theorem 1.1, especially in light of Remark 1.6. Among other things, this would entail re-doing Gross and Zagier's deformation theoretic computations on the modular curve $X_0(N)$ in the presence of extra ramification. As the computations in the "minimally ramified" case turned out to be quite long on their own, we decided to focus in this paper on what is really new when χ is no longer of finite order.

For the future, it would be worthwhile to prove analogous formulas for odd weight modular forms, in which case χ must be ramified as well, in order for $L(f, \chi, s)$ to be critical and self-dual in the sense of [3]. One could also try to allow modular forms f with "deeper" ramification, by combining the method of [32] with our work. It would also be desirable to relax the Heegner hypothesis (1), in which case one should work over a compact Shimura curve (corresponding to an indefinite quaternion algebra) as in [40]. Generalized Heegner cycles over Shimura curves are well-studied [24, 29], but there are obstacles to overcome in order to compute their Beilinson–Bloch heights (see [38]). Finally, the case $t \geq k$ (with global root number still -1) is quite mysterious. The arithmetic Gan–Gross–Prasad program for $\mathbf{SO}(3) \times \mathbf{SO}(2)$ (and the results of Saito–Tunnel) suggest that one should work over the Shimura variety corresponding to a definite quaternion algebra. But the latter is 0-dimensional, so this case seems to require a completely different construction of algebraic cycles. One promising approach would be to relate $L(f, \chi, s)$ to modified diagonal cycles, as in [12], by generalizing the triple product formula of Yuan–Zhang–Zhang [39]. However, this type of Gross–Zagier formula would necessarily involve other auxiliary L-values.

1.6. Notations and conventions. By default, Chow groups are with \mathbb{Q} -coefficients. Given a \mathbb{Z} module M and a group G, we write G_M for $G \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} M$. Likewise, if E/F is an extension of fields and Y is a variety defined over F, then we write Y_E for the base-change $Y \times_{\text{Spec}(F)} \text{Spec}(E)$. We use a similar notation for base-change of morphisms or algebraic cycles, though we sometimes suppress the subscript when the meaning is unambiguous. Starting from Section 5, we adopt the following conventions. In general, we will use the notation z for a point of \mathcal{H} , while the notation τ is reserved for CM points. Points on X(M) will generally be denoted using the letter Q, while points on $X_0(N)$ will be denoted using the letter P. The letters x and y will generally be used to denote real and imaginary parts of complex numbers respectively. 1.7. Outline. Section 2 contains preliminaries on Jacobi functions, which will turn out to compute the relevant Green's kernel for the height pairing. In Section 3, we carry out the *L*-function calculations. More precisely, we define the Rankin–Selberg convolution *L*-function, derive its functional equation, and compute the Fourier coefficients of the cuspform g (Theorem 3.6). Section 4 recalls generalities about height pairings on algebraic cycles. Section 5 introduces generalized Kuga–Sato varieties and generalized Heegner cycles. Sections 6 and 7 contain preliminaries on variations of Hodge structures and calculations of Laplacians, respectively. Section 8 is dedicated to constructing the relevant Green's kernel needed for the archimedean Brylinski pairing calculations that are subsequently carried out in Section 9. Section 10 computes the cycle classes of generalized Heegner cycles in Section 11. Section 12 is concerned with the non-archimedean local height calculations. Section 13 puts everything together, giving a proof of Theorem 1.1. Section 14 contains algebraicity results for special values of Green's kernels. Section 15 provides a proof of Corollary 1.4.

1.8. Acknowledgements. The authors thank Kartik Prasanna for suggesting this problem many years ago, and Francesc Castella for helpful comments. Both authors were funded by the European Research Council (ERC, CurveArithmetic, 101078157) and the Israel Science Foundation (grant No. 2301/20). Some of the local computations in this paper appear in the last two chapters of [34], which was written while AS was partially supported by National Science Foundation RTG grant DMS-0943832. DTBGL was supported by an Emily Erskine Endowment Fund Post-Doctoral Researcher Fellowship while at the Hebrew University of Jerusalem, and by an Edixhoven Post-Doctoral Fellowship while at Leiden University.

2. Jacobi functions

We collect some standard results about Jacobi functions using [16, 36] as our main sources. We then prove an asymptotic formula near 1 for Jacobi functions of the second kind.

2.1. Hypergeometric functions. Given real numbers a, b, c, x with |x| < 1 and c > 0, the associated hypergeometric function is defined by

(5)
$$F(a, b, c; x) := \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_n (b)_n}{(c)_n} \frac{x^n}{n!}$$

with $(a)_0 = 1$ and $(a)_n = \Gamma(a+n)/\Gamma(a) = a(a+1)\dots(a+n-1)$ being the rising Pochhammer symbol. These functions satisfy Euler's transformation law

(6)
$$F(a,b,c;x) = (1-x)^{c-a-b}F(c-a,c-b,c;x).$$

2.2. Jacobi polynomials. Let α and β be real numbers, and let $n \geq 0$ be an integer. The corresponding Jacobi polynomial $P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ is defined by the formula

(7)
$$P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) := \frac{(\alpha+1)_n}{n!} F\left(-n, n+\alpha+\beta+1, \alpha+1; \frac{1-x}{2}\right).$$

Explicitly, we have

(8)
$$P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = \frac{\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)}{n!\Gamma(n+\alpha+\beta+1)} \sum_{j=0}^n \binom{n}{j} \frac{\Gamma(n+\alpha+\beta+j+1)}{\Gamma(\alpha+j+1)} \left(\frac{x-1}{2}\right)^j.$$

The following formula is known as Rodrigues' formula [16, Vol. II 10.8.(10)]:

(9)
$$P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = \frac{(-1)^n}{2^n n! (1-x)^\alpha (1+x)^\beta} \left(\frac{d}{dx}\right)^n [(1-x)^{n+\alpha} (1+x)^{n+\beta}].$$

The Jacobi polynomials are solutions of the second order differential equation [16, Vol. II 10.8.(14)]

(10)
$$(1-x^2)f''(x) + [\beta - \alpha - (\alpha + \beta + 2)x]f'(x) + n(n + \alpha + \beta + 1)f(x) = 0.$$

For $0 \le t \le k - 1$, define the function

(11)
$$P_{k,t}(x) = \frac{1}{2^{k-t-1}(k+t-1)!} \left(\frac{d}{dx}\right)^{k+t-1} \left[(x^2-1)^{k-t-1}(x-1)^{2t}\right].$$

Proposition 2.1. For $0 \le t \le k-1$, we have $P_{k,t}(x) = P_{k-t-1}^{(0,2t)}(x)$.

Proof. Observe, using Rodrigues's formula (9), that

$$P_{k+t-1}^{(0,-2t)}(x) = \frac{(-1)^{k+t-1}(1+x)^{2t}}{2^{k+t-1}(k+t-1)!} \left(\frac{d}{dx}\right)^{k+t-1} \left[(1-x)^{k+t-1}(1+x)^{k-t-1}\right] = \frac{(1+x)^{2t}}{2^{2t}} P_{k,t}(x).$$

Thus, using (8) and Euler's transformation law (6), we see that

$$P_{k,t}(x) = \frac{2^{2t}}{(1+x)^{2t}} F\left(-k-t+1, k-t, 1; \frac{1-x}{2}\right) = F\left(k+t, -k+t+1, 1; \frac{1-x}{2}\right) = P_{k-t-1}^{(0,2t)}(x).$$

Associated with the polynomials $P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ are the Jacobi polynomials of the second kind³

(12)
$$W_{n-1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) := \int_{-1}^{1} \frac{P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) - P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(u)}{x - u} (1 - u)^{\alpha} (1 + u)^{\beta} du$$

defined for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$, all $x \in \mathbb{C}$, and $\alpha, \beta > -1$. The function (12) is the degree n-1 polynomial solution of the inhomogeneous linear differential equation

$$(1 - x^2)f''(x) + [\alpha - \beta + (\alpha + \beta - 2)x]f'(x) + (n + 1)(n + \alpha + \beta)f(x) = 2(\alpha + \beta + 1)\frac{d}{dx}P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x).$$

2.3. Jacobi functions of the second kind. The Jacobi functions of the second kind are denoted by $Q_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ and defined, for x in the complex plane cut along the segment [-1,1], by the formula [36, (4.61.1))]

(13)
$$Q_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) := \frac{2^{-n-1}}{(x-1)^{\alpha}(x+1)^{\beta}} \int_{-1}^1 \frac{(1-u)^{n+\alpha}(1+u)^{n+\beta}}{(x-u)^{n+1}} du$$

In the special case $\alpha = \beta = 0$, the function $Q_n(x) := Q_n^{(0,0)}(x)$ is the Legendre function of the second kind. The function $Q_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$ can be defined for -1 < x < 1 by the formula [36, (4.62.9)], but this definition will not be needed here. The function $Q_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$ is a non-polynomial solution of the differential equation (10), which is linearly independent of $P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$ [36, Thm. 4.61.1]. According to [36, Thm. 4.61.2], the following representations hold for x in the complex plane cut along the segment [-1, 1]:

(14)
$$Q_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = \frac{2^{-1}}{(x-1)^{\alpha}(x+1)^{\beta}} \int_{-1}^1 \frac{P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(u)}{x-u} (1-u)^{\alpha} (1+u)^{\beta} du,$$

³We depart here from the notations of [16] where these polynomials are denoted $q_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$ [16, Vol. II 10.8.(24)]. Instead, we adopt the notations of [19, (9)], except that the polynomials therein are normalized by a factor of $\frac{\Gamma(\alpha+\beta+2)}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\Gamma(\alpha+1)\Gamma(\beta+1)}$ which we choose to drop.

and (15)

$$Q_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) := \frac{2^{n+\alpha+\beta}\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)\Gamma(n+\beta+1)}{\Gamma(2n+\alpha+\beta+2)(x-1)^{n+\alpha+1}(x+1)^{\beta}}F\left(n+1, n+\alpha+1, 2n+\alpha+\beta+2; \frac{2}{1-x}\right)$$

Observe, using (14) and (12), that for x in the complex plane cut along the segment [-1, 1] we have

$$\begin{aligned} Q_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) &= \frac{2^{-1}}{(x-1)^{\alpha}(x+1)^{\beta}} \int_{-1}^1 \frac{P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(u) - P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) + P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)}{x-u} (1-u)^{\alpha} (1+u)^{\beta} du \\ &= \frac{2^{-1} P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)}{(x-1)^{\alpha}(x+1)^{\beta}} \int_{-1}^1 \frac{(1-u)^{\alpha} (1+u)^{\beta}}{x-u} du - \frac{2^{-1} W_{n-1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)}{(x-1)^{\alpha}(x+1)^{\beta}}. \end{aligned}$$

Using (13), we obtain

(16)
$$Q_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)Q_0^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) - \frac{2^{-1}W_{n-1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)}{(x-1)^{\alpha}(x+1)^{\beta}}, \qquad \forall x \notin [-1,1]$$

Equation (16) is [16, Vol. II 10.8.(25)], given our notations and normalizations.

For all $0 \le t \le k - 1$, we define the function

(17)
$$Q_{k,t}(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{2^{2t} dw}{(x + \sqrt{x^2 - 1}\cosh(w))^{k-t}(x + 1 + \sqrt{x^2 - 1}e^w)^{2t}}$$

where x is in the complex plane cut along the segment [-1, 1].

Proposition 2.2. For $0 \le t \le k-1$, we have

$$Q_{k,t}(x) = 2Q_{k-t-1}^{(0,2t)}(x).$$

Proof. Replacing $\cosh(w) = (e^{2w} + 1)/(2e^w)$ in (17) and performing the change of variables $v = \sqrt{\frac{x+1}{x-1}}e^w$ gives the formula

$$Q_{k,t}(x) = 2^{k+t} \int_0^\infty \frac{v^{k-t-1}dv}{(2xv + (x-1)v^2 + x + 1)^{k-t}(x+1 + (x-1)v)^{2t}}$$

Rewriting $2xv + (x-1)v^2 + x + 1 = (v+1)(x(v+1)+1-v)$ and performing the change of variables $v = \frac{1+u}{1-u}$ yields

$$Q_{k,t}(x) = 2^{-k+t+1} \int_{-1}^{1} \frac{(1+u)^{k-t-1}(1-u)^{k+t-1}du}{(x-u)^{k+t}}.$$

By comparing with (13), we observe that

$$Q_{k,t}(x) = \frac{2^{2t+1}}{(x+1)^{2t}} Q_{k+t-1}^{(0,-2t)}(x).$$

Using the defining equation (15) leads to

$$Q_{k,t}(x) = 2^{k+t} \frac{\Gamma(k+t)\Gamma(k-t)}{\Gamma(2k)(x-1)^{k+t}} F\left(k+t, k+t, 2k; \frac{2}{1-x}\right).$$

Applying Euler's transformation law (6) yields

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{k,t}(x) &= 2^{k+t} \frac{\Gamma(k+t)\Gamma(k-t)}{\Gamma(2k)(x-1)^{k+t}} \left(1 - \frac{2}{1-x}\right)^{-2t} F\left(k-t, k-t, 2k; \frac{2}{1-x}\right) \\ &= 2\left(2^{k+t-1} \frac{\Gamma(k+t)\Gamma(k-t)}{\Gamma(2k)(x-1)^{k-t}(x+1)^{2t}} F\left(k-t, k-t, 2k; \frac{2}{1-x}\right)\right) \\ &= 2Q_{k-t-1}^{(0,2t)}(x), \end{aligned}$$

where we used (15) in the last equality.

Corollary 2.3. The function
$$Q_{k,t}(x)$$
 is a solution of the second order differential equation
 $(1-x^2)f''(x) + [2t-(2t+2)x]f'(x) + (k-t-1)(k+t)f(x) = 0.$

Proof. It follows from Proposition 2.2 and the fact that $Q_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$ is a solution of (10).

2.4. Asymptotics for Jacobi functions.

Lemma 2.4. For $0 \le t \le k-1$, we have

$$Q_{k,t}(x) = O(x^{-k-t}), \qquad \text{as } x \to +\infty.$$

Proof. By (15), and using the definition of the hypergeometric function (5), we have

$$Q_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = \frac{(-1)^{n+1}2^{\alpha+\beta-1}}{(x-1)^{\alpha}(x+1)^{\beta}} \sum_{j\geq 0} \binom{n+j}{j} \frac{\Gamma(n+\alpha+j+1)\Gamma(n+\beta+1)}{\Gamma(2n+\alpha+\beta+j+2)} \left(\frac{2}{1-x}\right)^{n+j+1}.$$

Thus, $Q_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = O(x^{-n-\alpha-\beta-1})$ as $x \to +\infty$. In particular, using Proposition 2.2, we see that $Q_{k,t}(x) = O(x^{-(k-t-1+2t+1)}) = O(x^{-(k+t)})$ as $x \to +\infty$.

Lemma 2.5. For $0 \le t \le k - 1$, we have

$$Q_{k,t}(x) = \log\left(\frac{x+1}{x-1}\right) - \left(\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k+t) - \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(1) + \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k-t) - \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(1)\right) + o(1), \qquad \text{as } x \to 1^+.$$

Proof. Let n := k - t - 1 in this proof. Using Proposition 2.2, (16), and (13), for all $x \in \mathbb{C} \setminus [-1, 1]$ we have

(18)
$$Q_{k,t}(x) = \frac{P_n^{(0,2t)}(x)}{(x+1)^{2t}} \int_{-1}^1 \frac{(1+u)^{2t}}{x-u} du - \frac{W_{n-1}^{(0,2t)}(x)}{(x+1)^{2t}}$$

By [19, (87)], for all $x \in \mathbb{C}$, we have⁴

(19)
$$\frac{2t+1}{2^{2t+1}}W_{n-1}^{(0,2t)}(x) = \frac{(2t+1)(k+t)}{2}\sum_{j=0}^{k-t-2}\frac{P_j^{(0,-2t)}(x)P_{k-t-2-j}^{(0,2t)}(x)}{(j+1)(k+t-1-j)}$$

Thus,

$$\frac{W_{n-1}^{(0,2t)}(1)}{2^{2t}} = \sum_{j=0}^{k-t-2} \frac{k+t}{(j+1)(k+t-1-j)} = \sum_{j=0}^{k-t-2} \left(\frac{1}{j+1} + \frac{1}{k+t-1-j}\right) = \sum_{j=1}^{k-t-1} \frac{1}{j} + \sum_{j=2t+1}^{k+t-1} \frac{1}{j} = \left(\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k-t) - \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(1)\right) + \left(\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k+t) - \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(1)\right) - \left(\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(2t+1) - \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(1)\right).$$

⁴Beware of our normalizations that differ from the ones in [19].

We now calculate the elementary integral in (18):

$$\int_{-1}^{1} \frac{(1+u)^{2t}}{x-u} du = (1+x)^{2t} \log\left(\frac{x+1}{x-1}\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{2t} \binom{2t}{j} \frac{(-1)^j}{j} (x+1)^{2t-j} [(x+1)^j - (x-1)^j].$$

As $x \to 1^+$, we thus obtain

$$Q_{k,t}(x) = \log\left(\frac{x+1}{x-1}\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{2t} \binom{2t}{j} \frac{(-1)^j}{j} - \left(\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k-t) - \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(1)\right) - \left(\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k+t) - \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(1)\right) + \left(\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(2t+1) - \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(1)\right) + o(1).$$

It is a standard fact about harmonic numbers that the formula

(20)
$$\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(2t+1) - \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(1) = \sum_{j=1}^{2t} \frac{1}{j} = -\sum_{j=1}^{2t} \binom{2t}{j} \frac{(-1)^j}{j}$$

holds (an easy check using integral representations). This last observation concludes the proof. \Box

Remark 2.6. When t = 0, Lemma 2.5 recovers the asymptotic formula [22, p. 251] for Legendre functions of the second kind (note that the O(1) should be o(1) therein).

3. *L*-FUNCTIONS

Let $r = 2k \ge 2$ and $N \ge 3$ be fixed integers. Let K denote an imaginary quadratic field of odd discriminant D prime to N. Consider

$$f = \sum_{n \ge 1} a_f(n) q^n \in S_r^{\text{new}}(\Gamma_0(N)),$$

and let $\chi: \mathbb{A}_K^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a Hecke character of K of infinity type $(\ell, 0)$, with $0 < \ell \leq r - 2$. We assume that the Dirichlet character $\chi_{|\mathbb{A}_Q^{\times}} \cdot \mathrm{Nm}^{-\ell}$ is trivial, and hence $\chi^{\tau}\chi$ is an even power of the norm, where $\mathrm{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q}) = \langle \tau \rangle$. This forces ℓ to be even, so $\ell = 2t$. We will also assume that χ is unramified. There are then at most $\# \mathrm{Cl}_K$ characters χ of type $(\ell, 0)$, all differing by characters which factor through $\mathrm{Cl}_K \simeq \mathrm{Gal}(H/K)$, where H is the Hilbert class field.

Associated to χ is the theta series [2, Prop. 3.13]

$$\Theta_{\chi} = \sum_{\mathfrak{a} \leq \mathcal{O}_{K}} \chi(\mathfrak{a}) q^{N(\mathfrak{a})} \in S_{2t+1}(\Gamma_{0}(|D|), \epsilon_{K}).$$

Given an ideal class $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$, there are also partial theta series

$$\Theta_{\mathcal{A},\chi} = \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{a} \trianglelefteq \mathcal{O}_K \\ [\mathfrak{a}] = \mathcal{A}}} \chi(\mathfrak{a}) q^{N(\mathfrak{a})} = \sum_{n \ge 1} r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(n) q^n \in S_{2t+1}(\Gamma_0(|D|), \epsilon_K),$$

where

$$r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(n) = \sum_{\substack{[\mathfrak{a}] = \mathcal{A} \\ N(\mathfrak{a}) = n}} \chi(\mathfrak{a}).$$

We have the relation

$$\Theta_{\chi} = \sum_{\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Cl}_{K}} \Theta_{\mathcal{A}, \chi}$$

3.1. Rankin–Selberg convolution L-functions. Let $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$ be an ideal class, and consider the Rankin–Selberg convolution L-function of f and the partial theta series $\Theta_{\mathcal{A},\chi}$ defined by

$$L_{\mathcal{A}}(f,\chi,s) := L^{(N)}(\epsilon_K, 2s - 2k - 2t + 1) \sum_{n \ge 1} a_f(n) r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(n) n^{-s},$$

where $\epsilon_K = \epsilon_D$ is the quadratic character associated to K. It converges locally uniformly on the right half-plane $\Re(s) > k + t + 3/2$ of the complex plane. The Rankin–Selberg convolution *L*-function of f and Θ_{χ} is then given by

$$L(f,\chi,s) = \sum_{\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Cl}_K} L_{\mathcal{A}}(f,\chi,s).$$

Define the completed L-function

$$L^*_{\mathcal{A}}(f,\chi,s) := (2\pi)^{-s} N^s D^s \Gamma(s) \Gamma(s-2t) L_{\mathcal{A}}(f,\chi,s).$$

Theorem 3.1. The L-function $L^*_{\mathcal{A}}(f,\chi,s)$ admits an analytic continuation to the whole complex plane and satisfies the functional equation

$$L^*_{\mathcal{A}}(f,\chi,s) = -\epsilon_K(N)L^*_{\mathcal{A}}(f,\chi,2k+2t-s).$$

Proof. The key is to use Rankin's method to prove the equality

(21)
$$\frac{N^s \Gamma(s+2k-1)}{(4\pi)^{s+2k-1}} L_{\mathcal{A}}(f,\chi,s+2k-1) = (f,\tilde{\Phi}_{\bar{s}})_{\Gamma_0(N)},$$

where Φ_s is a non-holomorphic modular form of weight 2k and level $\Gamma_0(N)$ given by the trace of the product of the theta function $\Theta_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}$ with a non-holomorphic Eisenstein family indexed by s:

$$\tilde{\Phi}_s = \operatorname{Tr}_N^{ND}(E_s^{(1)}(Nz)\Theta_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(z)),$$

where

$$E_s^{(1)}(z) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{c,d \in \mathbb{Z} \\ D|c}} \frac{\epsilon_K(d)}{(cz+d)^{2k-2t-1}} \frac{y^s}{|cz+d|^{2s}}.$$

By explicitly working out an expression for the trace, we obtain

(- -)

$$\Phi_s = D^{-t} \mathcal{E}_s(Nz) \Theta_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(z)|_{U_{|D|}}$$

where

$$\mathcal{E}_{s}(z) = \sum_{D_{1} \cdot D_{2}} \frac{\epsilon_{D_{1}}(N)\chi_{D_{1} \cdot D_{2}}(\bar{\mathcal{A}})}{\kappa(D_{1})|D_{1}|^{s+\ell_{1}-3/2}} E_{s}^{(D_{1})}(|D_{2}|z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e_{s}(n,y)e(nx),$$

with $e(x) = e^{2\pi i x}$ (exactly the same Eisenstein series as in [22], except that k is replaced by k - t, or equivalently 2k is replaced by $\ell_1 = 2k - 2t$). Formulas for the coefficients $e_s(n, y)$ can be found in [22, IV (3.2)] (after replacing 2k therein by ℓ_1). In the above formula, $\kappa(D_1) = 1$ or i according as $D_1 > 0$ or $D_1 < 0$.

Remark 3.2. The character $\chi_{D_1 \cdot D_2}$ appearing in the above formula is the genus character associated with the partition $D = D_1 D_2$. Its value at a prime ideal \mathfrak{p} is

$$\chi_{D_1 \cdot D_2}(\mathfrak{p}) = \begin{cases} \epsilon_{D_1}(N(\mathfrak{p})), & (N(\mathfrak{p}), D_1) = 1\\ \epsilon_{D_2}(N(\mathfrak{p})), & (N(\mathfrak{p}), D_2) = 1. \end{cases}$$

If we let

$$e_s^*(n,y) := \pi^{-s} |D|^s \Gamma(s+2k-2t-1)e_s(n,y)$$

then the functional equation follows from the transformation property

$$e_s^*(n,y) = -\epsilon_K(N)e_{2-2k+2t-s}^*(n,y)$$

proved in [22, IV §4].

3.2. Central derivative calculations. We assume that K satisfies the Heegner hypothesis (1), namely that every prime dividing N splits in K. This implies in particular that the sign of the functional equation of Theorem 3.1 is -1. Moreover, equation (21) implies that there exists a non-holomorphic modular form $\tilde{\Phi}$ of weight 2k and level $\Gamma_0(N)$ such that the central value of the derivative is given by

$$L'_{\mathcal{A}}(f,\chi,k+t) = \frac{2^{2k+2t+1}\pi^{k+t+1}}{(k+t-1)!\sqrt{|D|}D^t}(f,\tilde{\Phi})_{\Gamma_0(N)}.$$

In fact, the function is given by

(22)
$$\tilde{\Phi} = \frac{\sqrt{|D|}}{2\pi} N^{k-t-1} \frac{\partial}{\partial s} (D^t \tilde{\Phi}_s)|_{s=1-(k-t)}.$$

Proposition 3.3. The Fourier expansion of $\tilde{\Phi}$ is given by

-

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\Phi}(z) &= \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \left[-\sum_{0 < n \le \frac{m|D|}{N}} \sigma_{\mathcal{A}}'(n) r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m|D| - nN) p_{k-t-1} \left(\frac{4\pi nNy}{|D|}\right) \right. \\ &+ \frac{h}{u} D^t r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m) \left(\log(y) + \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k-t) + \log(N|D|) - \log(\pi) + 2\frac{L'}{L}(1,\epsilon_K) \right) \\ &- \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma_{\mathcal{A}}(n) r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m|D| + nN) q_{k-t-1} \left(\frac{4\pi nNy}{|D|}\right) \right] y^{1-k+t} q^m, \end{split}$$

where

$$p_{\nu-1}(x) := \sum_{j=0}^{\nu-1} \binom{\nu-1}{j} \frac{(-x)^j}{j!} \qquad and \qquad q_{\nu-1}(x) := \int_1^\infty \frac{(y-1)^{\nu-1}}{y^{\nu}} e^{-xy} dy,$$

and where the two first terms are zero whenever $m \leq 0$. Moreover,

$$\sigma'_{\mathcal{A}}(n) = \sum_{\substack{d|n\\d>0}} \epsilon_{\mathcal{A}}(n,d) \log\left(\frac{n}{d^2}\right)$$

and

$$\sigma_{\mathcal{A}}(n) = \sum_{\substack{d|n\\d>0}} \epsilon_{\mathcal{A}}(n,d),$$

with

$$\epsilon_{\mathcal{A}}(n,d) = \begin{cases} 0 & (d,n/d,D) \neq 1\\ \epsilon_{D_1}(d)\epsilon_{D_2}(-Nn/d)\chi_{D_1 \cdot D_2}(\mathcal{A}) & (d,n/d,D) = 1 \end{cases}$$

for $(d, D) = |D_2|$ and $D_1D_2 = D$.

Remark 3.4. The fact that $r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(0) = 0$ is proper to the t > 0 case, as $\Theta_{\mathcal{A},\chi}$ is a cusp form. This is not the case when dealing with a class group character as in [22]. This simple observation leads to several simplifications when applying holomorphic projection in the next section.

Proof. We have $D^t \tilde{\Phi}_s(z) = \mathcal{E}_s(Nz) \Theta_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(z)|_{U_{|D|}}$ and the Fourier expansion of $\mathcal{E}_s(z)$ is given by $\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e_s(n, y) e(nx)$. Hence, the Fourier expansion of $\mathcal{E}_s(Nz) \Theta_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(z)$ is

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{E}_{s}(Nz)\Theta_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(z) &= \left(\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}e_{s}(n,Ny)e(nNx)\right)\left(\sum_{m\geq0}r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m)e^{-2\pi m y}e(mx)\right) \\ &= \sum_{v\in\mathbb{Z}}\left(\sum_{\substack{v\in\mathbb{Z}\\v-m\equiv0\pmod{N}}}e_{s}\left(\frac{v-m}{N},Ny\right)r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m)e^{-2\pi m y}\right)e(vx) \\ &= \sum_{v\in\mathbb{Z}}A_{v}(y)e(vx), \end{aligned}$$

where we made the substitution v = nN + m. Applying the operator $U_{|D|}$, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} D^t \tilde{\Phi}_s(z) &= \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} A_{v|D|} \left(\frac{y}{|D|} \right) e(vx) \\ &= \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\substack{m \ge 0 \\ v - m \equiv 0 \pmod{N}}} e_s \left(\frac{v|D| - m}{N}, \frac{Ny}{|D|} \right) r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}, \chi}(m) e^{-2\pi m \frac{y}{|D|}} \right) e(vx) \\ &= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\substack{m \ge 0 \\ nN + m \equiv 0 \pmod{|D|}}} e_s \left(n, \frac{Ny}{|D|} \right) r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}, \chi}(m) e^{-2\pi m \frac{y}{|D|}} \right) e\left(\frac{nN + m}{|D|} x \right), \end{split}$$

where we used the substitution n = (v|D| - m)/N.

We are going to focus on the terms of the Fourier expansion where n = 0 (the cases where n > 0 or n < 0 are similar to what is done in [22]), namely

$$\sum_{\substack{m \ge 0 \\ m \equiv 0 \pmod{|D|}}} e_s\left(0, \frac{Ny}{|D|}\right) r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}, \chi}(m) e^{-2\pi m \frac{y}{|D|}} e\left(\frac{m}{|D|}x\right) = \sum_{\substack{m \ge 0 \\ m \equiv 0 \pmod{|D|}}} e_s\left(0, \frac{Ny}{|D|}\right) r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}, \chi}(m) q^{\frac{m}{|D|}} = \sum_{\substack{m' \ge 0 \\ m' \ge 0}} e_s\left(0, \frac{Ny}{|D|}\right) r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}, \chi}(m'|D|) q^{m'},$$

where we used the substitution m' = m/|D|. We need to calculate

$$\sum_{m\geq 0} \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial s} e_s\left(0, \frac{Ny}{|D|}\right) \right|_{s=1-(k-t)} r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m|D|) q^m.$$

But this was done already in [22, p. 283] (they work with the same Eisenstein series but with k instead of k - t):

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial s}e_s\left(0,y\right)\Big|_{s=1-(k-t)} = 2L(1,\epsilon_K)(|D|y)^{1-k+t}\left(\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k-t) + \log\left(\frac{|D|^2y}{\pi}\right) + 2\frac{L'}{L}(1,\epsilon_K)\right).$$

We have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial}{\partial s}e_s\left(0,\frac{Ny}{|D|}\right)\Big|_{s=1-(k-t)} &= 2L(1,\epsilon_K)(Ny)^{1-k+t}\left(\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k-t) + \log\left(\frac{|D|Ny}{\pi}\right) + 2\frac{L'}{L}(1,\epsilon_K)\right) \\ &= 2L(1,\epsilon_K)(Ny)^{1-k+t}\left(\log(y) + \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k-t) + \log(N|D|) - \log(\pi) + 2\frac{L'}{L}(1,\epsilon_K)\right).\end{aligned}$$

We conclude that the n = 0 term of the Fourier expansion of $\tilde{\Phi}(z)$ is

$$\sum_{m\geq 0} \frac{\sqrt{|D|}}{\pi} L(1,\epsilon_K) r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m|D|) \left(\log(y) + \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k-t) + \log\left(N|D|\right) - \log(\pi) + 2\frac{L'}{L}(1,\epsilon_K) \right) y^{1-k+t} q^m.$$

The result follows from using the formula $\frac{\sqrt{|D|}}{\pi}L(1,\epsilon_K) = \frac{h}{u}$ [22, p. 249] and observing that $r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m|D|) = D^t r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m).$

Note that

$$r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}}(m|D|) = r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}}(m) = r_{\mathcal{A}}(m|D|) = r_{\mathcal{A}}(m),$$

and [22] opted for the simpler expression $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m)$ in their formula, making it easy to miss the factor of D^t in our formula (the factor of D^t is in fact missing in [34, Prop. X.7]).

3.3. Holomorphic projection. Let $g_{\mathcal{A}} = \sum_{m \geq 1} a_m(\mathcal{A})q^m \in S_{2k}^{\text{new}}(\Gamma_0(N))$ represent the linear functional on $S_{2k}^{\text{new}}(\Gamma_0(N))$ given by

$$f\longmapsto \frac{(2k-2)!\sqrt{|D|}D^t}{2^{4k-1}\pi^{2k}}L'_{\mathcal{A}}(f,\chi,k+t).$$

Then $g_{\mathcal{A}}$ is obtained by applying holomorphic projection lemma [22, IV (5.1)] to the function Φ defined by (22). More precisely, $g_{\mathcal{A}}$ is the holomorphic projection of

$$\frac{(2k-2)!}{(k+t-1)!}(4\pi)^{t-k+1}\tilde{\Phi}$$

Lemma 3.5. Assume that $0 < t \leq k - 1$. The function $\tilde{\Phi}(z) = \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} a_m(y)q^m$ satisfies $(\tilde{\Phi}|_{2k}\alpha)(z) = O(y^{-\epsilon})$ as $y \to \infty$ for some $\epsilon > 0$ and every $\alpha \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$.

Proof. We have the estimates $p_{\nu-1}(x) = O(x^{\nu-1})$, $q_{\nu-1}(x) = O(x^{\nu-1}e^{-x})$, $r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(n) = O(n^{t+1/2})$, $\sigma_{\mathcal{A}}(n) = o(n^{\delta})$ and $\sigma'_{\mathcal{A}}(n) = O(n^{\delta})$ for all $\delta > 0$. Using these estimates, and the formulas for $a_m(y)$ derived in Proposition 3.3, we obtain the following estimates. When t < k - 1, we have

$$a_m(y) = \begin{cases} O(m^{\delta+k+1/2}) & (m>0) \\ O(e^{-4\pi \frac{N}{|D|}y}) & (m=0) \\ O(|m|^{\delta+k-t-1}e^{-4\pi |m|y}) & (m<0). \end{cases}$$

When t = k - 1, we have

$$a_m(y) = \begin{cases} O(m^{k-1/2}\log(y)) & (m>0) \\ O(e^{-4\pi\frac{N}{|D|}y}) & (m=0) \\ O(|m|^{\delta}e^{-4\pi|m|y}) & (m<0). \end{cases}$$

In particular, for $0 < t \le k - 1$, all terms in the Fourier expansion of $\tilde{\Phi}$ are exponentially small as $y \to \infty$. Similar estimates hold at the other cusps.

Theorem 3.6. If $0 < t \le k - 1$, then for all $m \ge 1$ such that (m, N) = 1, we have

$$a_m(\mathcal{A}) = m^{k-t-1} \left[-\sum_{0 < n \le \frac{m|D|}{N}} \sigma'_{\mathcal{A}}(n) r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m|D| - nN) P_{k,t} \left(1 - \frac{2nN}{m|D|} \right) + \frac{h}{u} D^t r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m) \left(\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k+t) + \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k-t) + \log\left(\frac{N|D|}{4\pi^2 m}\right) + 2\frac{L'}{L}(1,\epsilon_K) \right) - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma_{\mathcal{A}}(n) r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m|D| + nN) Q_{k,t} \left(1 + \frac{2nN}{m|D|} \right) \right],$$

where $P_{k,t}$ and $Q_{k,t}$ are the Jacobi functions defined by the formulas (11) and (17) respectively.

Proof. By Lemma 3.5, we may apply the holomorphic projection lemma [22, IV (5.1)] to get the result. \Box

Remark 3.7. We have $Q_{k,t}(x) = O(x^{-k-t})$ as $x \to +\infty$ by Lemma 2.4. In particular, the n^{th} term of the infinite sum in Theorem 3.6 is $O(n^{\delta+t+1/2-k-t}) = O(n^{\delta-k+1/2})$. Since $k \ge 2$, we see that the n^{th} term is $O(n^{\delta-3/2})$ and the sum converges. This is true even in the edge case t = k - 1, in notable contrast with the situation in [22] where the parameters (k, t) = (1, 0) lead to the infinite sum being divergent.

4. Heights

Let Y be a smooth projective variety over a number field F of dimension d = 2n - 1. Assume that Y admits a regular model Y that is projective and flat over Spec \mathcal{O}_F . Let Z_1 and Z_2 be algebraic cycles on Y of codimension n. Assume the following conditions:

- (a) Z_1 has an integral model \mathbf{Z}_1 in \mathbf{Y} with the property that \mathbf{Z}_1 has zero intersection with any algebraic cycle of codimension n on \mathbf{Y} supported on the special fibers.
- (b) Z_2 admits an integral model \mathbf{Z}_2 in \mathbf{Y} .
- (c) Z_1 is null-homologous, i.e., its class in $H^{2n}(Y(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C})$ is zero.

Condition (c) implies that there is a Green's current g_1 on $Y(\mathbb{C})$ such that $\frac{\partial \bar{\partial}}{\pi i}g_1 = \delta_{Z_1}$, where δ_{Z_1} is the current associated to Z_1 which maps any real valued differential $\eta \in A^{n,n}(Y_{\mathbb{R}})$ to $\int_{Z_{1,\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{C})} \eta$.

Under the above assumptions, the height pairing of Z_1 and Z_2 is defined as

$$\langle Z_1, Z_2 \rangle^{\mathrm{BB}} := (-1)^n (\mathbf{Z}_1, g_1) \cdot (\mathbf{Z}_2, g_2),$$

where g_2 is any Green's current for $Z_{2,\mathbb{C}}$. The intersection on the right hand side is the arithmetic intersection pairing of Gillet–Soulé

$$\widehat{\operatorname{CH}}^{n}(\mathbf{Y})_{\mathbb{R}} \times \widehat{\operatorname{CH}}^{n}(\mathbf{Y})_{\mathbb{R}} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R},$$

defined for arithmetic cycles $\widehat{T}_i = (\mathbf{T}_i, \alpha_i), i = 1, 2$, that are irreducible and intersect properly, by

$$\widehat{T}_1 \cdot \widehat{T}_2 := \log(|\Gamma(\mathbf{T}_1 \cdot \mathbf{T}_2, \mathcal{O})|) + \int_{\mathbf{T}_{2,\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{C})} \alpha_1 + \int_{\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{C})} \alpha_2 \beta_1$$

where $\beta_1 = \delta_{T_1} - \frac{\partial \bar{\partial}}{\pi i} \alpha_1$ [17, (4.2.2.2)]. Because **Y** is regular, there is a moving lemma for arithmetic Chow groups, and the arithmetic intersection pairing is defined for all \hat{T}_1 and \hat{T}_2 [41, p. 104].

4.1. Local height decomposition. The arithmetic intersection pairing admits a decomposition into a sum of local intersections for all places v of F:

$$\widehat{T}_1 \cdot \widehat{T}_2 = \sum_{v} (\mathbf{T}_{1,v} \cdot \mathbf{T}_{2,v}) \epsilon_v,$$

where $\epsilon_v = \log q_v$ with $q_v = |\mathcal{O}_F/\mathfrak{p}|$ if v is a non-archimedean place corresponding to a prime ideal \mathfrak{p} , and $\epsilon_v = 2$ if v is a complex archimedean place. It follows that the height pairing also admits a decomposition into local components

$$\langle Z_1, Z_2 \rangle^{\mathrm{BB}} = \sum_v \langle Z_1, Z_2 \rangle_v \epsilon_v.$$

These local intersections are only defined when \mathbf{Z}_1 and \mathbf{Z}_2 do not intersect in the generic fiber $Y = \mathbf{Y}_F$, and they depend on the representatives of the cycles Z_1 and Z_2 .

4.2. Local heights in cases of improper intersection. For the explicit cycles that we work with, we do not wish to use a moving lemma and it becomes crucial to define local heights even when the cycles do intersect in the generic fiber. Below we give such a local decomposition when Y is a compactification of an abelian scheme $f: \mathcal{A} \to C$ of relative dimension 2n - 2 over a smooth curve C, and when the cycles Z_1 and Z_2 are supported on sub-abelian varieties in fibers of f.⁵ This is done by combining a result of Zhang [41] with Brylinski's formalism for heights on local systems over curves [10].

Now suppose Z_1 and Z_2 are such cycles (of codimension n on \mathcal{A}) supported on the fiber of f above a single point $x \in C$.

4.2.1. Archimedean local height. Let v be an archimedean place of F. A choice of polarization on \mathcal{A} makes $V = R^{2n-2} f_* \mathbb{Z}(n-1)$ a weight 0 polarized variation of Hodge structures (PVHS) on $C_v = C \times_v \mathbb{C}$ with associated vector bundle \mathcal{V} (see Definition 6.3 for the precise definition). Brylinski [10] attaches to such a PVHS a Green's kernel and defines a local height pairing on Hodge classes. Let us write \bar{C} for the compactification of C. There is a canonical way to extend \mathcal{V} to a vector bundle $\bar{\mathcal{V}}$ on \bar{C}_v due to Deligne (characterized by certain properties) [10, §1 p. 4]. Let us write $\bar{\mathcal{V}}_{0,\mathbb{R}}$ for the C^{∞} vector bundle of sections of $\bar{\mathcal{V}}$ which are real and of type (0,0). Also write pr_1 and pr_2 for the projections $\bar{C} \times \bar{C} \longrightarrow \bar{C}$.

Proposition 4.1 (Proposition 2.9 [10]). If V has no non-zero global section, there exists a unique C^{∞} -section G of Hom $(\mathrm{pr}_1^{-1}\,\bar{\mathcal{V}}_{0,\mathbb{R}},\mathrm{pr}_2^{-1}\,\bar{\mathcal{V}}_{0,\mathbb{R}})$ over the complement of the diagonal in $\bar{C}_v \times \bar{C}_v$, such that

- (1) $\Box_2 G = 0$, where \Box_2 is the Laplacian associated with \mathcal{V} in the second variable;
- (2) $G(x,y) \log |z(x) z(y)|$ is bounded near any point $(a, a) \in \overline{C}_v \times \overline{C}_v$, if z is a local coordinate on \overline{C}_v near a.

The C^{∞} -section G, called the Green's kernel attached to V, can be used to define the Brylinski pairing. If $x \neq y \in C_v(\mathbb{C})$ and v_x^1 and v_y^2 are type (0,0) classes supported in the fibers of V above x and y respectively, Brylinski defines [10, Prop. 2.11]

(23)
$$\left\langle v_x^1, v_y^2 \right\rangle^{\operatorname{Br}} := \left\langle G(x, y) v_x^1, v_y^2 \right\rangle_y$$

⁵We prove this below under an additional technical assumption but we suspect the method works in general.

(24)
$$\langle v_x^1, v_y^2 \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \langle Z, Z' \rangle_v.$$

(See also [30] for various definitions of archimedean local height pairing and comparisons between them.)

Recall that Z_1 and Z_2 are supported on the fiber of f above a single point $x \in C$. Their images, denoted v_x^1 and v_x^2 respectively, under the cycle class map relative to the fiber $f^{-1}(x)$ (after basechange to \mathbb{C} via v) lie in the fiber of V above x. Let η be a (n-1, n-1)-form on $Y_v(\mathbb{C})$ such that for all points y close enough to x, the restriction η_y to the fiber above y satisfies $\partial \eta_y = 0 = \bar{\partial} \eta_y$, and moreover the restriction η_x recovers the cycle class of v_x^2 , thought of as a differential form. For $y \in C_v(\mathbb{C})$ close to X, let $v_y^2 \in V_y$ correspond to η_y .

Let t be a uniformizer on $C_v(\mathbb{C})$ at x. We let

(25)
$$\langle Z_1, Z_2 \rangle_v = \lim_{y \to x} \left(\langle G(x, y)(v_x^1, v_y^2) \rangle_y + (-1)^n (Z_1 \cdot Z_2)_x \log |t(y)|_v \right)$$

where $(Z_1 \cdot Z_2)_x$ is the usual (geometric) intersection pairing in the fiber $f^{-1}(x)$.

4.2.2. Non-archimedean local height. If v is a non-archimedean place of F, we define

 $\langle Z_1, Z_2 \rangle_v = (Z_1 \cdot Z_2)_x \operatorname{ord}_v d_x t,$

where $\operatorname{ord}_{v} d_{x}t$ is defined as in [41, p. 106].

4.2.3. Global conjecture.

Conjecture 4.2. Suppose Z_1 and Z_2 are supported on a single common fiber of f. Then

$$\langle Z_1, Z_2 \rangle^{\mathrm{BB}} = \sum_v \langle Z_1, Z_2 \rangle_v,$$

where the local pairings are defined as above.

For our purposes it will be enough to prove the following special case.

Theorem 4.3. With hypotheses and notation as above, suppose further that there exists a dense set of points $W \subset U$ such that the class v_y^2 of (25) is the class of an algebraic cycle Z_y in $f^{-1}(y)$ for all $y \in W$. Then Conjecture 4.2 holds.

Proof. This follows from the results of Zhang and Brylinski mentioned earlier. Zhang's [41, Conj. 1.2.1 & Thm. 1.2.2] says that Conjecture 4.2 is true with archimedean local heights given by

$$(-1)^n \lim_{y \to x} \left(\int_{\mathcal{A}_y} g_1 \eta + (Z_1 \cdot Z_2)_x \log |t(y)|_v \right),$$

where g_1 is the Green's current for Z_1 . In the fiber above some $y \in W$, the integral $(-1)^n \int_{\mathcal{A}_y} g_1 \eta$ is by definition the local Gillet–Soulé height $\langle Z_1, Z_y \rangle_v$, which is in turn equal to $\langle v_x^1, v_y^2 \rangle^{\text{Br}}$ by (24). Applying (23), we obtain

$$(-1)^n \int_{\mathcal{A}_y} g_1 \eta = \langle G(x, y) v_x^1, v_y^2 \rangle_y, \qquad \forall y \in W.$$

The left hand side and the right hand side can both be viewed as function on $U \setminus \{x\}$. As such, they are continuous, and since they agree on a dense set they must be equal. We conclude that Conjecture 4.2 is true with archimedean local heights given by (25).

5. Generalized Heegner cycles

Let K/\mathbb{Q} be an imaginary quadratic field, and let H be its Hilbert class field. Let (A, ι) be an elliptic curve A/H with complex multiplication $\iota \colon \mathcal{O}_K \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(A)$ by \mathcal{O}_K .

5.1. Generalized Kuga–Sato varieties. For any $M \ge 3$, let X(M) be the modular curve (over H) parameterizing pairs $(E, (\alpha, \beta))$, where E is an elliptic curve and (α, β) is a basis for E[M]. Note that X(M) is geometrically disconnected since we impose no condition on the Weil pairing $\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle$. For $k \ge 1$, let W_{2k-2} be the smooth and projective Kuga–Sato (2k-1)-fold over X(M), which is birational to the (2k-2)-th fiber power $\overline{\mathcal{E}}^{(2k-2)}$ of the universal generalized elliptic curve over X(M) [41, §2].

For $\ell \geq 0$, we consider the variety

$$X = X_{M,k,t} := W_{2k-2} \times_H A^\ell,$$

which we view as fibered over X(M). It is smooth and projective over H, of dimension $2k + \ell - 1$, birational to $\bar{\mathcal{E}}^{(2k-2)} \times_H A^{\ell}$.

5.2. Cycles. Let F be a finite extension of H and $Q \in X(M)(F)$ a point corresponding to a full level M-structure $B = (\alpha, \beta)$ of A. Any isogeny $\varphi \colon A_F \to A'$ over F of degree prime to M gives another point $Q_{\varphi} := (A', \varphi(B))$ of X(M)(F). The fiber of $\overline{\mathcal{E}} \longrightarrow X(M)$ above Q_{φ} is isomorphic to A'. The fiber $X_{Q_{\varphi}}$ of $X \longrightarrow X(M)$ over Q_{φ} is isomorphic to $(A')^{2k-2} \times A_F^{\ell}$.

For a homomorphism $\varphi \in \text{Hom}(A_1, A_2)$ between elliptic curves, we denote by $\Gamma_{\varphi} \subset A_1 \times A_2$ its graph, and by $\Gamma_{\varphi}^T \subset A_2 \times A_1$ the transpose of Γ_{φ} . We choose a square root $\sqrt{D} \in \mathcal{O}_K$ and view \sqrt{D} as an element of End(A) if no confusion can arise, e.g., in the notation $\Gamma_{\sqrt{D}} \subset A \times A$.

Assume from now on that $\ell = 2t$ is even and $0 < t \le k - 1$. For $\varphi \colon A_F \to A'$ as above, define

$$Y_{\varphi} := \Gamma_{\sqrt{D}}^{k-1-t} \times (\Gamma_{\varphi}^T)^{2t} \subset (A' \times A')^{k-1-t} \times (A' \times A_F)^{2t} \simeq X_{Q_{\varphi}} \subset X_F.$$

For each ideal $\mathfrak{a} \trianglelefteq \mathcal{O}_K$ coprime to M, we have an isogeny $\phi_{\mathfrak{a}} : A \longrightarrow A/A[\mathfrak{a}] =: A^{\mathfrak{a}}$. We write $Q^{\mathfrak{a}} := Q_{\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}$ and $Y^{\mathfrak{a}} := Y_{\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}$. When $\mathfrak{a} = \mathcal{O}_K$, we recover the point $Q = Q^{\mathcal{O}_K} = (\alpha, \beta) \in X(M)(F)$. We write $Y^{\mathfrak{a}} = Y_Q^{\mathfrak{a}}$ if we want to emphasize the dependence on the initial choice of point Q.

Let $\operatorname{Corr}^0(X, X)_K$ be the ring of algebraic correspondences modulo rational equivalence on X with coefficients in K, as in [4, p. 755]. We define the idempotent

$$\epsilon := \epsilon_W \otimes \epsilon_{2t} \in \operatorname{Corr}^0(X, X)_K,$$

where ϵ_W is the Deligne–Scholl [33] projector on W_{2k-2} (i.e., the Chow motive of weight 2k cusp forms) and, for any $m \ge 1$, ϵ_m is the idempotent

$$\epsilon_m := \left(\frac{\sqrt{D} + [\sqrt{D}]}{2\sqrt{D}}\right)^{\otimes m} \circ \left(\frac{1 - [-1]}{2}\right)^{\otimes m} \in \operatorname{Corr}^0(A^m, A^m)_K$$

Define also

$$\bar{\epsilon}_m := \left(\frac{\sqrt{D} - [\sqrt{D}]}{2\sqrt{D}}\right)^{\otimes m} \circ \left(\frac{1 - [-1]}{2}\right)^{\otimes m} \in \operatorname{Corr}^0(A^m, A^m)_K,$$

and (26)

$$\kappa_m = \epsilon_m + \bar{\epsilon}_m.$$

Define

$$\bar{\epsilon} := \epsilon_W \otimes \bar{\epsilon}_{2t} \in \operatorname{Corr}^0(X, X)_K$$

$$\epsilon' = \epsilon_W \otimes \kappa_{2t} \in \operatorname{Corr}^{\circ}(X, X)_{\mathbb{Q}}.$$

For any Weil cohomology theory $H^*(-)$, we have [3, Prop. 2.4]

$$\epsilon_W H^*(W_{2k-2}) = \epsilon_W H^{2k-1}(W_{2k-2})$$

$$\kappa_{2t} H^*(A^{2t}) = \kappa_{2t} H^{2t}(A^{2t}),$$

and so $\epsilon' H^*(X) = \epsilon' H^{2k+2t-1}(X)$.

Lemma 5.1. For all $B = (\alpha, \beta)$ and $\varphi \colon A_F \to A'$ as above, the cycles ϵY_{φ} and $\bar{\epsilon} Y_{\varphi}$ are null-homologous. In other words,

$$\epsilon Y_{\varphi} \in \operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(X_F)_{0,K}$$
 and $\bar{\epsilon} Y_{\varphi} \in \operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(X_F)_{0,K}$,

where $\operatorname{CH}^{j}(X_{F})_{0,K}$ denotes the kernel of the cycle class map $\operatorname{CH}^{j}(X_{F})_{K} \to H^{2j}(X)(j) \otimes K$.

Proof. This follows from the fact that ϵ' (and hence ϵ and $\bar{\epsilon}$) annihilates even degree cohomology. \Box

5.3. Generalized Heegner cycles. Let N be a divisor of M, and let $\pi_{M,N}: X(M) \to X_0(N)$ be the natural morphism of curves over H given by $(E, \alpha, \beta) \mapsto (E, \langle \frac{M}{N} \alpha \rangle)$.

We assume from now on the Heegner hypothesis (1): every prime dividing N splits in K. This guarantees that there exists an ideal $\mathfrak{n} \leq \mathcal{O}_K$ such that $\mathcal{O}_K/\mathfrak{n} \simeq \mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z}$, and hence $A[N] \simeq A[\mathfrak{n}] \oplus A[\mathfrak{n}]$. The pair $(A, A[\mathfrak{n}])$ corresponds to a Heegner point $P_{\mathfrak{n}} \in X_0(N)(H)$ [20]. Let F/H be a finite extension splitting the finite H-scheme $\pi_{M,N}^{-1}(P_{\mathfrak{n}})$. For each $\mathfrak{a} \leq \mathcal{O}_K$ coprime to M, define

(27)
$$Z^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\mathfrak{n}} = \sum_{Q \in \pi^{-1}_{M,N}(P_{\mathfrak{n}})(F)} \epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}}_{Q} \in \mathrm{CH}^{k+t}(X)_{0,K}$$

(28)
$$\bar{Z}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\mathfrak{n}} = \sum_{Q \in \pi^{-1}_{M,N}(P_{\mathfrak{n}})(F)} \bar{\epsilon} Y^{\mathfrak{a}}_{Q} \in \mathrm{CH}^{k+t}(X)_{0,K},$$

which a priori only live in $\operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(X_F)_K$, but clearly descend to $\operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(X)_{0,K}$.

Let χ be an unramified Hecke character of K of type (2t, 0). For each ideal class $\mathcal{A} = [\mathfrak{a}]$, we choose a representative \mathfrak{a} of norm prime to M and define

$$Z_{\mathcal{A}} := \chi(\mathfrak{a})^{-1} Z_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}} \in \operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(X)_{0,K(\chi)},$$
$$\bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}} := \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}})^{-1} \bar{Z}_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}} \in \operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(X)_{0,K(\chi)}.$$

Assuming the conjectural injectivity of Abel–Jacobi maps, the cycles $Z_{\mathcal{A}}$ and $\overline{Z}_{\mathcal{A}}$ do not depend on the choice of representative ideal $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathcal{A}$ (see [35, Prop. 4.6]). Finally, we define

(29)
$$\Delta_{\chi} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{\deg(\pi_{M,N})}} \sum_{\mathcal{A}} (Z_{\mathcal{A}} + \bar{Z}_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}}) \in \mathrm{CH}^{k+t}(X)_{0,\mathbb{C}}.$$

Remark 5.2. The cycle Δ_{χ} depends on the choice of \mathfrak{n} , but its Beilinson-Bloch height is independent of this choice, since the Atkin-Lehner involutions on $X_0(N)$ act transitively on the points $P_{\mathfrak{n}}$. Likewise the height of Δ_{χ} is independent of M due to the square root normalization factor.

5.4. **Integral models.** In order to compute heights we must use integral models of generalized Kuga–Sato variety and generalized Heegner cycles, as discussed in Section 4.

Suppose M is a multiple of N such that $M = N_1N_2$ with $(N_1, N_2) = 1$ and $N_i \ge 3$. We will compute heights over a finite extension F/H which is unramified at M and with the property that A has everywhere good reduction over F. These two conditions are compatible: since N is prime to D = Disc(K), we can always choose A and M so that A has good reduction at all primes dividing M, and we may then take F to be the minimal number field over which A attains good reduction. We may and do moreover assume that all primes dividing M split in K. We write X, X(M), et cetera, instead of $X_F, X(M)_F$, etc.

Let $\mathbf{W} \to \mathcal{O}_F$ be the proper regular model for W_{2k-2} constructed in [41, §2.2], and let \mathbf{A} be the Néron model for A over \mathcal{O}_F . Since A/F has everywhere good reduction, $\mathbf{A} \to \mathcal{O}_F$ is smooth and we conclude:

Proposition 5.3. $\mathbf{X} := \mathbf{W} \times_{\mathcal{O}_F} \mathbf{A}^{\ell}$ is a proper regular model for X over \mathcal{O}_F .

As in [41, 3.1], we may extend the cycles $Z_n^{\mathfrak{a}}$ and $\overline{Z}_n^{\mathfrak{a}}$ to cycles on **X** so that the height pairing $\langle \Delta_{\chi}, \Delta_{\chi} \rangle_F^{\mathrm{BB}}$ is well-defined (i.e., conditions (a)-(c) of Section 4 are satisfied). Just as in [41], we are implicitly making use of the fact that in characteristic $p \mid M$, generalized Heegner cycles live in fibers above ordinary (and hence smooth!) points of $X(M)_{\mathbb{F}_p}$, so that the Zariski closure of the cycles in the generic fiber automatically satisfy condition (a).

5.5. Hecke operators. The usual Hecke operators on higher weight modular forms come from Hecke correspondence on W_{2k-2} , and these extend to **W** as in [41, 2.2]. We define correspondences T_m on X (and similarly **X**) by pullback from W_{2k-2} (resp. **W**).

6. VARIATIONS OF HODGE STRUCTURES

In order to use Brylinski's formalism to compute heights of generalized Heegner cycles, we need to construct the Green's kernel of Proposition 4.1 associated to a certain polarized variation of Hodge structures (PVHS) over X(M). In this section we define the relevant PVHS, and in the next section we compute the associated Laplacian.

6.1. Polarized variations of Hodge structures. Let T be a subring of \mathbb{R} , and let H be a T-Hodge structure of weight m.

Definition 6.1. A polarization on H is a $(-1)^m$ -symmetric pairing $(,): H \times H \longrightarrow T$, whose basechange $H_{\mathbb{C}} \times H_{\mathbb{C}} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ satisfies $(H_{\mathbb{C}}^{p,q}, H_{\mathbb{C}}^{p',q'}) = 0$ unless (p',q') = (q,p), as well as $i^{p-q}(v,\bar{v}) > 0$ for all $0 \neq v \in H_{\mathbb{C}}^{p,q}$.

Remark 6.2. The Hermitian form $\langle v, w \rangle := i^{p-q}(v, \bar{w})$ on $H^{p,q}_{\mathbb{C}}$ is positive-definite. Moreover, the orthogonal complement of Fil^p $H_{\mathbb{C}}$ with respect to (,) is Fil^{m-p+1} $H_{\mathbb{C}}$.

Let X be a complex manifold and V a local system of finitely generated T-modules over X. Let $V_{\mathbb{C}} = V \otimes_T \mathbb{C}$ be the local system of finite dimensional complex vector spaces over X, and let $\mathcal{V} := \mathcal{O}_X \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{\mathbb{C}}$ be the corresponding holomorphic vector bundle over X with integrable connection $\nabla := \partial \otimes 1$.

Definition 6.3. A T-PVHS with underlying local system V of weight m is the data of:⁶

⁶Technically speaking, the PVHS in Definition 6.3 is $(V, \text{Fil}^{\bullet} \mathcal{V})$, but in practice we will simply call \mathcal{V} the PVHS, when no confusion can arise.

- a finite decreasing filtration by holomorphic subbundles $\operatorname{Fil}^{p+1} \mathcal{V} \subset \operatorname{Fil}^p \mathcal{V}$, each locally a direct factor in \mathcal{V} ;
- a flat bilinear pairing $(,): V \times V \longrightarrow T(-m);$

with the following properties:

- (i) For each $x \in X$, the induced filtration $\operatorname{Fil}_x^p := \operatorname{Fil}^p \mathcal{V}_x$ on the fiber \mathcal{V}_x is the Hodge filtration of a pure Hodge structure of weight m;
- (ii) $\nabla(\operatorname{Fil}^p \mathcal{V}) \subset \Omega^1_X \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} \operatorname{Fil}^{p-1} \mathcal{V}$ (Griffiths transversality);
- (iii) For each $x \in X$, $(2\pi i)^m$ (,)_x gives a polarization on \mathcal{V}_x in the sense of Definition 6.1.

Remark 6.4. Let $\mathcal{V}^{\infty} := \mathcal{C}_X^{\infty} \otimes \mathcal{V}$ be the associated C^{∞} -bundle with integrable connection $D := d \otimes \operatorname{id} + \operatorname{id} \otimes \nabla$. The bilinear pairing (,) of Definition 6.3 (2) induces an $\mathcal{O}_X \otimes \overline{\mathcal{O}_X}$ -linear pairing (,): $\mathcal{V}^{\infty} \otimes_{\mathcal{C}_X^{\infty}} \overline{\mathcal{V}^{\infty}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{C}_X^{\infty}$. The flatness in Definition 6.3 (2) means that $d(u, \overline{v}) = (Du, \overline{v}) + (u, \overline{Dv})$.

6.2. **PVHS over modular curves.** Let $M \geq 3$ be an integer. Let $\overline{C} = X(M)_{\mathbb{C}}$ denote the compact modular curve of full level M structure, base-changed to \mathbb{C} . The open modular curve $Y(M)_{\mathbb{C}}$ will be denoted by C, and we let $\pi = \pi_{\mathcal{E}} \colon \mathcal{E} \longrightarrow C$ denote the corresponding universal elliptic curve over C. Recall that $C(\mathbb{C})$ is the disjoint union of $\varphi(M)$ copies of $\Gamma(M) \setminus \mathcal{H}$.

Consider the relative de Rham cohomology sheaf on C

$$\mathcal{L} := \mathbb{R}^1 \pi_*(0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{E}} \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{\mathcal{E}/C} \longrightarrow 0) = \mathbb{H}^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(\mathcal{E}/C).$$

It is a vector bundle of rank 2 over C, whose fibers are given by $\mathcal{L}_Q = H^1_{dR}(E_z)$, where $Q = \Gamma(M)z \in C(\mathbb{C})$ and $E_z := \pi^{-1}(z) = \mathbb{C}/\langle 1, z \rangle$. This vector bundle comes equipped with an integrable connection

$$\nabla \colon \mathcal{L} \longrightarrow \Omega^1_C \otimes \mathcal{L}$$

called the Gauss–Manin connection, as well as a canonical pairing

$$(,): \mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{L} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_C,$$

given on the fiber at $Q = \Gamma(M)z \in C(\mathbb{C})$ by

(30)
$$(,)_z \colon H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(E_z) \times H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(E_z) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}, \qquad (\omega_1, \omega_2)_z = \int_{E_z} \omega_1 \wedge \omega_2.$$

Remark 6.5. Together with the Hodge filtration given by the line bundle Fil¹ $\mathcal{L} = \underline{\omega} := \pi_* \Omega^1_{\mathcal{E}/C}$, the pairing $(,)_{-1} : \mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{L} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_C(-1)$ given on the fiber at $Q = \Gamma(M) z \in C(\mathbb{C})$ by

(31) (,)_{-1,z}:
$$H^1_{dR}(E_z) \times H^1_{dR}(E_z) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$$
, $(\omega_1, \omega_2)_{-1,z} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{E_z} \omega_1 \wedge \omega_2$

makes \mathcal{L} into a PVHS of weight 1 with underlying local system $R^1\pi_*\mathbb{Z}$, in the sense of Definition 6.3.

Remark 6.6. The vector bundle \mathcal{L} admits a canonical extension to a vector bundle $\overline{\mathcal{L}}$ over \overline{C} (see [3, p. 1043-1044] or [10, p. 4]). The Gauss–Manin connection extends to a connection with log poles

$$\nabla \colon \bar{\mathcal{L}} \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{\bar{C}}(\log Z) \otimes \bar{\mathcal{L}},$$

where Z denotes the cuspidal divisor $\overline{C} \setminus C$. The above pairing also admits an extension. Because the cycles defined in Section 5 live in non-cuspidal fibers of Kuga–Sato varieties, we will not have any need for the defining properties of these extensions. Given $n \ge 1$, we define vector bundles $\mathcal{L}_n := \operatorname{Sym}^n \mathcal{L}$ and write $\nabla_n : \mathcal{L}_n \longrightarrow \Omega^1_C \otimes \mathcal{L}_n$ for the induced connections and

$$(,)_n: \mathcal{L}_n \times \mathcal{L}_n \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_C,$$

for the induced pairing given by

$$(x_1 \dots x_n, y_1 \dots y_n)_n := \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\sigma \in S_n} (x_1, y_{\sigma(1)}) \dots (x_n, y_{\sigma(n)}).$$

Remark 6.7. The normalized pairing

$$(,)_{-n} := (2\pi i)^{-n} (,)_n : \mathcal{L}_n \times \mathcal{L}_n \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_C(-n)$$

makes \mathcal{L}_n into a PVHS of weight *n* with underlying local system $\operatorname{Sym}^n R^1 \pi_* \mathbb{Z}$, in the sense of Definition 6.3.

Furthermore, for $m \ge 0$, we define vector bundles

$$\mathcal{L}_{n,m} := \mathcal{L}_n \otimes \kappa_m H^m(A^m_{\mathbb{C}}),$$

with κ_m defined by (26). We naturally get a connection

$$\nabla_{n,m} \colon \mathcal{L}_{n,m} \longrightarrow \Omega^1_C \otimes \mathcal{L}_{n,m}$$

and a pairing

$$(,)_{n,m} \colon \mathcal{L}_{n,m} \times \mathcal{L}_{n,m} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_C$$

using the canonical pairing (30) on $H^1_{dR}(A_{\mathbb{C}})$.

Remark 6.8. The normalized pairing

$$(,)_{-n,-m} := (2\pi i)^{-(n+m)}(,)_{n,m} \colon \mathcal{L}_{n,m} \times \mathcal{L}_{n,m} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_C(-(n+m))$$

makes $\mathcal{L}_{n,m}$ into a PVHS of weight n+m with underlying local system Symⁿ $R^1\pi_*\mathbb{Z}\otimes\kappa_m H^m_B(A^m,\mathbb{Z})$.

Consider the local systems

$$\mathbb{L}^B := R^1 \pi_* \mathbb{Z}, \qquad \mathbb{L}^B_n := \operatorname{Sym}^n \mathbb{L}^B, \qquad \mathbb{L}^B_{n,m} := \mathbb{L}^B_n \otimes \kappa_m H^m_B(A^m, \mathbb{Z})$$

with fibers at $Q = \Gamma(M)z \in C(\mathbb{C})$ given respectively by the Betti cohomology groups $\mathbb{L}^{B}(Q) := H^{1}_{B}(E_{z},\mathbb{Z}), \ \mathbb{L}^{B}_{n}(Q) := \operatorname{Sym}^{n} H^{1}_{B}(E_{z},\mathbb{Z}), \ \mathbb{L}^{B}_{n,m}(Q) := \operatorname{Sym}^{n} H^{1}_{B}(E_{z},\mathbb{Z}) \otimes \kappa_{m} H^{m}_{B}(A^{m},\mathbb{Z}).$ The associated complex local systems

$$\mathbb{L} := \mathbb{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{L}^B, \qquad \mathbb{L}_n = \mathbb{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{L}_n^B, \qquad \mathbb{L}_{n,m} := \mathbb{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{L}_{n,m}^B$$

are the sheaves of horizontal sections of $(\mathcal{L}, \nabla), (\mathcal{L}_n, \nabla_n)$, and $(\mathcal{L}_{n,m}, \nabla_{n,m})$ over $C(\mathbb{C})$ (in the complex topology). In other words, we have

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_C \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{L}, \qquad \mathcal{L}_n = \mathcal{O}_C \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{L}_n, \qquad \mathcal{L}_{n,m} = \mathcal{O}_C \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{L}_{n,m},$$

Later, we will be interested in the case were n = 2k - 2 and m = 2t, and we will consider the vector bundle

$$\mathcal{W} = \mathcal{W}_{k,t} := \mathcal{L}_{2k-2,2t}(k+t-1) = \mathcal{L}_{2k-2}(k-1) \otimes \kappa_{2t} H_{\mathrm{dR}}^{2t}(A_{\mathbb{C}}^{2t})(t).$$

The pairing

 $(\ ,\)_{k,t}^{0}:=(\ ,\)_{-2(k-1),-2t}\colon \mathcal{W}\times \mathcal{W}\longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{C}$

makes \mathcal{W} into a PVHS of weight 0, in the sense of Definition 6.3, with underlying local system

$$W = W_{k,t} := (\operatorname{Sym}^{2k-2} R^1 \pi_* \mathbb{Z})(k-1) \otimes \kappa_{2t} H_B^{2t}(A^{2t}, \mathbb{Z})(t)$$

In view of Remark 6.6, the PVHS W admits a canonical extension \overline{W} to a vector bundle on \overline{C} equipped with a connection with log poles.

6.3. **PVHS over the upper-half plane.** We use the following conventions (see also Section 1.6): a point of the upper-half plane \mathcal{H} will be denoted by z = x + iy, while the notation $\tau \in \mathcal{H}$ will be reserved for imaginary quadratic points. The complex coordinate on the elliptic curve $\mathbb{C}/\langle 1, z \rangle$ will be denoted by w, and the same goes for a CM elliptic curve $\mathbb{C}/\langle 1, \tau \rangle$.

Consider the projection map

$$\mathrm{pr}\colon \bigsqcup \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \bigsqcup \Gamma(M) \backslash \mathcal{H} = C(\mathbb{C}),$$

with the disjoint union indexed by the primitive M^{th} roots of unity. Using this projection, we pull all the previously defined structures back to obtain vector bundles and local systems over $\bigsqcup \mathcal{H}$:

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_n := \operatorname{pr}^*(\mathcal{L}_n), \qquad \tilde{\mathbb{L}}_n := \operatorname{pr}^*(\mathbb{L}_n), \qquad \operatorname{etc...}$$

Let $W_{2k-2}^0 := W_{2k-2} \times_{\bar{C}} C = (\mathcal{E})^{2k-2}$ and $X^0 := X \times_{\bar{C}} C = (\mathcal{E})^{2k-2} \times_H A^{2t}$. Denote by $\tilde{\mathcal{E}} := \operatorname{pr}^*(\mathcal{E})$ the pull-back of the universal elliptic curve with $\Gamma(M)$ -level structure with its structural map $\tilde{\pi} : \tilde{\mathcal{E}} \longrightarrow \bigsqcup \mathcal{H}$. This is the universal elliptic curve over $\bigsqcup \mathcal{H}$, or rather the disjoint union of $\varphi(M)$ copies of the universal elliptic curve over \mathcal{H} . The latter can be described as the quotient $\mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus (\mathbb{C} \times \mathcal{H})$, with $(m, n) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ acting on $(w, z) \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathcal{H}$ via the rule

$$(m,n) \cdot (w,z) := (w+m+nz,z).$$

The fiber over $z \in \mathcal{H}$ is clearly $\tilde{\pi}^{-1}(z) = \mathbb{C}/\langle 1, z \rangle$. Let $\tilde{W}_{2k-2}^0 := (\tilde{\mathcal{E}})^{2k-2}$ be the (2k-2)-fold fiber product of $\tilde{\mathcal{E}}$ over $\bigsqcup \mathcal{H}$. It can be described as the disjoint union of copies of the quotient $(\mathbb{Z}^2)^{(2k-2)} \setminus (\mathbb{C}^{2k-2} \times \mathcal{H})$. We also define $\tilde{X}^0 := (\tilde{W}_{2k-2}^0 \times_{\mathcal{H}} A^{2t})(\mathbb{C})$. We then have $W_{2k-2}^0(\mathbb{C}) = \Gamma(M) \setminus \tilde{W}_{2k-2}^0$ and $X^0(\mathbb{C}) = \Gamma(M) \setminus \tilde{X}^0$, where $\Gamma(M)$ acts on $\tilde{\mathcal{E}}^0$ via

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \cdot (w, z) = \left(\frac{w}{cz+d}, \frac{az+b}{cz+d}\right).$$

Taking n = 2k - 2 and m = 2t, we define the PVHS

(33)
$$\tilde{\mathcal{W}} = \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_{k,t} := \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{2k-2}(k-1) \otimes \kappa_{2t} H_{\mathrm{dR}}^{2t}(A_{\mathbb{C}}^{2t})(t)$$

with polarization inducing pairing

(34)
$$(\,,\,)_{k,t}^0 := (\,,\,)_{-2(k-1),-2t} \colon \tilde{\mathcal{W}} \times \tilde{\mathcal{W}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{H}}$$

The underlying local system is

$$\tilde{W} = \tilde{\mathbb{L}}^B_{2k-2,2t}(k+t-1).$$

6.4. Connection with the formalism of Brylinski. Recall that w := a + ib denotes the complex coordinate on $E_z(\mathbb{C}) := \tilde{\pi}^{-1}(z) = \mathbb{C}/\langle 1, z \rangle$. Then $\underline{\omega}_z$ is generated by dw and $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}(z) = H^1_{dR}(E_z)$ admits the (canonical but non-holomorphic) Hodge decomposition

$$H^{1}_{\mathrm{dR}}(E_{z}) = \mathbb{C}dw \oplus \mathbb{C}d\bar{w}, \qquad H^{1,0}(E_{z}) = \mathbb{C}dw, \qquad H^{0,1}(E_{z}) = \mathbb{C}d\bar{w}.$$

Using the Poincaré pairing (30), we see that

(35)
$$(dw, d\bar{w})_z = \int_{E_z} dw \wedge d\bar{w} = -2i \int_{E_z} dadb = -(z - \bar{z}).$$

Let p_1 and p_z denote the elements of $H_1(E_z(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z})$ corresponding to a closed path from 0 to 1 and 0 to z in $E_z(\mathbb{C})$ respectively. Write η_1 and η_z for the elements in $H^1(E_z(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q})$, which when viewed in $H^1_{dB}(E_z)$ satisfy

$$(\omega, \eta_1)_z = \int_{p_1} \omega, \qquad (\omega, \eta_z)_z = \int_{p_z} \omega, \qquad \forall \omega \in H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(E_z),$$

with respect to the Poincaré pairing (30). Then $(dw, \eta_1)_z = 1, (dw, \eta_z)_z = z, (d\bar{w}, \eta_1)_z = 1$, and $(d\bar{w}, \eta_z)_z = \bar{z}$. It follows from (35) that

(36)
$$dw = z\eta_1 - \eta_z \quad \text{and} \quad d\bar{w} = \bar{z}\eta_1 - \eta_z.$$

Define the skew-symmetric pairing

$$(\,,\,)_{-1}\colon H^1(E_z(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{R})\times H^1(E_z(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{R})\longrightarrow \mathbb{R}(-1),\qquad (\omega_1,\omega_2)_{-1}:=\frac{1}{2\pi i}(\omega_1,\omega_2)_z=\frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{E_z}\omega_1\wedge\omega_2.$$

Then with respect to the basis $\{\eta_1, -\eta_z\}$, $H^1(E_z(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{R})$ is a 2-dimensional real vector space with a skew-symmetric bilinear pairing given by $(\eta_1, -\eta_z)_{-1} = -1/2\pi i$.

Following Brylinski [10], we now consider the standard representation $V = \mathbb{R}^2$ of $G := \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{R})^+$ with basis $\{u_1, u_2\}$. We denote the representation by $\rho: G \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}(V)$. In detail, we let $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in G$ act on $v := (\lambda_1, \lambda_2) = \lambda_1 u_1 + \lambda_2 u_2 \in V$ via

$$g \cdot e = \rho(g)(e) = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ \lambda_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a\lambda_1 + b\lambda_2 \\ c\lambda_1 + d\lambda_2 \end{pmatrix} = (a\lambda_1 + b\lambda_2)u_1 + (c\lambda_1 + d\lambda_2)u_2.$$

The group G acts on the upper half-plane via

$$g \cdot z = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \cdot z = \frac{az+b}{cz+d}$$

Let $K \subset G$ denote the stabilizer of $i \in \mathcal{H}$. Then K consists of matrices $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ -b & a \end{pmatrix}$ such that $a^2 + b^2 \neq 0$, hence is identified with \mathbb{C}^{\times} by sending such a matrix to a + bi. The upper-half plane \mathcal{H} is thus identified with the quotient G/K. From this perspective, it is clear that

$$\mathcal{V} := G \times^{K} V = (G \times V) / [(gk, v) \sim (g, \rho(k)(v))]$$

is a G-equivariant vector bundle on \mathcal{H} . It is trivialized via the (not G-equivariant) holomorphic identification

$$\varphi \colon \mathcal{H} \times V \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{V}, \qquad (gK, v) \mapsto [(g, \rho(g)^{-1}(v))].$$

The C^{∞} -sections of \mathcal{V} are the C^{∞} -functions $F: G \longrightarrow V$ satisfying $F(gk) = \rho(k)^{-1}(F(g))$ for all $g \in G, k \in K$. In particular, the functions

$$u_i: G \longrightarrow V, \qquad g \mapsto \rho(g)^{-1}(u_i), \qquad i = 1, 2,$$

are global sections of \mathcal{V} (note the slight abuse of notation). The holomorphic subbundle Fil¹ \mathcal{V} is generated by the nowhere vanishing holomorphic section zu_1+u_2 . Define a skew-symmetric bilinear pairing (,): $V \times V \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}(-1)$ by $(u_1, u_2) = -1/2\pi i$. Then the map

(37)
$$(V, (,)) \xrightarrow{\sim} (H^1(\tilde{\pi}^{-1}(z), \mathbb{R}), (,)_{-1}), \qquad \{u_1, u_2\} \mapsto \{\eta_1, -\eta_z\}$$

is an isomorphism of real vector spaces endowed with bilinear forms.

The pairing (31) is a polarization in the sense of Definition 6.1. If we define \langle , \rangle on $\mathcal{V}_z \times \mathcal{V}_z$ by $\langle v, w \rangle := i^{p-q} 2\pi i(v, \bar{w})$ for $v \in \mathcal{V}_z^{p,q}$, then we recover Brylinski's [10] calculation that

$$\langle zu_1 + u_2, zu_1 + u_2 \rangle_z = 2y \langle zu_1 + u_2, \overline{z}u_1 + u_2 \rangle_z = 0 \langle \overline{z}u_1 + u_2, \overline{z}u_1 + u_2 \rangle_z = 2y.$$

We conclude that

$$\left\{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2y}}(zu_1+u_2), \frac{1}{\sqrt{2y}}(\bar{z}u_1+u_2)\right\}$$

is an orthonormal C^{∞} -basis of the vector bundle $\mathcal{V}^{\infty} = \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes \mathcal{V}$ with respect to the Hermitian form \langle , \rangle [10, Lem. 3.1].

Let $p \ge 1$ and consider the local system $\operatorname{Sym}^{2p}(V)$ together with the pairing

$$(,)_{2p}: \operatorname{Sym}^{2p}(V) \times \operatorname{Sym}^{2p}(V) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}(-2p)$$

given by

(38)
$$(v_1 \dots v_{2p}, w_1 \dots w_{2p})_{2p} := \frac{1}{(2p)!} \sum_{\sigma \in S_{2p}} (v_1, w_{\sigma(1)}) \dots (v_{2p}, w_{\sigma(2p)}).$$

Together with this pairing, the associated vector bundle $\text{Sym}^{2p}(\mathcal{V})$ is a PVHS of weight 2p in the sense of Definition 6.3. The associated positive-definite Hermitian pairing

 $\langle , \rangle \colon \operatorname{Sym}^{2p}(\mathcal{V})^{r,s} \times \operatorname{Sym}^{2p}(\mathcal{V})^{r,s} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{H}},$

as in Remark 6.2, is given by

$$\langle v_1 \dots v_{2p}, w_1 \dots w_{2p} \rangle_{2p} := i^{r-s} (2\pi i)^{2p} (v_1 \dots v_{2p}, \bar{w}_1 \dots \bar{w}_{2p})_{2p}$$

$$= \frac{i^{r-s} (2\pi i)^{2p}}{(2p)!} \sum_{\sigma \in S_{2p}} (v_1, \bar{w}_{\sigma(1)}) \dots (v_{2p}, \bar{w}_{\sigma(2p)})$$

$$= \frac{1}{(2p)!} \sum_{\sigma \in S_{2p}} \langle v_1, w_{\sigma(1)} \rangle \dots \langle v_{2p}, w_{\sigma(2p)} \rangle.$$

We now consider the PVHS $\mathcal{V}_p = \operatorname{Sym}^{2p}(\mathcal{V})(p)$ of weight 0 with polarization inducing pairing $(,)_{2p}^0 \colon \mathcal{V}_p \times \mathcal{V}_p \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{H}}$ defined by (38). Explicitly, we have

$$((2\pi i)^p v_1 \dots v_{2p}, (2\pi i)^p w_1 \dots w_{2p})_{2p}^0 := \frac{(2\pi i)^{2p}}{(2p)!} \sum_{\sigma \in S_{2p}} (v_1, w_{\sigma(1)}) \dots (v_{2p}, w_{\sigma(2p)}).$$

Note that the twists make sense (the pairing (38) takes values in $\mathbb{R}(-2p)$). The associated Hermitian form $\langle , \rangle_{2p}^{0} \colon \mathcal{V}_{p}^{s,-s} \times \mathcal{V}_{p}^{s,-s} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{H}}$ of Definition 6.1 is

$$\langle (2\pi i)^p v_1 \dots v_{2p}, (2\pi i)^p w_1 \dots w_{2p} \rangle_{2p}^0 := (i)^{2s} ((2\pi i)^p v_1 \dots v_{2p}, (2\pi i)^p \bar{w}_1 \dots \bar{w}_{2p})_{2p}^0$$

$$= (-1)^s \frac{(2\pi i)^{2p}}{(2p)!} \sum_{\sigma \in S_{2p}} (v_1, \bar{w}_{\sigma(1)}) \dots (v_{2p}, \bar{w}_{\sigma(2p)})$$

$$= \frac{1}{(2p)!} \sum_{\sigma \in S_{2p}} \langle v_1, w_{\sigma(1)} \rangle \dots \langle v_{2p}, w_{\sigma(2p)} \rangle.$$

We then calculate

$$\left\langle (2\pi i)^p \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2y}}(zu_1+u_2)\right)^n \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2y}}(\bar{z}u_1+u_2)\right)^{2p-n}, \\ (2\pi i)^p \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2y}}(zu_1+u_2)\right)^n \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2y}}(\bar{z}u_1+u_2)\right)^{2p-n} \right\rangle_{2p}^0 = \binom{2p}{n}^{-1}.$$

It follows that the global sections

$$v_n := \frac{\binom{2p}{n}^{1/2} (2\pi i)^p}{(2y)^p} (zu_1 + u_2)^n (\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{2p-n},$$

for $0 \leq n \leq 2p$, form an orthonormal C^{∞} -basis of $\mathcal{V}_p^{\infty} := \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\infty} \otimes \mathcal{V}_p$ with respect to the positivedefinite Hermitian form \langle , \rangle_p , and each v_n is pure of type (n - p, p - n). Let $\tau_0 := x_0 + iy_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ represent the fixed CM elliptic curve A. Observe that

$$\kappa_{2t} H_{\mathrm{dR}}^{2t}(A_{\mathbb{C}}^{2t}) = H^{2t,0}(A^{2t}) \oplus H^{0,2t}(A^{2t}).$$

We realize the constant VHS $\kappa_{2t}H^{2t}(A^{2t},\mathbb{Q})(t)$ of weight 0 as arising from the trivial representation \mathbb{R}^2 of G with basis $\{e_1, e_2\}$. Mimicking what was done above, an orthonormal basis of C^{∞} -sections is suggestively written as

$$\mu_0 := \frac{(2\pi i)^t}{(2y_0)^t} (\bar{\tau}_0 e_1 + e_2)^{2t}$$
$$\mu_{2t} := \frac{(2\pi i)^t}{(2y_0)^t} (\tau_0 e_1 + e_2)^{2t}.$$

These sections are of type (-t, t) and (t, -t) respectively. For future use, we let $c := (2\pi i)^t / (2y_0)^t$. From now on we take p = k - 1. Then $\tilde{\mathcal{W}} = \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_{k,t} = \mathcal{V}_{k-1} \otimes \mathbb{R}^2$ is the PVHS defined in (33). The C^{∞} -sections

$$w_{n,j} := v_n \otimes \mu_j, \qquad 0 \le n \le 2k - 2, \qquad j = 0, 2t,$$

form an orthonormal basis of $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}^{\infty} := \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes \tilde{\mathcal{W}}$ with respect to the Hermitian form associated to the polarization. Each $w_{n,j}$ is of pure type (n-k+1+j-t, k-1-n+t-j). In particular, the C^{∞} -subbundle $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}^{\infty}_{0}$ of sections of pure type (0,0) has rank 2 with orthonormal basis given by

$$\{w_{k+t-1,0}, w_{k-t-1,2t}\}$$

We have

$$w_{k+t-1,0} = \frac{\binom{2k-2}{k+t-1}^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}}{(2y)^{k-1} (2y_0)^t} (zu_1 + u_2)^{k+t-1} (\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{k-t-1} \otimes (\bar{\tau}_0 e_1 + e_2)^{2t}$$

and

$$w_{k-t-1,2t} = \frac{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}}{(2y)^{k-1} (2y_0)^t} (zu_1 + u_2)^{k-t-1} (\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{k+t-1} \otimes (\tau_0 e_1 + e_2)^{2t} dz_1^{k+t-1} = \frac{(2k-2)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}}{(2k-1)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}} (zu_1 + u_2)^{k-t-1} (\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{k+t-1} \otimes (\tau_0 e_1 + e_2)^{2t} dz_1^{k+t-1} = \frac{(2k-2)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}}{(2k-1)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}} (zu_1 + u_2)^{k-t-1} (\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{k+t-1} \otimes (\tau_0 e_1 + e_2)^{2t} dz_1^{k+t-1} = \frac{(2k-2)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}}{(2k-1)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}} (zu_1 + u_2)^{k-t-1} (\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{k+t-1} \otimes (\tau_0 e_1 + e_2)^{2t} dz_1^{k+t-1} = \frac{(2k-2)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}}{(2k-1)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}} (zu_1 + u_2)^{k-t-1} (\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{k+t-1} \otimes (\tau_0 e_1 + e_2)^{2t} dz_1^{k+t-1} = \frac{(2k-2)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}}{(2k-1)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}} (zu_1 + u_2)^{k+t-1} \otimes (\tau_0 e_1 + e_2)^{2t} dz_1^{k+t-1} = \frac{(2k-2)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}}{(2k-1)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}} (zu_1 + u_2)^{k+t-1} \otimes (\tau_0 e_1 + e_2)^{2t} dz_1^{k+t-1} = \frac{(2k-2)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}}{(2k-1)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}} (zu_1 + u_2)^{k+t-1} \otimes (\tau_0 e_1 + e_2)^{2t} dz_1^{k+t-1} = \frac{(2k-2)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}}{(2k-1)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}} (zu_1 + u_2)^{k+t-1} \otimes (\tau_0 e_1 + e_2)^{k+t-1} \otimes (\tau_0 e_1 + e_2)^{k+t-1} = \frac{(2k-2)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}}{(2k-1)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}} (zu_1 + u_2)^{k+t-1} \otimes (\tau_0 e_1 + e_2)^{k+t-1} \otimes (\tau_0 e_1 + e_2)^{k+t-1} = \frac{(2k-2)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}}{(2k-1)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}} = \frac{(2k-2)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}}{(2\pi i)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}}} = \frac{(2k-2)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k+t-1}}{(2\pi i)^{1/2} (2\pi i)^{k$$

Observe in particular that $\overline{w_{k+t-1,0}} = w_{k-t-1,2t}$.

Remark 6.9. The C^{∞} -subbundle $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_{0,\mathbb{R}}$ of real (0,0)-vectors (considered in Proposition 4.1) has rank 2 with basis given by $w(+) := w_{p+t,0} + w_{p-t,2t}$ and $w(-) := i(w_{p+t,0} - w_{p-t,2t})$. We prefer to work in the \mathbb{C} -vector space $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_{0,\mathbb{R}} \otimes K$, which has basis

(39)
$$w^+(z) := y^t w_{k+t-1,0}(z)$$
 and $w^-(z) := y^{-t} w_{k-t-1,2t}(z),$

for $z = x + iy \in \mathcal{H}$. In this basis, the Laplacian is represented by a diagonal matrix.

7. Laplacians

We compute the Laplacian associated to the PVHS $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}$ defined in (33) on sections of type (0,0). This will be used to identify the Green's kernel associated to \mathcal{W} in the next section.

7.1. Hodge star operators. For general background on Hodge operators, see [37, Ch. 5]. Let $C_{\mathbb{R}}^{\infty}$ denote the sheaf of real-valued smooth functions on \mathcal{H} and let $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{H}}$ denote the sheaf of holomorphic functions on \mathcal{H} . Let $T_{\mathbb{R}}$ denote the real tangent bundle of \mathcal{H} and let $\mathcal{A}_{\mathbb{R}}^{1}$ denote the sheaf of real-valued differential 1-forms on \mathcal{H} . If $z \in \mathcal{H}$ then by definition the dual vector space $(T_{\mathbb{R},z})^*$ is equal to the fiber $\mathcal{A}_{\mathbb{R},z}^{1}$ of $\mathcal{A}_{\mathbb{R}}^{1}$ at z. Consider the Poincaré metric given for $z = x + iy \in \mathcal{H}$ on the tangent space $T_{\mathbb{R},z}$ by

$$g_z = \begin{pmatrix} 1/y^2 & 0\\ 0 & 1/y^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

This defines a Riemannian metric on the upper half-plane \mathcal{H} . The linear map $r: T_{\mathbb{R},z} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}^1_{\mathbb{R},z}$ defined by $Y_z \mapsto g_z(\cdot, Y_z)$ is an isomorphism. If $\alpha_z \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\mathbb{R},z}$, then let $\alpha_z^{\#} := r^{-1}(\alpha_z)$. We define an inner product on $\mathcal{A}^1_{\mathbb{R},z}$ by

$$\langle \alpha_z, \beta_z \rangle_z := g_z(\alpha_z^\#, \beta_z^\#).$$

One checks that $dx^{\#} = y^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x}$ and $dy^{\#} = y^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial y}$ so that the inner product is given by the matrix $\begin{pmatrix} y^2 & 0 \\ 0 & y^2 \end{pmatrix}$. Finally, we endow $\bigwedge^2 \mathcal{A}^1_{\mathbb{R},z}$ with the inner product

$$\langle dx \wedge dy, dx \wedge dy \rangle_z = \det \begin{pmatrix} y^2 & 0 \\ 0 & y^2 \end{pmatrix} = y^4.$$

It follows that the volume form on \mathcal{H} associated to the Poincaré metric is given by $\operatorname{Vol}_z = \frac{dx \wedge dy}{u^2}$.

Suppose that a complex (C^{∞} -bundle) B over \mathcal{H} is endowed with a positive-definite Hermitian form \langle , \rangle . Let $\mathcal{A}^{p,q}$ denote the sheaf of complex valued differential forms on \mathcal{H} of type (p,q). It is equipped with the Hermitian product induced by the Poincaré metric. The sheaf of B-valued differential forms $\mathcal{A}^{p,q}(B) := \mathcal{A}^{p,q} \otimes_{\mathcal{C}^{\infty}} B$ of type (p,q) is thus equipped with a positive-definite Hermitian product. The Hodge star operator for B is an anti-linear isomorphism of sheaves

$$\bar{*}_B : \mathcal{A}^{p,q}(B) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{A}^{1-p,1-q}(B^*)$$

characterised by the following property: if $\beta \otimes \eta \in \mathcal{A}^{p,q}(B)(\mathcal{H})$, then for all $z \in \mathcal{H}$ and all $\alpha_z \otimes \omega \in \mathcal{A}^{p,q}(B)_z$ we have

$$\alpha_z \otimes \omega \wedge (\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}}(\beta \otimes \eta))_z = \langle \alpha_z \otimes \omega, \beta_z \otimes \eta \rangle_z \operatorname{Vol}_z$$

From this, we deduce that

(40)
$$\overline{*}_B(\beta \otimes \eta) = \overline{*\beta} \otimes \eta^*,$$

where $\eta^* \in \mathcal{W}^*$ is the form $\eta^* = \langle -, \eta \rangle$ and

(41)
$$*: \mathcal{A}^k_{\mathbb{R}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{A}^{2-k}_{\mathbb{R}}, \qquad k = 0, 1, 2,$$

is the Hodge star operator on \mathcal{H} with respect to the Poincaré metric. The latter is a linear bundle isomorphism satisfying

(42)
$$\begin{array}{l} *dx = dy \\ *1 = \frac{dx \wedge dy}{x^2} \\ *dx \wedge dy = y^2 \end{array}$$

One checks that [25, bottom of p. 168]

(43)
$$\bar{*}_{B^*} \circ \bar{*}_B = (-1)^{p+q}$$

on $\mathcal{A}^{p,q}(B)$.

We apply this theory to the complex vector bundle $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}^{\infty}$ (33) endowed with the Hermitian pairing given on fibers over $z \in \mathcal{H}$ by

$$\langle (2\pi i)^{p} v_{1} \dots v_{2p} \otimes (2\pi i)^{t} \omega_{1}, (2\pi i)^{p} w_{1} \dots w_{2p} \otimes (2\pi i)^{t} \omega_{2} \rangle_{z}$$

= $\langle (2\pi i)^{p} v_{1} \dots v_{2p}, (2\pi i)^{p} w_{1} \dots w_{2p} \rangle_{2p,z}^{0} \langle (2\pi i)^{t} \omega_{1}, (2\pi i)^{t} \omega_{2} \rangle_{2t,\tau_{0}}^{0}.$

The associated Hodge star operator will be denoted by $\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}} := \bar{*}_{\tilde{\mathcal{W}}^{\infty}}$. The one for the dual bundle will similarly be denoted by $\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}^*}$.

7.2. Gauss–Manin connections. The holomorphic complex vector bundle $\tilde{\mathcal{W}} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \tilde{W}_{\mathbb{C}}$ (33) comes equipped with the Gauss–Manin connection

$$\tilde{\nabla} := \partial \otimes 1 \colon \tilde{\mathcal{W}} \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{H}}} \tilde{\mathcal{W}}$$

satisfying Griffiths transversality

$$\tilde{\nabla}(\operatorname{Fil}^p) \subset \Omega^1_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes \operatorname{Fil}^{p-1}$$

Notation 7.1. In order to make the notation less cumbersome, we drop the tilde in the notations for the bundles and connections in this subsection and the next, and remember that we are working over $| | \mathcal{H}$.

We consider the complex C^{∞} -bundle $\mathcal{W}^{\infty} := \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} W_{\mathbb{C}}$ and extend the Gauss–Manin connection to $D := d \otimes 1 : \mathcal{W}^{\infty} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{1}_{\mathbb{C}} \otimes_{\mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}}} \mathcal{W}^{\infty}$. With the description $\mathcal{W}^{\infty} = \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{H}}} \mathcal{W}$, we have

 $D = \bar{\partial} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \nabla = \bar{\partial}_{\mathcal{W}} + 1 \otimes \nabla.$

(While the operator $d \otimes 1$ is not defined on the holomorphic vector bundle \mathcal{W} , the operator $\bar{\partial}_{\mathcal{W}} := \bar{\partial} \otimes 1$ is on the other hand well-defined.) The pairing $(,) = (,)_{k,t}^0$ (34) inducing the structure of PVHS is flat, or horizontal, in the sense of Remark 6.4:

(44)
$$d(v,\bar{w}) = (D(v),\bar{w}) + (v,D(w)).$$

In other words, D is a Hermitian connection in the sense of [25, Def. 4.2.9]. It is important to note here that if $\alpha \otimes s \in \mathcal{A}^1(\mathcal{W}^\infty)$ and $s' \in \mathcal{W}^\infty$, then $(\alpha \otimes s, s') = \alpha(s, s')$. In Zucker's notations [42, p. 423], define the pairing $((v, w)) = (v, \bar{w})$. Then (44) becomes

(45)
$$d((v,w)) = ((D(v),w)) + ((v,D(w))).$$

Let $C_{\mathcal{W}}$ denote the Weil operator of \mathcal{W} given by the direct sum of the scalar operators i^{p-q} on $\mathcal{W}^{p,q}$. Then the associated Hermitian pairing can be expressed as

$$\langle v, w \rangle = ((C_{\mathcal{W}}v, w)) = ((v, C_{\mathcal{W}}w)).$$

On $\mathcal{W}^{\infty} = \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} W_{\mathbb{C}}$, we have $D = \partial \otimes 1 + \bar{\partial} \otimes 1$, and we observe by Griffiths transversality that $D(\mathcal{A}^{r,s}(\operatorname{Fil}^p)) \subset \mathcal{A}^{r+1,s}(\operatorname{Fil}^{p-1}) \oplus \mathcal{A}^{r,s+1}(\operatorname{Fil}^p).$

The complex C^{∞} -bundle $\mathcal{A}^{1}_{\mathbb{C}}$ decomposes as $\mathcal{A}^{1,0} \oplus \mathcal{A}^{0,1}$. Similarly, the PVHS \mathcal{W}^{∞} of weight 0 admits a Hodge decomposition $\mathcal{W}^{\infty} = \bigoplus_{k} \mathcal{W}^{k,-k}$. Following [42, (1.8)], we have

$$D(\mathcal{A}^{r,s}(\mathcal{W}^{k,-k})) \subset \mathcal{A}^{r+1,s}(\mathcal{W}^{k,-k}) \oplus \mathcal{A}^{r+1,s}(\mathcal{W}^{k-1,-k+1}) \oplus \mathcal{A}^{r,s+1}(\mathcal{W}^{k,-k}) \oplus \mathcal{A}^{r,s+1}(\mathcal{W}^{k+1,-k-1}),$$

and the Gauss–Manin connection D splits into 4 components:

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\mathcal{W}}' \colon \mathcal{A}^{r,s}(\mathcal{W}^{k,-k}) &\longrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{r+1,s}(\mathcal{W}^{k,-k}) \\ \bar{\partial}_{\mathcal{W}}' \colon \mathcal{A}^{r,s}(\mathcal{W}^{k,-k}) &\longrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{r,s+1}(\mathcal{W}^{k,-k}) \\ \nabla_{\mathcal{W}}' \colon \mathcal{A}^{r,s}(\mathcal{W}^{k,-k}) &\longrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{r+1,s}(\mathcal{W}^{k-1,-k+1}) \\ \bar{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}' \colon \mathcal{A}^{r,s}(\mathcal{W}^{k,-k}) &\longrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{r,s+1}(\mathcal{W}^{k+1,-k-1}). \end{aligned}$$

Lemma 7.1. If $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}^{r,s}$ and $s \in \mathcal{W}^{k,-k}$, then

$$\begin{aligned} \partial'_{\mathcal{W}}(\alpha \otimes s) &= \partial(\alpha) \otimes s + (-1)^{r+s} \alpha \wedge \partial'_{\mathcal{W}}(s) \\ \bar{\partial}'_{\mathcal{W}}(\alpha \otimes s) &= \bar{\partial}(\alpha) \otimes s + (-1)^{r+s} \alpha \wedge \bar{\partial}'_{\mathcal{W}}(s) \\ \nabla'_{\mathcal{W}}(\alpha \otimes s) &= (-1)^{r+s} \alpha \wedge \nabla'_{\mathcal{W}}(s) \\ \bar{\nabla}'_{\mathcal{W}}(\alpha \otimes s) &= (-1)^{r+s} \alpha \wedge \bar{\nabla}'_{\mathcal{W}}(s). \end{aligned}$$

Proof. This follows from the fact that the connection is extended to $D: \mathcal{A}^n(\mathcal{W}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{n+1}(\mathcal{W})$ via the Leibniz rule $D(\beta \otimes s) = d\beta \otimes s + (-1)^n \beta \wedge D(s)$.

The Hermitian metric on \mathcal{W} induces an anti-linear isomorphism

 $()^* \colon \mathcal{W} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{W}^*, \qquad w \longrightarrow w^* := \langle -, w \rangle.$ (46)

Since the basis $\{w_{n,j}, 0 \le n \le 2p, j = 0, 2t\}$ is orthonormal with respect to the Hermitian pairing, the dual basis $\{w_{n,j}^{\vee}, 0 \le n \le 2p, j = 0, 2t\}$ satisfies $w_{n,j}^{\vee} = \langle -, w_{n,j} \rangle = w_{n,j}^*$. We extend (46) to an anti-linear isomorphism

(47)
$$()^* \colon \mathcal{A}^{p,q}(\mathcal{W}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{A}^{q,p}(\mathcal{W}^*)$$

by declaring that if $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}^{p,q}$ and $s \in \mathcal{A}^0(\mathcal{W})$, then

$$(\alpha \otimes s)^* := \bar{\alpha} \otimes s^*.$$

The complex dual C^{∞} -bundle $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{H}}} \mathcal{W}^*$ has an integral connection $D_{\mathcal{W}^*}$ defined by

$$D_{\mathcal{W}^*}(f)(s) = d(f(s)) - f(D(s)).$$

If $D(s) = \alpha \otimes t \in \mathcal{A}^1(\mathcal{W})$ with $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}^1_{\mathbb{C}}$ and $t \in \mathcal{A}^0(\mathcal{W})$, then $f(D(s)) := \alpha f(t)$. As above, this connection splits into four components $\partial'_{\mathcal{W}^*}, \bar{\partial}'_{\mathcal{W}^*}, \nabla'_{\mathcal{W}^*}$, and $\bar{\nabla}'_{\mathcal{W}^*}$. We extend the connection to $D_{\mathcal{W}^*}: \mathcal{A}^n(\mathcal{W}^*) \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{n+1}(\mathcal{W}^*)$ via the usual Leibniz rule $D_{\mathcal{W}^*}(\beta \otimes t) = d\beta \otimes t + (-1)^n \beta \wedge D_{\mathcal{W}^*}(t)$.

Lemma 7.2. For all $A \in \mathcal{A}^p(\mathcal{W})$ and $B \in \mathcal{A}^q(\mathcal{W}^*)$, the following Leibniz rule holds: $d(A \wedge B) = D_{\mathcal{W}}(A) \wedge B + (-1)^p A \wedge D_{\mathcal{W}^*}(B).$

Proof. Writing $A = \alpha \otimes s \in \mathcal{A}^p(\mathcal{W})$ and $B = \beta \otimes t \in \mathcal{A}^q(\mathcal{W}^*)$, we must prove the following equality:

 $d((\alpha \otimes s) \wedge (\beta \otimes t)) = D_{\mathcal{W}}(\alpha \otimes s) \wedge (\beta \otimes t) + (-1)^p(\alpha \otimes s) \wedge D_{\mathcal{W}^*}(\beta \otimes t).$ (48)

By definition, we have

$$D_{\mathcal{W}}(\alpha \otimes s) = d\alpha \otimes s + (-1)^p \alpha \wedge D_{\mathcal{W}}(s)$$

and

$$D_{\mathcal{W}^*}(\beta \otimes t) = d\beta \otimes t + (-1)^q \beta \wedge D_{\mathcal{W}^*}(t).$$

The proof then follows from an easy calculation using the Leibniz rule for the exterior derivative and the definition of the connection $D_{\mathcal{W}^*}$.

Lemma 7.3. For all $w \in W$, we have

$$D_{\mathcal{W}^*}(w^*) = (C_{\mathcal{W}}^{-1} D_{\mathcal{W}}(C_{\mathcal{W}}w))^*$$

Proof. For all $w' \in \mathcal{W}$, we have

$$D_{\mathcal{W}^*}(w^*)(w') = d(w^*(w')) - w^*(D_{\mathcal{W}}(w')) = d\langle w', w \rangle - \langle D_{\mathcal{W}}(w'), w \rangle$$

= $d((w', C_{\mathcal{W}}w)) - ((D_{\mathcal{W}}(w'), C_{\mathcal{W}}w)) = ((w', D_{\mathcal{W}}(C_{\mathcal{W}}w)))$
= $((w', C_{\mathcal{W}}C_{\mathcal{W}}^{-1}D_{\mathcal{W}}(C_{\mathcal{W}}w))) = \langle w', C_{\mathcal{W}}^{-1}D_{\mathcal{W}}(C_{\mathcal{W}}w) \rangle = (C_{\mathcal{W}}^{-1}D_{\mathcal{W}}(C_{\mathcal{W}}w))^*(w'),$
ere we used (45) in the fourth equality.

where we used (45) in the fourth equality.

Lemma 7.4. For all $w \in W$, we have

$$\partial_{\mathcal{W}^*}^{\prime}(w^*) = (C_{\mathcal{W}}^{-1}\bar{\partial}_{\mathcal{W}}^{\prime}(C_{\mathcal{W}}w))^* \quad and \quad \bar{\partial}_{\mathcal{W}^*}^{\prime}(w^*) = (C_{\mathcal{W}}^{-1}\partial_{\mathcal{W}}^{\prime}(C_{\mathcal{W}}w))^*,$$
$$\nabla_{\mathcal{W}^*}^{\prime}(w^*) = (C_{\mathcal{W}}^{-1}\bar{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}^{\prime}(C_{\mathcal{W}}w))^* \quad and \quad \bar{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}^*}^{\prime}(w^*) = (C_{\mathcal{W}}^{-1}\nabla_{\mathcal{W}}^{\prime}(C_{\mathcal{W}}w))^*.$$

Proof. Immediate consequence of Lemma 7.3 after identifying the four components.

Let p = k - 1 and recall the sections

(49)
$$w^{-}(z) = y^{-t} w_{p-t,2t}(z)$$
 and $w^{+}(z) = y^{t} w_{p+t,0}(z)$

(with $z = x + iy \in \mathcal{H}$) introduced in Remark 6.9. For each $0 \le n \le 2p$, define

$$\xi_n = \left(\binom{2p}{n}^{1/2} \frac{(2\pi i)^p}{2^p} \right)^{-1},$$

so that

$$\xi_{p+t}w^+ = y^{t-p}(zu_1 + u_2)^{p+t}(\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{p-t} \otimes \mu_0$$

and

$$\xi_{p-t}w^{-} = y^{-p-t}(zu_1 + u_2)^{p-t}(\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{p+t} \otimes \mu_{2t}$$

In what follows, the calculations will mostly be carried out for w^- . The ones for w^+ can be verified similarly. (We also implicitly work in the complex vector space $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_{0,\mathbb{R}} \otimes K$, as in Remark 6.9.)

Lemma 7.5. Given $F \in \mathcal{A}^{0,0}(\mathcal{H})$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\mathcal{W}}'(Fw^{-}) &= \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial z} - \frac{2tF}{z - \bar{z}}\right) dz \otimes w^{-} \\ \bar{\partial}_{\mathcal{W}}'(Fw^{-}) &= \frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}} d\bar{z} \otimes w^{-} \\ \nabla_{\mathcal{W}}'(Fw^{-}) &= -\frac{p - t}{z - \bar{z}} Fy^{-t} \xi_{p-t-1} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} dz \otimes w_{p-t-1,2t} \\ \bar{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}'(Fw^{-}) &= \frac{p + t}{z - \bar{z}} Fy^{-t} \xi_{p-t+1} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} d\bar{z} \otimes w_{p-t+1,2t}. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. We will often use the identity $2iy = z - \overline{z}$, from which it follows that

$$\frac{\partial y}{\partial z} = \frac{1}{2i}$$
 and $\frac{\partial y}{\partial \bar{z}} = -\frac{1}{2i}$.

Using $D = d \otimes 1 = \partial \otimes 1 + \overline{\partial} \otimes 1$ on $\mathcal{W}^{\infty} = \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} W_{\mathbb{C}}$, we begin by computing

$$(\partial \otimes 1)(\xi_{p-t}Fw^{-}) = \frac{\partial F}{\partial z}y^{-p-t}(zu_1 + u_2)^{p-t}(\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{p+t}dz \otimes \mu_{2t}$$

$$- \frac{p+t}{2i}Fy^{-p-t-1}(zu_1 + u_2)^{p-t}(\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{p+t}dz \otimes \mu_{2t}$$

$$+ (p-t)u_1Fy^{-p-t}(zu_1 + u_2)^{p-t-1}(\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{p+t}dz \otimes \mu_{2t}$$

From $(z - \bar{z})u_1 = (zu_1 + u_2) - (\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)$, we obtain

$$(\partial \otimes 1)(\xi_{p-t}Fw^{-}) = \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial z} - \frac{2tF}{z-\bar{z}}\right)y^{-p-t}(zu_1 + u_2)^{p-t}(\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{p+t}dz \otimes \mu_{2t} \\ - \frac{p-t}{(z-\bar{z})}Fy^{-p-t}(zu_1 + u_2)^{p-t-1}(\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{p+t+1}dz \otimes \mu_{2t}.$$

Hence,

$$(\partial \otimes 1)(Fw^{-}) = \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial z} - \frac{2tF}{z - \bar{z}}\right) dz \otimes w^{-} - \frac{p - t}{z - \bar{z}} Fy^{-t} \xi_{p-t-1} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} dz \otimes w_{p-t-1,2t},$$

and we conclude by separating terms in $\mathcal{A}^{1,0}(\mathcal{W}^{0,0})$ and $\mathcal{A}^{1,0}(\mathcal{W}^{-1,1})$.

On the other hand, we compute

$$(\bar{\partial} \otimes 1)(\xi_{p-t}Fw^{-}) = \frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}}y^{-p-t}(zu_1 + u_2)^{p-t}(\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{p+t}d\bar{z} \otimes \mu_{2t} + \frac{p+t}{2i}Fy^{-p-t-1}(zu_1 + u_2)^{p-t}(\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{p+t}d\bar{z} \otimes \mu_{2t} + (p+t)u_1Fy^{-p-t}(zu_1 + u_2)^{p-t}(\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{p+t-1}d\bar{z} \otimes \mu_{2t}.$$

Using the fact that $(z - \overline{z})u_1 = (zu_1 + u_2) - (\overline{z}u_1 + u_2)$, we obtain

$$(\bar{\partial} \otimes 1)(\xi_{p-t}Fw^{-}) = \frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}}y^{-p-t}(zu_1 + u_2)^{p-t}(\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{p+t}d\bar{z} \otimes \mu_{2t} + \frac{p+t}{z-\bar{z}}Fy^{-p-t}(zu_1 + u_2)^{p-t+1}(\bar{z}u_1 + u_2)^{p+t-1}d\bar{z} \otimes \mu_{2t}$$

Hence,

$$(\bar{\partial} \otimes 1)(Fw^{-}) = \frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}} d\bar{z} \otimes w^{-} + \frac{p+t}{z-\bar{z}} Fy^{-t} \xi_{p-t+1} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} d\bar{z} \otimes w_{p-t+1,2t},$$

and we conclude by separating terms in $\mathcal{A}^{0,1}(\mathcal{W}^{0,0})$ and $\mathcal{A}^{0,1}(\mathcal{W}^{1,-1})$.

7.3. Computing Laplacians.

Definition 7.6. The Laplacian associated to the complex C^{∞} -bundle \mathcal{W}^{∞} with connection D is

$$\Box_D := DD^* + D^*D$$

where

$$D^* := -\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}^*} \circ D_{\mathcal{W}^*} \circ \bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}}$$

denotes the formal adjoint operator with respect to the scalar product on $\mathcal{A}_{c}^{p,q}(\mathcal{W})$

$$(\alpha,\beta)_{L^2} := \int_{\mathcal{H}} \alpha \wedge \bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}} \beta = \int_{\mathcal{H}} \langle \alpha,\beta \rangle \operatorname{Vol}.$$

Remark 7.7. For the claim that D^* is indeed the formal adjoint of D, see [25, Lem. 4.1.12].

Observe that on $\mathcal{A}^{0,0}(\mathcal{W})$ we have

$$\Box_D = D^* D_s$$

simply because the adjoint operator on $\mathcal{A}^{0,0}(\mathcal{W})$ is trivial (as there are no forms of negative type).

Remark 7.8. Define $D' := \partial'_{\mathcal{W}} + \overline{\nabla}'_{\mathcal{W}}$ and $D'' := \overline{\partial}'_{\mathcal{W}} + \nabla'_{\mathcal{W}}$. Letting

$$(D')^* = -\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}^*} \circ D'_{\mathcal{W}^*} \circ \bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}} \quad \text{and} \quad (D'')^* = -\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}^*} \circ D''_{\mathcal{W}^*} \circ \bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}}$$

denote the formal adjoints of D' and D'' and defining Laplacians $\Box_{D'}$ and $\Box_{D''}$ as in Definition 7.6, we have [42, Thm. 2.7]

$$(50) \qquad \qquad \Box_D = 2\Box_{D'} = 2\Box_{D''}.$$

In practice, we will compute $\Box_{D'} = (D')^* D'$ on $\mathcal{A}^{0,0}(\mathcal{W})$.

Proposition 7.9. Let w^+ and w^- be the sections defined by (49). Given $F \in \mathcal{A}^{0,0}(\mathcal{H})$, we have

$$\Box_D(F \cdot w^-) = \left(-4y^2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z \partial \bar{z}} - 4ity \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}} + (k-t-1)(k+t)\right) F \cdot w^-$$

and

$$\Box_D(F \cdot w^+) = \left(-4y^2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z \partial \bar{z}} + 4ity \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}} + (k+t-1)(k-t)\right) F \cdot w^+.$$

Proof. During the course of this proof, we set p = k - 1. We begin by computing the (0, 0)-component of $(D')^* \partial'_{\mathcal{W}}(Fw^-)$, using Lemma 7.5:

$$(D')^{*} \left(\left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial z} - \frac{2tF}{z - \bar{z}} \right) dz \otimes w^{-} \right) \\ = -\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} \circ D'_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} \circ \bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}} \left(\left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial z} - \frac{2tF}{z - \bar{z}} \right) dz \otimes w^{-} \right) \\ = -\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} \circ D'_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} \left(i \left(\frac{\partial \bar{F}}{\partial \bar{z}} + \frac{2t\bar{F}}{z - \bar{z}} \right) d\bar{z} \otimes (w^{-})^{*} \right) \\ = -\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} \circ (\partial'_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} + \bar{\nabla}'_{\mathcal{W}^{*}}) \left(i \left(\frac{\partial \bar{F}}{\partial \bar{z}} + \frac{2t\bar{F}}{z - \bar{z}} \right) d\bar{z} \otimes (w^{-})^{*} \right) \\ = -\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} \circ \partial'_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} \left(i \left(\frac{\partial \bar{F}}{\partial \bar{z}} + \frac{2t\bar{F}}{z - \bar{z}} \right) d\bar{z} \otimes (w^{-})^{*} \right).$$

Using Lemma 7.1 followed by Lemma 7.4, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\mathcal{W}^*}^{\prime} \left(i \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}} + \frac{2tF}{z - \bar{z}} \right) d\bar{z} \otimes (w^-)^* \right) \\ &= \partial \left(i \left(\frac{\partial \bar{F}}{\partial \bar{z}} + \frac{2t\bar{F}}{z - \bar{z}} \right) d\bar{z} \right) \otimes (w^-)^* - i \left(\frac{\partial \bar{F}}{\partial \bar{z}} + \frac{2t\bar{F}}{z - \bar{z}} \right) d\bar{z} \wedge (C_{\mathcal{W}}^{-1} \bar{\partial}_{\mathcal{W}}^{\prime} (C_{\mathcal{W}} w^-))^* \\ &= i \left(\frac{\partial^2 \bar{F}}{\partial z \partial \bar{z}} + \frac{2t}{z - \bar{z}} \frac{\partial \bar{F}}{\partial z} - \frac{2t\bar{F}}{(z - \bar{z})^2} \right) dz \wedge d\bar{z} \otimes (w^-)^*, \end{aligned}$$

where in the last equality we used the equality $\bar{\partial}'_{\mathcal{W}}(w^-) = 0$ which follows from Lemma 7.5. We deduce that

$$\begin{split} (D')^*\partial'_{\mathcal{W}}(Fw^-) &= -\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}^*} \circ \left(i \left(\frac{\partial^2 \bar{F}}{\partial z \partial \bar{z}} + \frac{2t}{z - \bar{z}} \frac{\partial \bar{F}}{\partial z} - \frac{2t\bar{F}}{(z - \bar{z})^2} \right) dz \wedge d\bar{z} \otimes (w^-)^* \right) \\ &= - \left(-i \left(\frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial z \partial \bar{z}} - \frac{2t}{z - \bar{z}} \frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}} - \frac{2tF}{(z - \bar{z})^2} \right) 2iy^2 w^- \right) \\ &= i \left(\frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial z \partial \bar{z}} - \frac{2t}{z - \bar{z}} \frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}} - \frac{2tF}{(z - \bar{z})^2} \right) 2iy^2 w^- \\ &= - \left(2y^2 \frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial z \partial \bar{z}} + 2ity \frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}} + tF \right) w^-. \end{split}$$

Next, we compute the (0,0)-component of $(D')^* \overline{\nabla}'_{\mathcal{W}}(Fw^-)$, using Lemma 7.5:

$$(D')^{*} \left(\frac{p+t}{z-\bar{z}} F y^{-t} \xi_{p-t+1} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} d\bar{z} \otimes w_{p-t+1,2t} \right)$$

= $-\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} \circ D'_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} \circ \bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}} \left(\frac{p+t}{z-\bar{z}} F y^{-t} \xi_{p-t+1} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} d\bar{z} \otimes w_{p-t+1,2t} \right)$
= $-\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} \circ D'_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} \left(i \frac{p+t}{z-\bar{z}} \bar{F} y^{-t} \xi_{p-t+1} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} dz \otimes (w_{p-t+1,2t})^{*} \right)$
= $-\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} \circ (\partial'_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} + \bar{\nabla}'_{\mathcal{W}^{*}}) \left(i \frac{p+t}{z-\bar{z}} \bar{F} y^{-t} \xi_{p-t+1} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} dz \otimes (w_{p-t+1,2t})^{*} \right)$
= $-\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} \circ \bar{\nabla}'_{\mathcal{W}^{*}} \left(i \frac{p+t}{z-\bar{z}} \bar{F} y^{-t} \xi_{p-t+1} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} dz \otimes (w_{p-t+1,2t})^{*} \right).$

Using Lemma 7.1 followed by Lemma 7.4, we have

$$\begin{split} \bar{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}^*}' \left(i \frac{p+t}{z-\bar{z}} \bar{F} y^{-t} \xi_{p-t+1} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} dz \otimes (w_{p-t+1,2t})^* \right) \\ &= - \left(i \frac{p+t}{z-\bar{z}} \bar{F} y^{-t} \xi_{p-t+1} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} dz \wedge \bar{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}^*}' ((w_{p-t+1,2t})^*) \right) \\ &= - \left(i \frac{p+t}{z-\bar{z}} \bar{F} y^{-t} \xi_{p-t+1} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} dz \wedge (C_{\mathcal{W}}^{-1} \nabla_{\mathcal{W}}' (C_{\mathcal{W}} w_{p-t+1,2t}))^* \right) \\ &= - \left(i \frac{p+t}{z-\bar{z}} \bar{F} y^{-t} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} dz \wedge (C_{\mathcal{W}}^{-1} \nabla_{\mathcal{W}}' (-\xi_{p-t+1} w_{p-t+1,2t}))^* \right) \\ &= i \frac{p+t}{z-\bar{z}} \bar{F} y^{-t} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} dz \wedge (C_{\mathcal{W}}^{-1} \nabla_{\mathcal{W}}' (\xi_{p-t+1} w_{p-t+1,2t}))^*. \end{split}$$

We have

$$\nabla_{\mathcal{W}}^{\prime}(\xi_{p-t+1}w_{p-t+1,2t}) = \nabla_{\mathcal{W}}^{\prime}(y^{-p}(zu_1+u_2)^{p-t+1}(\bar{z}u_1+u_2)^{p+t-1}\otimes\mu_{2t})$$
$$= -\frac{(p-t+1)}{z-\bar{z}}y^{-p}(zu_1+u_2)^{p-t}(\bar{z}u_1+u_2)^{p+t}dz\otimes\mu_{2t}$$
$$= -\frac{(p-t+1)}{z-\bar{z}}y^t\xi_{p-t}dz\otimes w^-.$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \bar{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}^*}' \left(i \frac{p+t}{z-\bar{z}} \bar{F} y^{-t} \xi_{p-t+1} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} dz \otimes (w_{p-t+1,2t})^* \right) \\ &= i \frac{p+t}{z-\bar{z}} \bar{F} y^{-t} \xi_{p-t}^{-1} dz \wedge \left(C_{\mathcal{W}}^{-1} \left(-\frac{(p-t+1)}{z-\bar{z}} y^t \xi_{p-t} dz \otimes w^- \right) \right)^* \\ &= i \frac{(p+t)(p-t+1)}{(z-\bar{z})^2} \bar{F} dz \wedge d\bar{z} \otimes (w^-)^*. \end{split}$$

We conclude that

$$(D')^* \bar{\nabla}'_{\mathcal{W}}(Fw^-) = -\bar{*}_{\mathcal{W}^*} \left(i \frac{(p+t)(p-t+1)}{(z-\bar{z})^2} \bar{F} dz \wedge d\bar{z} \otimes (w^-)^* \right)$$
$$= -\left(-\frac{(p+t)(p-t+1)}{2} Fw^- \right)$$
$$= \frac{(p+t)(p-t+1)}{2} Fw^-.$$

Putting everything together yields

$$\begin{split} \Box_{D'}(Fw^{-}) &= -\left(2y^2\frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial z\partial \bar{z}} + 2ity\frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}} + tF\right)w^{-} + \frac{(p+t)(p-t+1)}{2}Fw^{-} \\ &= -\left(2y^2\frac{\partial^2}{\partial z\partial \bar{z}} + 2ity\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}} + t - \frac{(p+t)(p-t+1)}{2}\right)Fw^{-} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}\left(4y^2\frac{\partial^2}{\partial z\partial \bar{z}} + 4ity\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}} - (p-t)(p+t+1)\right)Fw^{-}. \end{split}$$

We conclude by using (50) and recalling that p = k - 1. A similar calculation yields the result for w^+ (replace -t by +t in all calculations).

8. Green's kernels

Recall that $C = Y(M)_{\mathbb{C}}$. In this section, we construct the Green's kernel associated to the PVHS \mathcal{W} (Proposition 4.1). More precisely, we construct a harmonic C^{∞} -section of the rank 4 vector bundle $\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{pr}_1^* \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0, \operatorname{pr}_2^* \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0)$ over the complement of the diagonal in $\bigsqcup \mathcal{H} \times \bigsqcup \mathcal{H}$ that descends to a section of the corresponding bundle over $C \times C$ minus the diagonal and admits an extension to a C^{∞} -section of $\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{pr}_1^* \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0, \operatorname{pr}_2^* \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0)$ over the complement of the diagonal in $\overline{C} \times \overline{C}$. We begin by analyzing the action of $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ on sections of $\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{pr}_1^* \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0, \operatorname{pr}_2^* \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0)$.

8.1. $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ -invariant sections. Let G be a section of $\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{pr}_1^* \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0, \operatorname{pr}_2^* \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0)$ over $\bigsqcup (\mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{H}) \setminus \Delta_{\mathcal{H}}$, where we use $\Delta_{\mathcal{H}}$ to denote the diagonal of \mathcal{H} . At a point $(z, z') \in (\mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{H}) \setminus \Delta_{\mathcal{H}}, G(z, z')$ is an element in the fiber $\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{pr}_1^* \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0, \operatorname{pr}_2^* \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0)_{(z,z')} = \operatorname{Hom}((\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0)_z, (\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0)_{z'})$. The bundle $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0$ has rank 2 with basis $\{w^+, w^-\}$ defined by (49), so all we need to do to specify a section G is to define $G(z, z')(w^-(z))$ and $G(z, z')(w^+(z))$ in terms of $w^-(z')$ and $w^+(z')$.

Throughout this section, we set p = k - 1. Let $\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$. We have $w^{\pm}(z) \in \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_z = \tilde{W} = \operatorname{Sym}^{2p}(V)(p) \otimes \mathbb{R}^2$ and thus γ acts (on the left) on $w^{\pm}(z)$ via the symmetric standard representation of $G = \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{R})^+$ as follows:

(51)
$$\gamma \cdot w^{\pm}(z) := \xi_{p\pm t}^{-1} y^{-p\pm t} ((az+b)u_1 + (cz+d)u_2)^{p\pm t} ((a\bar{z}+b)u_1 + (c\bar{z}+d)u_2)^{p\mp t} \otimes \mu_{t\mp t}.$$

In particular, we see that

(52)
$$\gamma \cdot w^{\pm}(z) = \det(\gamma)^{p \mp t} j(\gamma, z)^{\pm 2t} w^{\pm}(\gamma z).$$

The left action of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \times \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ on a section G of $\mathrm{Hom}(\mathrm{pr}_1^* \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0, \mathrm{pr}_2^* \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0)$ is defined by

(53)
$$((\gamma, \gamma') \cdot G)(z, z')(w^{\pm}(z)) := \gamma' \cdot G(\gamma^{-1}z, (\gamma')^{-1}z')(\gamma^{-1} \cdot w^{\pm}(z))$$

In particular, the left diagonal $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ -action is given by

(54)
$$(\gamma \cdot G)(z, z')(w^{\pm}(z)) := \gamma \cdot G(\gamma^{-1}z, \gamma^{-1}z')(\gamma^{-1} \cdot w^{\pm}(z)).$$

We compute this diagonal action on the section G_0 defined by $G_0(z, z')(w^{\pm}(z)) = w^{\pm}(z')$:

$$(\gamma \cdot G_0)(z, z')(w^{\pm}(z)) = j(\gamma^{-1}, z)^{\pm 2t} j(\gamma, \gamma^{-1} z')^{\pm 2t} w^{\pm}(z').$$

With these formulas in hand, it is not difficult to create diagonal $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ -invariant sections, as we will now explain.

Consider the function $g = g_{k,t}$ on $(\mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{H}) \setminus \Delta_{\mathcal{H}}$ given by

(55)
$$g(z,z') := -Q_{k,t} \left(1 + \frac{|z-z'|^2}{2yy'} \right)$$

where $Q_{k,t}(x)$ is the Jacobi function of the second kind (17) which we recall is defined, for all x in the complex plane cut along the segment [-1, 1], by

(56)
$$Q_{k,t}(x) := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{2^{2t} dw}{(x + \sqrt{x^2 - 1} \cosh(w))^{k-t} (x + 1 + \sqrt{x^2 - 1} e^w)^{2t}}$$

Note that g is a function on $(\mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{H}) \setminus \Delta_{\mathcal{H}}$ that only depends on the hyperbolic distance between z and z'. It follows easily that g is invariant under the diagonal action of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$, i.e., $g(\gamma z, \gamma z') = g(z, z')$ for all $\gamma \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$. Define the following functions on $(\mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{H}) \setminus \Delta_{\mathcal{H}}$:

$$\mu_g^+(z,z') := g(z,z') \left(\frac{z-\bar{z}'}{2iy'}\right)^{2t} \quad \text{and} \quad \mu_g^-(z,z') := g(z,z') \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t}.$$

A quick calculation reveals that

Lemma 8.1. The section G_g of $\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{pr}_1^* \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0, \operatorname{pr}_2^* \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0)$ defined by

$$G_g(z, z')(w^{\pm}(z)) = \mu_g^{\pm}(z, z')w^{\pm}(z'),$$

is invariant under the left diagonal action (54) of $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$.

Proof. An easy verification using the fact that for any $z' \in \mathcal{H}$ we have $j(\gamma^{-1}, z')j(\gamma, \gamma^{-1}z') = 1$. \Box

8.2. The Green's kernel. Now that we have an $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ -invariant section G_g , we will use it to define a section $G_{g,M}$ of the bundle $\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{pr}_1^* \mathcal{W}_0, \operatorname{pr}_2^* \mathcal{W}_0)$ on $(C \times C) \setminus \Delta_C$, where \mathcal{W} denotes the bundle (32) on C and Δ_C is the diagonal in $C \times C$.

By definition, we have a Cartesian diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} & \tilde{\mathcal{W}} & \stackrel{\mathrm{pr}}{\longrightarrow} & \mathcal{W} \\ & & \downarrow \\ & & \downarrow \\ & & \downarrow \\ & & \downarrow \\ & & & \downarrow \\ &$$

If $z \in \mathcal{H}$ and $Q = \operatorname{pr}(z) = \Gamma(M)z \in C(\mathbb{C})$, then the fibers $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_z$ and \mathcal{W}_Q are canonically identified since the diagram is Cartesian. Suppose that $z' \in \mathcal{H}$ is another point such that $\operatorname{pr}(z') = Q$. Then there exists $\gamma \in \Gamma(M)$ such that $\gamma z' = z$. The action of γ on fibers then identifies $\gamma \cdot \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_{z'}$ with $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_z$.

In order to define a section $G_{g,M}$ of $\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{pr}_1^* \mathcal{W}_0, \operatorname{pr}_2^* \mathcal{W}_0)$, it suffices to specify $G_{g,M}(Q,Q') \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{W}_Q, \mathcal{W}_{Q'})$ for all $Q \neq Q'$ in $C(\mathbb{C})$. For this, it is in turn enough to specify $G_{g,M}(z, z') \in \operatorname{Hom}((\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0)_z, (\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_0)_{z'})$ that are independent of choices of representatives z and z' for $Q = \Gamma(M)z$ and $Q' = \Gamma(M)z'$. This last condition is equivalent to requiring that $(\gamma, \gamma') \cdot G_{g,M} = G_{g,M}$ for all $\gamma, \gamma' \in \Gamma(M)$, where the action is the one defined in (53).

Lemma 8.2. For all $0 < t \le k - 1$, the sum

$$G = G_{g,M} := \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} (1, \gamma^{-1}) \cdot G_g$$

converges uniformly on compact subsets of $\mathcal{H}^2 \setminus \{(z, z') \mid z \in \Gamma(M)z'\}$ and gives a well-defined section of the bundle $\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{pr}_1^* \mathcal{W}_0, \operatorname{pr}_2^* \mathcal{W}_0)$ on $(C \times C) \setminus \Delta_C$.

Remark 8.3. Assuming the convergence of the sum (to be proved below), we explicitly have, for $Q = \Gamma(M)z \neq \Gamma(M)z' = Q'$,

(57)
$$G_{g,M}(Q,Q')(w^{\pm}(z)) = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} j(\gamma, z')^{\mp 2t} \mu_g^{\pm}(z, \gamma z') w^{\pm}(z').$$

Using the diagonal $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ -invariance of G_g , we obtain

$$G_{g,M} = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} (1, \gamma^{-1}) \cdot G_g = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} (1, \gamma^{-1}) \cdot (\gamma \cdot G_g) = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} (\gamma, 1) \cdot G_g,$$

which leads to the useful formula

(58)
$$G_{g,M}(Q,Q')(w^{\pm}(z)) = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} j(\gamma,z)^{\pm 2t} \mu_g^{\pm}(\gamma z,z') w^{\pm}(z').$$

Proof of Lemma 8.2. Assuming the convergence of the sum, the $\Gamma(M)$ -invariance is an easy verification using the diagonal $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ -invariance of G_q . We focus on the proof of convergence, inspired by the proof of [23, VI Prop. 6.2]. Let $Q = \Gamma(M)z \neq \Gamma(M)z' = Q'$. In view of Remark 8.3, it suffices to check that the sums

(59)
$$\mathcal{G}^+(z,z') := \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} j(\gamma,z')^{-2t} \mu_g^+(z,\gamma z') \text{ and } \mathcal{G}^-(z,z') := \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} j(\gamma,z)^{-2t} \mu_g^-(\gamma z,z')$$

converge uniformly for $(z, z') \in E_1 \times E_2$, where E_1 and E_2 are compact subsets of \mathcal{H} . We have

$$\mathcal{G}^{+}(z,z') = -\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} \left(\frac{(z-\gamma \bar{z}')}{j(\gamma,z')2i\Im(\gamma z')} \right)^{2t} Q_{k,t} \left(1 + \frac{|z-\gamma z'|^2}{2y\Im(\gamma z')} \right)$$
$$= -\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} \left(\frac{j(\gamma,\bar{z}')(z-\gamma \bar{z}')}{2iy'} \right)^{2t} Q_{k,t} \left(1 + \frac{|z-\gamma z'|^2}{2y\Im(\gamma z')} \right).$$

Using Lemma 2.4, this is

$$\begin{split} O\left(\sum_{\gamma\in\Gamma(M)} \left(\frac{|j(\gamma,z')||z-\gamma\bar{z}'|}{y'}\right)^{2t} \left(\frac{2y\Im(\gamma z')}{|z-\gamma z'|^2}\right)^{k+t}\right) \\ &= O\left(\sum_{\gamma\in\Gamma(M)} \frac{|j(\gamma,z')|^{2t}|z-\gamma\bar{z}'|^{2t}}{(y')^t} \left(\frac{2y\Im(\gamma z')}{|z-\gamma z'|^2}\right)^{k+t}\right) \\ &= O\left(\sum_{\gamma\in\Gamma(M)} \left(\frac{|z-\gamma\bar{z}'|^2}{\Im(\gamma z')}\right)^t \left(\frac{2y\Im(\gamma z')}{|z-\gamma z'|^2}\right)^{k+t}\right) \\ &= O\left(\sum_{\gamma\in\Gamma(M)} \left(\frac{\Im(\gamma z')}{|z-\gamma z'|^2}\right)^k\right) \\ &= O\left(\sum_{\gamma\in\Gamma(M)} \left(\frac{\Im(\gamma z')}{(1+|\gamma z'|)^2}\right)^k\right), \end{split}$$

where the implicit constants depend on E_1 and E_2 . Similarly, it can be shown that

(60)
$$\mathcal{G}^{-}(z,z') = O\left(\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} \left(\frac{\Im(\gamma z)}{(1+|\gamma z|)^2}\right)^k\right).$$

Since $k \geq 2$, we may apply [23, VI Prop. 5.1], which says that for each $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$, we have

$$\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} \left(\frac{\Im(\gamma\xi)}{(1+|\gamma\xi|)^2} \right)^k \le C(k,M),$$

where C(k, M) is some positive constant that only depends on k and M. The uniform convergence follows as in the proof of [23, VI Prop. 6.2].

We may use the basis $\{w^+, w^-\}$ to trivialize \mathcal{W}_0 , but this does not extend to a C^{∞} -trivialization of $\overline{\mathcal{W}}_0$, because w^{\pm} have singularities of type $y^{k \mp t-1}$ near the cusp ∞ (hence singularities of type $\Im(\gamma z)^{k \mp t-1}$ near the cusp $\gamma \infty$). Recall from (59) the functions \mathcal{G}^{\pm} on $\mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{H} \setminus \Delta_{\mathcal{H}}$. Using the trivialization $\{w^+, w^-\}$, the section G is given by the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{G}^+ & 0 \\ 0 & \mathcal{G}^- \end{pmatrix}.$$
The remaining part of this section is dedicated to proving that G defined in Lemma 8.2 is the Green's kernel associated to the bundle \mathcal{W} on C, i.e., that it satisfies the following properties (see Proposition 4.1):

- (i) $G(Q,Q') \log |z(Q) z(Q')|$ is bounded near any point $(Q,Q) \in \Delta_{\bar{C}}$, if z is a local coordinate on \bar{C} near Q;
- (ii) G is harmonic with respect to the Laplacian \Box_D attached to \mathcal{W} in the second variable;
- (iii) As z' approaches the cusp ∞ , the functions $\langle \Im(\gamma z)^{k \mp t 1} G(z, \gamma z')(w^{\pm}(z)), w^{\pm}(\gamma z') \rangle$ are C^{∞} for z' in a neighborhood of ∞ , for all $\gamma \in \Gamma(M)$.

Proposition 8.4. $G(Q,Q') - \log |z(Q) - z(Q')|$ is bounded near any point $(Q,Q) \in \Delta_{\overline{C}}$, if z is a local coordinate on \overline{C} near Q.

Proof. After trivializing the bundle using w^+ and w^- , it suffices to show that

$$\mu^{\pm}(z, z') - \log |z - z'|^2$$

is bounded as $z' \to z$ in \mathcal{H} . This follows from Lemma 2.5 and the fact that $\lim_{z' \to z} (\bar{z} - z') = -2iy$. \Box

Proposition 8.5. The section G is harmonic with respect to the Laplacian associated to W in the second variable.

Proof. Given $(z, z') \in (\mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{H}) \setminus \Delta_{\mathcal{H}}$, we define

$$s(z, z') := 1 + \frac{|z - z'|^2}{2yy'}$$

Then $g(z, z') = -Q_{k,t}(s(z, z'))$ and by (58), for $Q = \Gamma(M)z \neq \Gamma(M)z' = Q'$, we have

(61)
$$G(Q,Q')(w^{\pm}(z)) = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} j(\gamma,z)^{\pm 2t} \mu_g^{\pm}(\gamma z,z') w^{\pm}(z').$$

We write \Box_2 for the Laplacian \Box_D associated to \mathcal{W} in the second variable. Then

$$\Box_2(G(Q,Q')(w^{\pm}(z))) = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} j(\gamma,z)^{\pm 2t} \Box_2(\mu_g^{\pm}(\gamma z,z')w^{\pm}(z')).$$

In order to prove the proposition, it therefore suffices to prove that

$$\Box_2(\mu_g^{\pm}(z, z')w^{\pm}(z')) = 0$$

for any $z \in \mathcal{H}, z \neq z'$.

Define

(62)
$$\Delta := -4(y')^2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z' \partial \bar{z}'}, \quad \Delta_{\pm t} := \Delta \pm 4ity' \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}'} \quad \text{and} \quad \lambda_{\pm t} = -(k \pm t - 1)(k \mp t).$$

By Proposition 7.9, it suffices to prove that

(63)
$$\Delta_{\pm t}(\mu_g^{\pm}(z,z')) = \lambda_{\pm t}\mu_g^{\pm}(z,z').$$

In what follows, we will write s for s(z, z') to ease the notation. The following identities are quickly verified:

(64)
$$\frac{\partial s}{\partial \bar{z}'} = \frac{z'-z}{2yy'} + \frac{s-1}{2iy'} = \frac{s-1}{2iy'} \frac{z'-\bar{z}}{\bar{z}'-\bar{z}}, \qquad \qquad \frac{\partial s}{\partial z'} = \frac{\bar{z}'-\bar{z}}{2yy'} - \frac{s-1}{2iy'} = \frac{s-1}{2iy'} \frac{z-\bar{z}'}{z'-z},$$

(65)
$$4(y')^2 \frac{\partial^2 s}{\partial z' \partial \bar{z}'} = 2s, \qquad 4(y')^2 \left(\frac{\partial s}{\partial \bar{z}'}\right) \left(\frac{\partial s}{\partial z'}\right) = s^2 - 1.$$

We now compute:

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{-t}(\mu_{g}^{-}(z,z')) &= \left(-4(y')^{2} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial z' \partial \bar{z}'} - 4ity' \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}'}\right) \left(-Q_{k,t}(s) \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t}\right) \\ &= \left(4(y')^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial z'} + 4ity'\right) \left(\left(\frac{\partial s}{\partial \bar{z}'}\right) Q_{k,t}'(s) \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t}\right) \\ &= 4(y')^{2} \frac{\partial^{2} s}{\partial z' \partial \bar{z}'} Q_{k,t}'(s) \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t} + \left(\frac{\partial s}{\partial \bar{z}'}\right) \left(4(y')^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial z'} + 4ity'\right) \left(Q_{k,t}'(s) \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t}\right) \\ &= 2sQ_{k,t}'(s) \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t} + 4(y')^{2} \left(\frac{\partial s}{\partial \bar{z}'}\right) \left(\frac{\partial s}{\partial \bar{z}'}\right) Q_{k,t}'(s) \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t} \\ &+ 4(y')^{2} \left(\frac{\partial s}{\partial \bar{z}'}\right) Q_{k,t}'(s) \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}'} \left(\left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t}\right) + 4ity' \left(\frac{\partial s}{\partial \bar{z}'}\right) Q_{k,t}'(s) \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t} \\ &= 2sQ_{k,t}'(s) \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t} + (s^{2}-1)Q_{k,t}'(s) \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t} \\ &+ 4(y')^{2} \left(\frac{\partial s}{\partial \bar{z}'}\right) Q_{k,t}'(s) \left(-\frac{2t}{2iy} \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t-1}\right) + 4ity' \left(\frac{\partial s}{\partial \bar{z}'}\right) Q_{k,t}'(s) \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t} \\ &= 2sQ_{k,t}'(s) \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t} + (s^{2}-1)Q_{k,t}'(s) \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t} \\ &- \frac{2t}{2iy} \cdot 4(y')^{2} \left(\frac{\partial s}{\partial \bar{z}'}\right) Q_{k,t}'(s) \frac{2iy}{\bar{z}-z'} \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t} \\ &= 2sQ_{k,t}'(s) \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t} + (s^{2}-1)Q_{k,t}'(s) \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)$$

Using (64), a quick calculation reveals that

$$2s + 4ity'\left(\frac{\partial s}{\partial \bar{z}'}\right)\left(1 + \frac{2iy'}{\bar{z} - z'}\right) = (2t+2)s - 2t.$$

By plugging this into our previous calculation, we obtain

$$\Delta_{-t}(\mu_g^-(z,z')) = -\left[(1-s^2)Q_{k,t}''(s) + (2t-(2t+2)s)Q_{k,t}'(s)\right] \left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t}.$$

By Corollary 2.3, we have

$$(1-s^2)Q_{k,t}''(s) + (2t - (2t+2)s)Q_{k,t}'(s) = \lambda_{-t}Q_{k,t}(s).$$

We deduce that

$$\Delta_{-t}(\mu_{g}^{-}(z,z')) = -\lambda_{-t}Q_{k,t}(s)\left(\frac{\bar{z}-z'}{2iy}\right)^{2t} = \lambda_{-t}\mu_{g}^{-}(z,z').$$

The equality $\Delta_{+t}(\mu_g^+(z,z')) = \lambda_{+t}\mu_g^+(z,z')$ can be verified similarly and is left to the reader. \Box

In order to prove property (iii) above, it suffices to prove:

Proposition 8.6. As z' approaches the cusp ∞ , the functions

$$\Im(\gamma z')^{k\mp t-1} \langle w^{\pm}(\gamma z'), w^{\pm}(\gamma z') \rangle \mathcal{G}^{\pm}(z, \gamma z')$$

are C^{∞} for z' in a neighborhood of ∞ , for all $\gamma \in \Gamma(M)$.

Proof. We proceed as in $[23, VI \S 6]$. We retain the notations established in (62). As in (63), we have

(66)
$$\Delta_{\pm t}(\mathcal{G}^{\pm}(z,z')) = \lambda_{\pm t}\mathcal{G}^{\pm}(z,z').$$

Begin by observing using (57) that for all $\gamma \in \Gamma(M)$, we have

$$\mathcal{G}^{-}(z,\gamma z') = j(\gamma,z')^{-2t} \mathcal{G}^{-}(z,z').$$

In particular, letting $A_M := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & M \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in \Gamma(M)$, we see that

$$\mathcal{G}^{-}(z, z' + M) = \mathcal{G}^{-}(z, A_M z') = j(A_M, z')^{-2t} \mathcal{G}^{-}(z, z') = \mathcal{G}^{-}(z, z').$$

Thus, when viewed as a function in the single variable z' = x' + iy', \mathcal{G}^- is *M*-periodic and admits a Fourier expansion. More precisely, for $z \in E \subset \mathcal{H}$ with *E* compact and $y' \geq M_E + 1$ with $M_E > 0$ as in [23, Prop. 6.6], we have

$$\mathcal{G}^{-}(z,z') = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} c_n^{-}(z,y') e^{2\pi i \frac{n}{M}x'}.$$

As a function of y', the n^{th} Fourier coefficient

(67)
$$c_n^-(z,y') = \frac{1}{M} \int_0^M \mathcal{G}^-(z,x'+iy') e^{-2\pi i \frac{n}{M}x'} dx'$$

satisfies the differential equation

(68)
$$u''(y') - \frac{2t}{y'}u'(y') - \left[\left(\frac{2\pi n}{M}\right)^2 + \frac{4\pi nt}{y'M} + \frac{(k-t-1)(k+t)}{(y')^2}\right]u(y') = 0.$$

This is readily verified by differentiating (67) under the sign of the integral, using the equality of differential operators

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial (y')^2} - \frac{2t}{y'}\frac{\partial}{\partial y'} = -\frac{1}{(y')^2}\Delta_{-t} - \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial (x')^2} + \frac{2it}{y'}\frac{\partial}{\partial x'}\right)$$

coupled with the equality (66), and by integrating by parts. We identify the ordinary differential equation (68) as being a confluent differential equation. In the notations of [16, 6.2, (13)], (68) corresponds to the case

$$a = 0$$

$$b = -2t$$

$$\alpha = -\left(\frac{2\pi n}{M}\right)^2$$

$$\beta = -\frac{4\pi nt}{M}$$

$$\gamma = \lambda_{-t} = -(k - t - 1)(k + t)$$

For $n \neq 0$, we note that $a^2 \neq 4\alpha$, and thus solutions of (68) are given by [16, 6.2 (14)]

$$(y')^t w\left(-t, k-\frac{1}{2}; \frac{4\pi n}{M}y'\right),$$

where $w(\kappa, \mu; x)$ is any solution of the Whittaker differential equation [16, 6.1 (4)]

(69)
$$z''(x) + \left(-\frac{1}{4} + \frac{\kappa}{x} + \frac{1/4 - \mu^2}{x^2}\right)z(x) = 0$$

Note that when t = 0, (68) reduces to the differential equation

(70)
$$u''(y') - \left[\left(\frac{2\pi n}{M}\right)^2 + \frac{k(k-1)}{(y')^2}\right]u(y') = 0.$$

This is compatible with [23, Prop. 4.10 (ii)], in which solutions are given by modified Bessel functions. Indeed, the Whittaker differential equation (69) collapses in the case $\kappa = -t = 0$ to

$$z''(x) + \left(-\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1/4 - \mu^2}{x^2}\right)z(x) = 0,$$

which can be transformed into a modified Bessel differential equation.

Upon noting that $2\mu + 1 = 2k \in \mathbb{Z}$, two linearly independent solutions of equation (69) are given by the Whittaker functions

$$M_{\kappa,\mu}(x) := e^{-x/2} x^{\mu+1/2} \Phi(\mu - \kappa + 1/2, 2\mu + 1; x),$$

$$W_{\kappa,\mu}(x) := e^{-x/2} x^{\mu+1/2} \Psi(\mu - \kappa + 1/2, 2\mu + 1; x).$$

The functions Φ and Ψ are the confluent hypergeometric functions of the first and second kind, respectively: Φ is Kummer's function defined by

$$\Phi(a,c;x) := \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{(a)_n}{(c_n)} \frac{x^n}{n!}$$

and Ψ is Tricomi's function defined by the integral formula [16, 6.5 (3)].

We deduce that for $n \neq 0$, there exist functions a_n and b_n such that

$$c_n^{-}(z,y') = a_n(z)(y')^t M_{-t,k-1/2}\left(\frac{4\pi n}{M}y'\right) + b_n(z)(y')^t W_{-t,k-1/2}\left(\frac{4\pi n}{M}y'\right).$$

Explicitly, we have

$$M_{-t,k-1/2}\left(\frac{4\pi n}{M}y'\right) = e^{-\frac{2\pi n}{M}y'}\left(\frac{4\pi n}{M}y'\right)^k \Phi\left(k+t,2k;\frac{4\pi n}{M}y'\right),$$
$$W_{-t,k-1/2}\left(\frac{4\pi n}{M}y'\right) = e^{-\frac{2\pi n}{M}y'}\left(\frac{4\pi n}{M}y'\right)^k \Psi\left(k+t,2k;\frac{4\pi n}{M}y'\right).$$

When n = 0, $c_0^-(z, y')$ satisfies the differential equation

(71)
$$u''(y') - \frac{2t}{y'}u'(y') - \frac{(k-t-1)(k+t)}{(y')^2}u(y') = 0.$$

Thus, there exist functions a_0 and b_0 such that

$$c_0^-(z, y') = a_0(z)(y')^{k+t} + b_0(z)(y')^{t-k+1}.$$

By the same arguments as in [23, Prop. 4.12], we see that $a_n(z) = 0$ for all $n \neq 0$ because the confluent hypergeometric function of the first kind Φ becomes exponentially large at $y' = \infty$, as is clear from the integral representation [16, 6.5 (1)]. (Note that the integration condition in [23, Prop. 4.12] holds in our case by (60).) Therefore, as in [23, (6.5)], we see that

$$\mathcal{G}^{-}(z,z') = a_0(z)(y')^{k+t} + b_0(z)(y')^{t-k+1} + \sum_{n \neq 0} b_n(z)(y')^t W_{-t,k-1/2}\left(\frac{4\pi n}{M}y'\right) e^{2\pi i \frac{n}{M}x'}$$

It follows that $(y')^{k-t-1}\mathcal{G}^{-}(z,z')$ is C^{∞} for z' in a neighborhood of the cusp ∞ , and the result follows for $\gamma = I_2$ upon noting that $(y')^{k+t-1} \langle w^{-}(z'), w^{-}(z') \rangle = (y')^{k-t-1}$. The case of the other cusps can be deduced similarly, and is left to the reader. The proof for \mathcal{G}^{+} is obtained by replacing all occurrences of -t in the above proof by +t.

9. Brylinski pairings

We continue to use the notation $C = Y(M)_{\mathbb{C}}$. Having proved that the section $G = G_{k,t,M}$ of Lemma 8.2 is the Green's kernel associated to the vector bundle \mathcal{W} (33) on C, we are now ready to compute archimedean Brylinski pairings (23) between what Brylinski calls "Hodge classes" of \mathcal{W} . These are sums of classes of type (0,0) in the fibers W_z , for $z \in C$.

We will be interested in cycles $Z_1, Z_2 \in CH^{k+t}(X_{\mathbb{C}})_K$ which are homologically trivial and supported in fibers above $z_1, z_2 \in C$. Their local height pairing depends only on the image of these classes in $W_{z_i} \otimes \mathbb{C}$ by (24). We therefore work with \mathbb{C} coefficients, and compute the pairing for the basic sections w^{\pm} .

9.1. Brylinski's pairing on C.

Theorem 9.1. Let $z_1 = x_1 + iy_1 \in \mathcal{H}$ and $z_2 = x_2 + iy_2 \in \mathcal{H}$ with $z_1 \notin \Gamma(M)z_2$. Then the Brylinski pairing is given by

$$\langle w^{-}(z_1), w^{-}(z_2) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \frac{1}{(2iy_1y_2)^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} g(z_1, \gamma z_2) (\bar{z}_1 - \gamma z_2)^{2t} j(\gamma, z_2)^{2t},$$

$$\langle w^+(z_1), w^+(z_2) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \frac{1}{(2i)^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} g(z_1, \gamma z_2) (z_1 - \gamma \overline{z}_2)^{2t} j(\gamma, \overline{z}_2)^{2t},$$

where

$$g(z, z') = -Q_{k,t} \left(1 + \frac{|z - z'|^2}{2yy'} \right)$$

Moreover, we have

$$\langle w^{-}(z_1), w^{+}(z_2) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \langle w^{+}(z_1), w^{-}(z_2) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = 0.$$

Proof. The Green's kernel associated to the bundle \mathcal{W} on C is given by $G = G_{k,t,M}$ of Lemma 8.2. Let $Q_i = \operatorname{pr}(z_i) = \Gamma(M) z_i \in C(\mathbb{C})$ for i = 1, 2. By assumption, we have $Q_1 \neq Q_2$. By definition of Brylinski's pairing (23) in this case, if $w_1 \in \mathcal{W}_{Q_1}$ and $w_2 \in \mathcal{W}_{Q_2}$, then

$$\langle w_1, w_2 \rangle^{\operatorname{Br}} := \langle G(Q_1, Q_2)(w_1), w_2 \rangle_{Q_2},$$

-

where \langle , \rangle_{Q_2} is the Hermitian pairing (associated to the polarization) of \mathcal{W} restricted to the fiber at Q_2 .

We then compute

$$\begin{split} \langle w^{-}(z_{1}), w^{-}(z_{2}) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} &= \langle G(Q_{1}, Q_{2})(w^{-}(z_{1})), w^{-}(z_{2}) \rangle_{Q_{2}} \\ &= \left\langle \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} j(\gamma, z_{2})^{2t} \mu_{g}^{-}(z_{1}, \gamma z_{2}) w^{-}(z_{2}), w^{-}(z_{2}) \right\rangle_{Q_{2}} \\ &= \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} g(z_{1}, \gamma z_{2}) \left(\frac{\bar{z}_{1} - \gamma z_{2}}{2iy_{1}}\right)^{2t} j(\gamma, z_{2})^{2t} \langle w^{-}(z_{2}), w^{-}(z_{2}) \rangle_{Q_{2}} \\ &= \frac{1}{(2iy_{1})^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} g(z_{1}, \gamma z_{2})(\bar{z}_{1} - \gamma z_{2})^{2t} j(\gamma, z_{2})^{2t} \langle w^{-}(z_{2}), w^{-}(z_{2}) \rangle_{z_{2}} \\ &= \frac{1}{(2iy_{1}y_{2})^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} g(z_{1}, \gamma z_{2})(\bar{z}_{1} - \gamma z_{2})^{2t} j(\gamma, z_{2})^{2t}, \end{split}$$

where in the fifth equality we used the formula $\langle w^-(z_2), w^-(z_2) \rangle_{z_2} = y_2^{-2t}$. The calculation for w^+ can be done similarly, using the equality $\langle w^+(z_2), w^+(z_2) \rangle_{z_2} = y_2^{-2t}$. The equalities

$$\langle w^{-}(z_1), w^{+}(z_2) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \langle w^{+}(z_1), w^{-}(z_2) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = 0$$

are deduced in a similar way from the fact that $w_{k-t-1,2t}(z)$ and $w_{k+t-1,0}(z)$ are orthogonal with respect to the Hermitian pairing \langle , \rangle_z .

9.2. Working over $X_0(N)$. So far we have worked with varieties fibered over $\overline{C} = X(M)$, as well as vector bundles over \overline{C} . Ultimately, we wish to compute the heights of generalized Heegner cycles "over $X_0(N)$ ".

Denote by $\pi_{M,N}: X(M) \longrightarrow X_0(N)$ the natural quotient map with Galois group

$$S = S_{M,N} := \pm \Gamma(M) \backslash \Gamma_0(N)$$

Recall from (27) and (28) that we defined generalised Heegner cycles above the Heegner point $P_{\mathfrak{n}} = (A, A[\mathfrak{n}]) \in X_0(N)(H)$ as the sum of the generalized Heegner cycles over the pre-image CM-points $Q \in X(M)(\mathbb{C})$ of $P_{\mathfrak{n}}$ with respect to $\pi_{M,N}$ (similar to what is done in [41, §4.1]).

Given $P = \Gamma_0(N)z \in X_0(N)(\mathbb{C})$, define

(72)
$$w^{\pm}(P) := \sum_{s \in S} s \cdot w^{\pm}(z) \in \sum_{Q \in \pi_{M,N}^{-1}(P)} \mathcal{W}_Q =: \mathcal{W}_P,$$

the action being the one defined in (51).

Remark 9.2. We say a few words about the action of S on elements $w^{\pm}(\Gamma(M)z)$ in fibers of the bundle \mathcal{W} . Let $[\gamma] = s \in S = \pm \Gamma(M) \setminus \Gamma_0(N)$ with $\gamma \in \Gamma_0(N)$. Then $s \cdot \Gamma(M)z := \Gamma(M)\gamma z$. Consider now the variety $\pi: X \longrightarrow \overline{C}$ fibered over \overline{C} . The fiber $\pi^{-1}(\Gamma(M)z) = (\mathbb{C}/\langle 1, z \rangle)^{2k-2} \times A^{2t}$ consists of points $x = (\Gamma(M)z, w_1, \ldots, w_{2k-2}, P_1, \ldots, P_{2t})$ with $w_i \in \mathbb{C}/\langle 1, z \rangle$ and $P_j \in A$. The action of $[\gamma] = s \in S$ is given by

$$s \cdot x := (\Gamma(M)\gamma z, w_1, \dots, w_{2k-2}, P_1, \dots, P_{2t}) \in \pi^{-1}(\Gamma(M)\gamma z)$$

Fixing a point $\Gamma_0(N)z \in X_0(N)(\mathbb{C})$, S acts simply transitively on the fibers $\pi^{-1}(\Gamma(M)z_i)$ with $\Gamma_0(N)z_i = \Gamma_0(N)z$. This action on X gives rise to a correspondence on X, hence an action on Chow groups and cohomology groups. There is also an induced action on the bundle \mathcal{W} , which we

now address. Recall from the beginning of §8.2 that the fibers $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_z$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_{\alpha z}$ are identified via the action (51) of γ on fibers for all $\alpha \in \Gamma(M)$. In other words, we have identifications of fibers

(73)
$$\mathcal{W}_{\Gamma(M)z} = \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_z \stackrel{\alpha}{\simeq} \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_{\alpha z}, \quad \text{for all } \alpha \in \Gamma(M).$$

Now, the action of $[\gamma] = s \in S = \pm \Gamma(M) \setminus \Gamma_0(N)$ on a section w of \mathcal{W} is given by

$$s \cdot w(\Gamma(M)z) = \gamma \cdot w(z).$$

The latter action is via (51) and we must interpret $\gamma \cdot w(z)$ as lying in $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_{\gamma z} \simeq \mathcal{W}_{\Gamma(M)\gamma z} = \mathcal{W}_{s \cdot \Gamma(M)z}$. This is well-defined because if $\alpha \in \Gamma(M)$, then

$$(\alpha\gamma) \cdot w(z) = \alpha \cdot (\gamma \cdot w(z)) \in \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_{\alpha\gamma z}$$

and under the identification (73) the latter element corresponds to $\gamma \cdot w(z) \in \mathcal{W}_{s \cdot \Gamma(M)z}$.

Theorem 9.3. Let $z_1 = x_1 + iy_1 \in \mathcal{H}$ and $z_2 = x_2 + iy_2 \in \mathcal{H}$ with $P_1 := \Gamma_0(N)z_1 \neq \Gamma_0(N)z_2 =: P_2$. Then the Brylinski pairing is given by

$$\langle w^{-}(P_{1}), w^{-}(P_{2}) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \frac{|S|}{(2iy_{1}y_{2})^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N)/\pm 1} g(z_{1}, \gamma z_{2})(\bar{z}_{1} - \gamma z_{2})^{2t} j(\gamma, z_{2})^{2t}, \langle w^{+}(P_{1}), w^{+}(P_{2}) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \frac{|S|}{(2i)^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N)/\pm 1} g(z_{1}, \gamma z_{2})(z_{1} - \gamma \bar{z}_{2})^{2t} j(\gamma, \bar{z}_{2})^{2t},$$

where

$$g(z, z') = -Q_{k,t} \left(1 + \frac{|z - z'|^2}{2yy'} \right).$$

Moreover, we have

$$\langle w^{-}(P_1), w^{+}(P_2) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \langle w^{+}(P_1), w^{-}(P_2) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = 0$$

Proof. By definition of Brylinski's pairing and (72), we have

$$\langle w^{\pm}(P_1), w^{\pm}(P_2) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \left\langle \sum_{s \in S} s \cdot w^{\pm}(z_1), \sum_{s' \in S} s' \cdot w^{\pm}(z_2) \right\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}}$$
$$= \sum_{s \in S} \left\langle s \cdot w^{\pm}(z_1), \sum_{s' \in S} s s^{-1} s' \cdot w^{\pm}(z_2) \right\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}}$$
$$= \sum_{s \in S} \left\langle w^{\pm}(z_1), \sum_{s' \in S} s^{-1} s' \cdot w^{\pm}(z_2) \right\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}}$$
$$= |S| \sum_{s \in S} \left\langle w^{\pm}(z_1), s \cdot w^{\pm}(z_2) \right\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}},$$

where we used the invariance $\langle \sigma \cdot w, \sigma \cdot w' \rangle^{\text{Br}} = \langle w, w' \rangle^{\text{Br}}$ for any automorphism σ of \overline{C} by functoriality. If we choose a lift $\gamma' \in \Gamma_0(N)$ of $s \in S = \pm \Gamma(M) \setminus \Gamma_0(N)$, then $\Gamma(M)sz_2 = \Gamma(M)\gamma'z_2$. Moreover, we have $\Gamma(M)z_1 \neq \Gamma(M)\gamma'z_2$ since otherwise $\Gamma_0(N)z_1 = \Gamma_0(N)\gamma'z_2 = \Gamma_0(N)z_2$, which contradicts our assumptions. We may thus apply Theorem 9.1 and use (52) along with the fact that the Brylinski pairing is Hermitian to obtain

$$\langle w^{-}(P_1), w^{-}(P_2) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = |S| \sum_{\substack{\gamma' \in \pm \Gamma(M) \setminus \Gamma_0(N) \\ \gamma' \in \pm \Gamma(M) \setminus \Gamma_0(N)}} \left\langle w^{-}(z_1), \gamma' \cdot w^{-}(z_2) \right\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}}$$

$$= |S| \sum_{\substack{\gamma' \in \pm \Gamma(M) \setminus \Gamma_0(N) \\ (2iy_1y_2)^{2t}}} \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \Gamma(M) \\ \gamma \in \Gamma(M)}} g(z_1, \gamma \gamma' z_2) (\bar{z}_1 - \gamma \gamma' z_2)^{2t} j(\gamma, \gamma' z_2)^{2t}.$$

By noting that $j(\gamma', z_2)j(\gamma, \gamma'z_2) = j(\gamma\gamma', z_2)$, it follows that

$$\langle w^{-}(P_{1}), w^{-}(P_{2}) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \frac{|S|}{(2iy_{1}y_{2})^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma' \in \pm \Gamma(M) \setminus \Gamma_{0}(N)} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} g(z_{1}, \gamma \gamma' z_{2}) (\bar{z}_{1} - \gamma \gamma' z_{2})^{2t} j(\gamma \gamma', z_{2})^{2t}$$
$$= \frac{|S|}{(2iy_{1}y_{2})^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N)/\pm 1} g(z_{1}, \gamma z_{2}) (\bar{z}_{1} - \gamma z_{2})^{2t} j(\gamma, z_{2})^{2t}.$$

The proof for w^+ is similar.

9.3. Action of Hecke operators. As the vector bundles $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}$ and \mathcal{W} are equipped with a $\mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{R})^+$ action, the Hecke operators T_m act on sections such as w^+ and w^- . Let

$$R_N := \left(\begin{smallmatrix} \mathbb{Z} & \mathbb{Z} \\ N\mathbb{Z} & \mathbb{Z} \end{smallmatrix} \right)$$

and consider, for $m \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$R_N^m := \Gamma_0(N) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & m \end{pmatrix} \Gamma_0(N) = \{ \gamma \in R_N \mid \det(\gamma) = m \} \subset \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Q})^+$$

The double coset \mathbb{R}_N^m naturally carries a left action of $\Gamma_0(N)$ by left multiplication.

Let $z \in \mathcal{H}$ with $P := \Gamma_0(N)z$. Given $m \ge 1$, we set

(74)
$$T_m w^{\pm}(P) := \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_0(N) \setminus R_N^m} \gamma \cdot w^{\pm}(P),$$

where the action is analogous to the one defined in (51), i.e.,

$$\gamma \cdot w^{\pm}(P) := \det(\gamma)^{p \mp t} j(\gamma, z)^{\pm 2t} w^{\pm}(\Gamma_0(N)\gamma z),$$

where a representative of γ in R_N^m has implicitly been chosen.

Proposition 9.4. Let $z_1, z_2 \in \mathcal{H}$ with $P_i = \Gamma_0(N)z_i$, i = 1, 2, and let $m \ge 1$ with (m, N) = 1. Assume that P_1 and $T_m P_2$ are disjoint in $X_0(N)$. Then

$$\langle w^{-}(P_{1}), T_{m}w^{-}(P_{2})\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \frac{|S|m^{p-t}}{(2iy_{1}y_{2})^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma \in R_{N}^{m}/\pm 1} g(z_{1}, \gamma z_{2})(\bar{z}_{1} - \gamma z_{2})^{2t} j(\gamma, z_{2})^{2t},$$

$$\langle w^{+}(P_{1}), T_{m}w^{+}(P_{2})\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \frac{|S|m^{p-t}}{(2i)^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma \in R_{N}^{m}/\pm 1} g(z_{1}, \gamma z_{2})(z_{1} - \gamma \bar{z}_{2})^{2t} j(\gamma, \bar{z}_{2})^{2t}.$$

Proof. We compute

$$\begin{split} \langle w^{-}(P_{1}), T_{m}w^{-}(P_{2}) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} &= \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N) \setminus R_{N}^{m}} m^{p+t} j(\gamma, \bar{z}_{2})^{-2t} \langle w^{-}(\Gamma_{0}(N)z_{1}), w^{-}(\Gamma_{0}(N)\gamma z_{2}) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} \\ &= \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N) \setminus R_{N}^{m}} m^{p+t} j(\gamma, \bar{z}_{2})^{-2t} \frac{|S|}{(2iy_{1}\Im(\gamma z_{2}))^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma' \in \Gamma_{0}(N)/\pm 1} g(z_{1}, \gamma'\gamma z_{2})(\bar{z}_{1} - \gamma'\gamma z_{2})^{2t} j(\gamma', \gamma z_{2})^{2t} \\ &= \frac{|S|m^{p-t}}{(2iy_{1}y_{2})^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma' \in \Gamma_{0}(N)/\pm 1} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N) \setminus R_{N}^{m}} j(\gamma, z_{2})^{2t} g(z_{1}, \gamma'\gamma z_{2})(\bar{z}_{1} - \gamma'\gamma z_{2})^{2t} j(\gamma', \gamma z_{2})^{2t} \\ &= \frac{|S|m^{p-t}}{(2iy_{1}y_{2})^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma' \in \Gamma_{0}(N)/\pm 1} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N) \setminus R_{N}^{m}} g(z_{1}, \gamma'\gamma z_{2})(\bar{z}_{1} - \gamma'\gamma z_{2})^{2t} j(\gamma'\gamma, z_{2})^{2t} \\ &= \frac{|S|m^{p-t}}{(2iy_{1}y_{2})^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma \in R_{N}^{m}/\pm 1} g(z_{1}, \gamma z_{2})(\bar{z}_{1} - \gamma z_{2})^{2t} j(\gamma, z_{2})^{2t}, \end{split}$$

where we used Theorem 9.3 in the second equality and the identity $j(\gamma, z)j(\gamma', \gamma z) = j(\gamma'\gamma, z)$ in the fourth equality. The calculation for w^+ is similar.

9.4. Brylinski's pairing over Heegner points on $X_0(N)$. We now specialize to the case where $P_1 = \Gamma_0(N)\tau_1$ and $P_2 = \Gamma_0(N)\tau_2$ are Heegner points on $X_0(N)$ of conductor 1. In terms of moduli, this means that these points represent isomorphism classes of cyclic *N*-isogenies between elliptic curves with CM by the same order in an imaginary quadratic field (in our case the imaginary quadratic field is *K* and the order is the maximal order \mathcal{O}_K). Concretely, following [22, §2], Heegner points with CM by *K* are indexed by $(\mathcal{A}, \mathfrak{n})$, where \mathfrak{n} is a cyclic *N*-ideal of \mathcal{O}_K (whose existence is guaranteed by the Heegner hypothesis) and $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$. Over \mathbb{C} , the corresponding point is $(\mathbb{C}/\mathfrak{a} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}/\mathfrak{an}^{-1})$ for any $[\mathfrak{a}] = \mathcal{A}$. If W_{AL} denotes the group of Atkin–Lehner involutions of $X_0(N)$, then $\operatorname{Gal}(H/K) \times W_{AL}$ acts simply transitively on the set of all Heegner points of discriminant D, i.e., on all pairs $(\mathcal{A}, \mathfrak{n})$. If $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(H/K)$ corresponds to $\mathcal{B} \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$ under the Artin map of class field theory, then $\sigma(\mathcal{A}, \mathfrak{n}) = (\mathcal{AB}^{-1}, \mathfrak{n})$.

Let $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}/2N\mathbb{Z}$ with $\beta^2 \equiv D \pmod{4N}$ such that $\mathfrak{n} = \langle N, \frac{\beta + \sqrt{D}}{2} \rangle$. Let $\tau = \frac{-B + \sqrt{D}}{2A} \in \mathcal{H}^7$ be the solution to a quadratic equation of the form

$$AX^{2} + BX + C = 0, \quad A > 0, \quad B^{2} - 4AC = D, \quad N \mid A, \quad B \equiv \beta \pmod{2N}$$

and consider

$$\mathfrak{a} = \left\langle A, \frac{B + \sqrt{D}}{2} \right\rangle, \qquad \mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{n}^{-1} = \left\langle \frac{A}{N}, \frac{B + \sqrt{D}}{2} \right\rangle, \qquad N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{a}) = A, \qquad [\mathfrak{a}] = \mathcal{A}.$$

Then the Heegner point associated to $(\mathcal{A}, \mathfrak{n})$ is represented by $-\overline{\tau} = (B + \sqrt{D})/2A \in \mathcal{H}$. Note that

$$\mathfrak{a}^{-1} = \frac{\bar{\mathfrak{a}}}{N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{a})} = \left\langle 1, \frac{-B + \sqrt{D}}{2A} \right\rangle = \langle 1, \tau \rangle,$$

whence the Heegner point associated to $(\mathcal{A}^{-1}, \bar{\mathfrak{n}})$ is represented by $\tau \in \mathcal{H}.^8$

Now, for i = 1, 2, $P_i = \Gamma_0(N)\tau_i$ is a Heegner point, hence $\langle 1, \tau_i \rangle = \mathfrak{a}_i^{-1}$ for some ideal $\mathfrak{a}_i \subset \mathcal{O}_K$. Let $A_i > 0$ and B_i be the corresponding integers as above such that $\tau_i = \frac{-B_i + \sqrt{D}}{2A_i} = \tau_{\mathcal{A}_i,\mathfrak{n}_i}$ and $N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{a}_i) = A_i$.

Proposition 9.5. Let $P_1 = \Gamma_0(N)\tau_1$ and $P_2 = \Gamma_0(N)\tau_2$ be two Heegner points of $X_0(N)$ and suppose that P_1 and $T_m P_2$ are disjoint in $X_0(N)$. With notations as above, we have

$$\left\langle \frac{w^{-}(P_{1})}{\chi(\mathfrak{a}_{1})}, T_{m} \frac{w^{-}(P_{2})}{\chi(\mathfrak{a}_{2})} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \frac{(-1)^{t} |S| 2^{2t} m^{p-t}}{|D|^{2t}} \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{1}\mathfrak{a}_{2}) \sum_{\gamma \in R_{N}^{m}/\pm 1} g(\tau_{1}, \gamma \tau_{2}) \alpha(\gamma, \tau_{1}, \tau_{2})^{2t},$$

$$\left\langle \frac{w^{+}(P_{1})}{y_{1}^{2t} \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{1})}, T_{m} \frac{w^{+}(P_{2})}{y_{2}^{2t} \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{2})} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \frac{(-1)^{t} |S| 2^{2t} m^{p-t}}{|D|^{2t}} \chi(\mathfrak{a}_{1}\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{2}) \sum_{\gamma \in R_{N}^{m}/\pm 1} g(\tau_{1}, \gamma \tau_{2}) \alpha(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_{1}, \bar{\tau}_{2})^{2t},$$

where $\alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2) = c\overline{\tau}_1\tau_2 + d\overline{\tau}_1 - a\tau_2 - b$ for $\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}$.

⁷Beware of the following conflict of notation: A denotes our fixed CM elliptic curve, B a full level M-structure, and C the modular curve Y(M). We trust that this slight abuse of notation will not cause any confusion.

⁸See the Appendix for a discussion of how our conventions for Heegner points differ slightly from the ones in [22].

Proof. Observe that $\chi(\mathfrak{a}_i \bar{\mathfrak{a}}_i) = \chi(N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{a}_i)) = \chi(A_i) = A_i^{2t}$. In particular, $\chi(\mathfrak{a}_i)^{-1} = \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_i)/A_i^{2t}$. Using the fact that the Brylinski pairing is skew-symmetric, we obtain

$$\left\langle \frac{w^{-}(P_1)}{\chi(\mathfrak{a}_1)}, T_m \frac{w^{-}(P_2)}{\chi(\mathfrak{a}_2)} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \frac{\chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_1 \mathfrak{a}_2)}{(A_1 A_2)^{2t}} \left\langle w^{-}(P_1), T_m w^{-}(P_2) \right\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}}.$$

Observe that $y_i = \sqrt{|D|}/2A_i$ and apply Proposition 9.4 to obtain

$$\left\langle \frac{w^{-}(P_1)}{\chi(\mathfrak{a}_1)}, T_m \frac{w^{-}(P_2)}{\chi(\mathfrak{a}_2)} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = \frac{(-1)^t |S| 2^{2t} m^{p-t}}{|D|^{2t}} \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_1 \mathfrak{a}_2) \sum_{\gamma \in R_N^m / \pm 1} g(\tau_1, \gamma \tau_2) (\bar{\tau}_1 - \gamma \tau_2)^{2t} j(\gamma, \tau_2)^{2t}.$$

As $(\bar{\tau}_1 - \gamma \tau_2)j(\gamma, \tau_2) = (\bar{\tau}_1 - \gamma \tau_2)(c\tau_2 + d) = c\bar{\tau}_1\tau_2 + d\bar{\tau}_1 - a\tau_2 - b = \alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)$, the first equality follows. The calculation for w^+ is similar.

10. Cycle classes

The goal of this section is to compute the cycle classes of generalized Heegner cycles viewed as cycles in CM fibers of $X \longrightarrow \overline{C}$. While the cycles are null-homologous in X by Lemma 5.1, this is not necessarily true when viewed as cycles in the fibers.

10.1. Preliminary cycle class calculations. For an elliptic curve E/\mathbb{C} , we will view $\operatorname{End}(E)$ as a subring of \mathbb{C} via $\operatorname{End}(E) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(H^0(E, \Omega_E)) \simeq \mathbb{C}$. In this subsection and the next, we view Eas a complex manifold and work exclusively with de Rham cohomology of complex manifolds.

Proposition 10.1. Suppose $E = \mathbb{C}/\langle 1, z \rangle$ for some $z = x + iy \in \mathcal{H}$ with complex coordinate w. For endomorphisms $\alpha, \beta \in \text{End}(E)$, define $\Gamma_{\alpha,\beta} = (\alpha \times \beta)_*([E]) \in \text{CH}^1(E \times E)$ and

$$X_{\alpha,\beta} := \Gamma_{\alpha,\beta} - \deg(\beta)\Gamma_{0,1} - \deg(\alpha)\Gamma_{1,0} \in \mathrm{CH}^1(E \times E).$$

Then

$$\operatorname{cl}(X_{\alpha,\beta}) = \frac{i}{2y} (\alpha \bar{\beta} d\bar{w}_1 \otimes dw_2 - \bar{\alpha} \beta dw_1 \otimes d\bar{w}_2) \in H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(E) \otimes H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(E)$$

is the orthogonal projection of $cl(\Gamma_{\alpha,\beta})$ to $H^1_{dR}(E) \otimes H^1_{dR}(E)$.

Proof. If $Z \subset E \times E$ is a divisor, then its de Rham cycle class $\omega_Z \in H^2_{dR}(E \times E)$ is characterized by the property

$$\int_{Z} \eta = \int_{E \times E} \eta \wedge \omega_{Z}, \quad \text{for all } \eta \in H^{2}_{\mathrm{dR}}(E \times E)$$

By Künneth, a basis of $H^2_{dR}(E \times E)$ is given by

$$\begin{array}{ll} b_{1\bar{1}} := \mathrm{pr}_1^*(dw \wedge d\bar{w}), & b_{12} := \mathrm{pr}_1^*(dw) \wedge \mathrm{pr}_2^*(dw), \\ b_{1\bar{2}} := \mathrm{pr}_1^*(dw) \wedge \mathrm{pr}_2^*(d\bar{w}), & b_{\bar{1}2} := \mathrm{pr}_1^*(d\bar{w}) \wedge \mathrm{pr}_2^*(dw), \\ b_{\bar{1}\bar{2}} := \mathrm{pr}_1^*(d\bar{w}) \wedge \mathrm{pr}_2^*(d\bar{w}), & b_{2\bar{2}} := \mathrm{pr}_2^*(dw \wedge d\bar{w}). \end{array}$$

Let

$$\eta = \lambda_{1\bar{1}}b_{1\bar{1}} + \lambda_{12}b_{12} + \lambda_{1\bar{2}}b_{1\bar{2}} + \lambda_{\bar{1}2}b_{\bar{1}2} + \lambda_{\bar{1}2}b_{\bar{1}\bar{2}} + \lambda_{2\bar{2}}b_{2\bar{2}} \in H^2_{\mathrm{dR}}(E \times E).$$

Begin by observing that

(75)
$$\operatorname{cl}(0 \times E) = \frac{i}{2y} b_{1\bar{1}}$$
 and $\operatorname{cl}(E \times 0) = \frac{i}{2y} b_{2\bar{2}}$.

Indeed, on one hand we have

$$\int_{0\times E} \eta = \int_{0\times E} \lambda_{2\bar{2}} b_{2\bar{2}} = \lambda_{2\bar{2}} \int_E dw \wedge d\bar{w} = -2iy\lambda_{2\bar{2}},$$

while on the other hand

$$\int_{E \times E} \eta \wedge \frac{i}{2y} b_{1\bar{1}} = \frac{\lambda_{2\bar{2}}i}{2y} \int_{E \times E} b_{1\bar{1}} b_{2\bar{2}} = \frac{\lambda_{2\bar{2}}i}{2y} \left(\int_E dw \wedge d\bar{w} \right)^2 = \frac{-\lambda_{2\bar{2}}i4y^2}{2y} = -2iy\lambda_{2\bar{2}}i4y^2$$

The case of $E \times 0$ is verified similarly.

On the one hand, we have

$$\int_{\Gamma_{\alpha,\beta}} \eta = \int_E \lambda_{1\bar{1}} \alpha^* dw \wedge \alpha^* d\bar{w} + \lambda_{1\bar{2}} \alpha^* dw \wedge \beta^* d\bar{w} + \lambda_{\bar{1}2} \alpha^* d\bar{w} \wedge \beta^* dw + \lambda_{2\bar{2}} \beta^* dw \wedge \beta^* d\bar{w}$$
$$= -2iy(\lambda_{1\bar{1}}\alpha\bar{\alpha} + \lambda_{1\bar{2}}\alpha\bar{\beta} - \lambda_{\bar{1}2}\bar{\alpha}\beta + \lambda_{2\bar{2}}\beta\bar{\beta}).$$

On the other hand, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{E\times E} \eta \wedge \frac{i}{2y} (\beta \bar{\beta} b_{1\bar{1}} + \alpha \bar{\beta} b_{\bar{1}2} - \bar{\alpha} \beta b_{1\bar{2}} + \alpha \bar{\alpha} b_{2\bar{2}}) \\ &= \frac{i}{2y} \int_{E\times E} (\lambda_{2\bar{2}} \beta \bar{\beta} + \lambda_{1\bar{2}} \alpha \bar{\beta} - \lambda_{\bar{1}2} \bar{\alpha} \beta + \lambda_{1\bar{1}} \alpha \bar{\alpha}) b_{1\bar{1}} \wedge b_{2\bar{2}} \\ &= -2iy (\lambda_{2\bar{2}} \beta \bar{\beta} + \lambda_{1\bar{2}} \alpha \bar{\beta} - \lambda_{\bar{1}2} \bar{\alpha} \beta + \lambda_{1\bar{1}} \alpha \bar{\alpha}). \end{split}$$

We conclude that

$$\operatorname{cl}(\Gamma_{\alpha,\beta}) = \frac{i}{2y} (\beta \bar{\beta} b_{1\bar{1}} + \alpha \bar{\beta} b_{\bar{1}2} - \bar{\alpha} \beta b_{1\bar{2}} + \alpha \bar{\alpha} b_{2\bar{2}}).$$

Using the fact that $\alpha \bar{\alpha} = \deg(\alpha)$ and $\beta \bar{\beta} = \deg(\beta)$ combined with (75), we obtain

$$\operatorname{cl}(\Gamma_{\alpha,\beta}) = \operatorname{deg}(\beta)\operatorname{cl}(0\times E) + \operatorname{deg}(\alpha)\operatorname{cl}(E\times 0) + \frac{i}{2y}(\alpha\bar{\beta}b_{\bar{1}2} - \bar{\alpha}\beta b_{1\bar{2}}).$$

10.2. Cycle classes of generalized Heegner cycles. For the rest of the section, we view the varieties C, X, A, etc. as being complex manifolds.

Definition 10.2. Given $\Gamma(M)z \in C(\mathbb{C})$, let

$$\mathrm{cl}_z\colon \mathrm{CH}^{k+t-1}(E_z^{2k-2}\times A^{2t})\longrightarrow \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_z=\mathcal{W}_{\Gamma(M)z}$$

denote the $\epsilon_W \otimes \kappa_{2t}$ -component of the cycle class map on the fiber $E_z^{2k-2} \times A^{2t}$ of $\pi: X \longrightarrow \overline{C}$ above $\Gamma(M)z$. If $P \in X_0(N)(\mathbb{C})$, let

$$\mathrm{cl}_P := \sum_{\Gamma(M)z \in \pi_{M,N}^{-1}(P)} \mathrm{cl}_z \colon \sum_{\Gamma(M)z \in \pi_{M,N}^{-1}(P)} \mathrm{CH}^{k+t-1}(E_z^{2k-2} \times A^{2t}) \longrightarrow \sum_{\Gamma(M)z \in \pi_{M,N}^{-1}(P)} \mathcal{W}_{\Gamma(M)z} =: \mathcal{W}_P.$$

Proposition 10.3. Let \mathfrak{a} an ideal of \mathcal{O}_K and let $\tau_{\mathfrak{a}} = x_{\mathfrak{a}} + iy_{\mathfrak{a}} \in \mathcal{H}$ such that $A^{\mathfrak{a}} = \mathbb{C}/\langle 1, \tau_{\mathfrak{a}} \rangle$. Then

$$\mathrm{cl}_{\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}}(\epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}}) = \frac{(-1)^{p} 2^{p-t} \sqrt{|D|}^{p-t}}{\binom{2p}{p-t}^{1/2}} y_{0}^{t} w^{-}(\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}) \in \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_{\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}}$$

and

$$\mathrm{cl}_{\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}}(\bar{\epsilon}Y^{\mathfrak{a}}) = \frac{(-1)^{p}2^{p-t}\sqrt{|D|}^{p-t}}{\binom{2p}{p-t}^{1/2}} \frac{y_{0}^{t}}{y_{\mathfrak{a}}^{2t}} w^{+}(\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}) \in \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_{\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}}$$

Proof. We recall that

$$Y^{\mathfrak{a}} = (\Gamma_{[\sqrt{D}]})^{p-t} \times (\Gamma_{\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}^{T})^{2t} \subset (A^{\mathfrak{a}} \times A^{\mathfrak{a}})^{p-t} \times (A^{\mathfrak{a}} \times A)^{2t}.$$

Replacing $\Gamma_{[\sqrt{D}]}$ by $X_{1,[\sqrt{D}]}$ in this definition has no effect on $\epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}}$ and $\overline{\epsilon} Y^{\mathfrak{a}}$ (the effect of Scholl's projector ϵ_W is precisely to project the cycle classes (in fibers) to $\operatorname{Sym}^{2p} H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(A^{\mathfrak{a}}) \subset H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(A^{\mathfrak{a}})^{\otimes 2p}$). By Proposition 10.1 applied with $(\alpha, \beta) = (1, [\sqrt{D}])$, we have

$$\operatorname{cl}(X_{1,[\sqrt{D}]}) = -\frac{\sqrt{|D|}}{2y_{\mathfrak{a}}}(dw_1 \otimes d\bar{w}_2 + d\bar{w}_1 \otimes dw_2) \in H^1_{\operatorname{dR}}(A^{\mathfrak{a}}) \otimes H^1_{\operatorname{dR}}(A^{\mathfrak{a}}).$$

Projecting to the symmetric power, it follows that

$$\operatorname{cl}(\epsilon_1 X_{1,\sqrt{D}}) = -\frac{\sqrt{|D|}}{y_{\mathfrak{a}}} dw_1 d\bar{w}_2 \in \operatorname{Sym}^2 H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(A^{\mathfrak{a}}).$$

Observe that $\Gamma_{\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}^{T} = \Gamma_{\phi_{\mathfrak{a},1}} = \{(\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}(x), x) \mid x \in A\} \subset A^{\mathfrak{a}} \times A$. After applying the relevant projectors, only the orthogonal projection of the cycle class to $H^{1}_{dR}(A^{\mathfrak{a}}) \otimes H^{1}_{dR}(A)$ will contribute. We therefore calculate the cycle class of

$$X_{\phi_{\mathfrak{a}},1} := \Gamma_{\phi_{\mathfrak{a}},1} - 0 \times A - \frac{y_0}{y_{\mathfrak{a}}} \cdot A^{\mathfrak{a}} \times 0 \in \mathrm{CH}^1(A^{\mathfrak{a}} \times A)^{9}$$

by the same method as in the proof of Proposition 10.1 to obtain

$$\operatorname{cl}(X_{\phi_{\mathfrak{a}},1}) = \frac{i}{2y_{\mathfrak{a}}} (d\bar{w}_{\mathfrak{a}} \otimes dw - dw_{\mathfrak{a}} \otimes d\bar{w}) \in H^{1}_{\operatorname{dR}}(A^{\mathfrak{a}}) \otimes H^{1}_{\operatorname{dR}}(A),$$

where $w_{\mathfrak{a}}$ is the complex coordinate on $A^{\mathfrak{a}}$ and w is the one on A. The effect of the projector ϵ is to kill $d\bar{w}$. Hence, we obtain

$$\operatorname{cl}(\epsilon X_{\phi_{\mathfrak{a}},1}) = rac{i}{2y_{\mathfrak{a}}} d\bar{w}_{\mathfrak{a}} \otimes dw \quad ext{ and } \quad \operatorname{cl}(\bar{\epsilon} X_{\phi_{\mathfrak{a}},1}) = -rac{i}{2y_{\mathfrak{a}}} dw_{\mathfrak{a}} \otimes d\bar{w}.$$

Recall from Section 6.4 that $dw_{\mathfrak{a}}$ corresponds to $\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}u_1 + u_2$ and dw corresponds to $\tau_0e_1 + e_2$. Putting everything together, we conclude that

$$\operatorname{cl}_{\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}}(\epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}}) = \left(-\frac{\sqrt{|D|}}{y_{\mathfrak{a}}}\right)^{p-t} \left(\frac{i}{2y_{\mathfrak{a}}}\right)^{2t} (\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}u_1 + u_2)^{p-t} (\bar{\tau}_{\mathfrak{a}}u_1 + u_2)^{p+t} \otimes (\tau_0 e_1 + e_0)^{2t}$$

and

$$\operatorname{cl}_{\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}}(\bar{\epsilon}Y^{\mathfrak{a}}) = \left(-\frac{\sqrt{|D|}}{y_{\mathfrak{a}}}\right)^{p-t} \left(-\frac{i}{2y_{\mathfrak{a}}}\right)^{2t} (\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}u_1 + u_2)^{p+t} (\bar{\tau}_{\mathfrak{a}}u_1 + u_2)^{p-t} \otimes (\bar{\tau}_0e_1 + e_0)^{2t}.$$

Now compare with the definitions of w^- and w^+ .

Given an ideal class $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$ represented by an integral ideal \mathfrak{a} of \mathcal{O}_K coprime to M, we recall from (27) and (28) the cycles

$$Z_{\mathcal{A}} := \chi(\mathfrak{a})^{-1} \sum_{\substack{Q \in \pi_{M,N}^{-1}(P_{\mathfrak{n}})}} \epsilon Y_Q^{\mathfrak{a}} \in \mathrm{CH}^{k+t}(X)_{0,K(\chi)},$$
$$\bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}} := \bar{\chi}(\mathfrak{a})^{-1} \sum_{\substack{Q \in \pi_{M,N}^{-1}(P_{\mathfrak{n}})}} \bar{\epsilon} Y_Q^{\mathfrak{a}} \in \mathrm{CH}^{k+t}(X)_{0,K(\chi)}.$$

Recall also the notation $Z = Z_{[\mathcal{O}_K]}$ and $\overline{Z} = \overline{Z}_{[\mathcal{O}_K]}$.

⁹Recall that $y_0 = \frac{\sqrt{|D|}}{2}$ and $y_a = \frac{\sqrt{|D|}}{2A}$, whence $\frac{y_0}{y_a} = A$. We write $\frac{y_0}{y_a}$ to avoid the clash of notations pointed out in Footnote 7.

Consider the Heegner points $P_{\mathfrak{n}} := (A \longrightarrow A/A[\mathfrak{n}])$ and $P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}} := (A^{\mathfrak{a}} \longrightarrow A^{\mathfrak{a}}/A^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{n}])$ in $X_0(N)(H)$. If $[\mathfrak{a}] = \mathcal{A}$, then the generalized Heegner cycles $Z_{\mathcal{A}}$ and $\overline{Z}_{\mathcal{A}}$ respectively lie in the fibers above the latter point with respect to $\pi_{M,N} \circ \pi : X \longrightarrow X(M) \longrightarrow X_0(N)$. Remembering that D is odd, we have $\mathcal{O}_K = \langle 1, \tau_0 \rangle$ with $\tau_0 = \frac{-1 + \sqrt{D}}{2}$. We choose the embedding $\sigma : H \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ and the ideal \mathfrak{n} such that $P_{\mathfrak{n}} = \Gamma_0(N)\tau_0$, i.e., $(A \longrightarrow A/A[\mathfrak{n}])$ is isomorphic to $(\mathbb{C}/\mathcal{O}_K \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}/\mathfrak{n}^{-1})$ and $\mathfrak{n}^{-1} = \langle 1/N, \tau_0 \rangle$. It is the Heegner point associated to $([\mathcal{O}_K], \mathfrak{n})$ and $\mathfrak{n} = \langle N, \frac{1 + \sqrt{D}}{2} \rangle$ corresponds to $\beta = 1 \in \mathbb{Z}/2N\mathbb{Z}$, in the sense of Section 9.4.

By definition, we have $A^{\mathfrak{a}} = A/A[\mathfrak{a}]$. We have $\mathcal{O}_K \subset \mathfrak{a}^{-1}$, $A[\mathfrak{a}] = \mathfrak{a}^{-1}/\mathcal{O}_K$, $A^{\mathfrak{a}} = \mathbb{C}/\mathfrak{a}^{-1}$ and $\phi^{\mathfrak{a}} \colon A \longrightarrow A^{\mathfrak{a}}$ is the natural quotient isogeny $\mathbb{C}/\mathcal{O}_K \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}/\mathfrak{a}^{-1}$. The isogeny $A^{\mathfrak{a}} \longrightarrow A^{\mathfrak{a}}/A^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{n}]$ is isomorphic to $\mathbb{C}/\mathfrak{a}^{-1} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}/\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{n}^{-1}$. Thus, the Heegner point $P^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\mathfrak{n}}$ corresponds via the description of Section 9.4 to $(\mathcal{A}^{-1},\mathfrak{n})$. Thus, $\mathfrak{a}^{-1} = \langle 1, \tau_{\mathfrak{a}} \rangle$ with $\tau_{\mathfrak{a}} := \frac{-B + \sqrt{D}}{2A} \in \mathcal{H}$ a solution to a quadratic equation

 $AX^2+BX+C, \qquad A>0, \qquad B^2-4AC=D, \qquad B\equiv\beta \pmod{2N}, \qquad N\mid A.$

If we write $\tau_{\mathfrak{a}} = x_{\mathfrak{a}} + iy_{\mathfrak{a}}$ and $\tau_0 = x_0 + iy_0$, then

$$y_{\mathfrak{a}} = \frac{\sqrt{|D|}}{2A} = \frac{y_0}{A}$$

Moreover, $N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{a}) = A$ and $P^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\mathfrak{n}} = \Gamma_0(N)\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}$.

Lemma 10.4. We have

$$\operatorname{cl}_{P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}}(Z_{\mathcal{A}}) = \frac{(-1)^{p} 2^{p-2t} \sqrt{|D|}^{p}}{\binom{2p}{p-t}^{1/2}} \frac{w^{-}(P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}})}{\chi(\mathfrak{a})} \in \mathcal{W}_{P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}}$$

and

$$\mathrm{cl}_{P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}}(\bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}}) = \frac{(-1)^{p} 2^{p-2t} \sqrt{|D|}^{p}}{\binom{2p}{p-t}^{1/2}} \frac{w^{+}(P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}})}{y_{\mathfrak{a}}^{2t} \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}})} \in \mathcal{W}_{P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}}.$$

Proof. This follows by applying Proposition 10.3 with $y_0 = \sqrt{|D|}/2$ and using (72).

11. Archimedean local heights

In this section, we compute the archimedean local heights of generalized Heegner cycles using the connection (24) with Brylinski's archimedean pairing.

11.1. The case $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) = 0$. We maintain the notations of Section 10.2.

Theorem 11.1. Let (m, N) = 1, $\mathcal{A}_1 = [\mathfrak{a}_1]$, $\mathcal{A}_2 = [\mathfrak{a}_2] \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$ and assume that $P_{\mathfrak{a}}^{\mathfrak{a}_1}$ and $T_m P_{\mathfrak{a}}^{\mathfrak{a}_2}$ are disjoint in $X_0(N)$. Let v denote the infinite place of H corresponding to the fixed embedding $\sigma: H \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ of Section 10.2. Then

$$\langle Z_{\mathcal{A}_1}, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}_2} \rangle_v = \frac{|S|(4m|D|)^{p-t}}{D^t \binom{2p}{p-t}} \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_1 \mathfrak{a}_2) \sum_{\gamma \in R_N^m/\pm 1} g(\tau_1, \gamma \tau_2) \alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)^{2t},$$

and

$$\langle \bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}_1}, T_m \bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}_2} \rangle_v = \frac{|S|(4m|D|)^{p-t}}{D^t \binom{2p}{p-t}} \chi(\mathfrak{a}_1 \bar{\mathfrak{a}}_2) \sum_{\gamma \in R_N^m/\pm 1} g(\tau_1, \gamma \tau_2) \alpha(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_1, \bar{\tau}_2)^{2t},$$

where $\tau_i := \tau_{\mathfrak{a}_i}$ so that $\mathfrak{a}_i^{-1} = \langle 1, \tau_i \rangle$ and $P_{\mathfrak{a}}^{\mathfrak{a}_i} = \Gamma_0(N)\tau_i$, for i = 1, 2.

Proof. By definition of the Brylinski pairing, and by compatibility of the actions of Hecke correspondences on Chow groups with the action of Hecke operators on cohomology classes (74) (see [33, Prop. 4.1.3]), we have

$$\langle Z_{\mathcal{A}_1}, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}_2} \rangle_v = \langle \operatorname{cl}_{P_n^{\mathfrak{a}_1}}(Z_{\mathcal{A}_1}), T_m \operatorname{cl}_{P_n^{\mathfrak{a}_2}}(Z_{\mathcal{A}_2}) \rangle^{\operatorname{Br}}$$

The result follows by combining Lemma 10.4 and Proposition 9.5.

Let $\langle , \rangle_{\infty}^{\text{BB}} = \sum_{w \mid \infty} \langle , \rangle_w \epsilon_w$ be the sum of the local heights on X over all the infinite places of H. Recall that we previously fixed a particular embedding $\sigma \colon H \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ in Section 10.2 corresponding to a place v. If $Z_1, Z_2 \in \text{CH}^{k+t}(X)_0$ are two cycles for which the height pairing $\langle Z_1, Z_2 \rangle_{\infty}^{\text{BB}}$ is defined (see Section 4), and which lie in distinct fibers of $\pi \colon X \longrightarrow \overline{C}$ over Q_1 and Q_2 respectively, then $\langle Z_1, Z_2 \rangle_w = \langle \text{cl}_{Q_1}(Z_{1,w}), \text{cl}_{Q_2}(Z_{2,w}) \rangle^{\text{Br}}$, where $Z_{j,w}$ is viewed as a cycle on the base-change $X_w = X \times_w \mathbb{C}$.

Theorem 11.2. Let (m, N) = 1, $\mathcal{A} \in Cl_K$ and assume that $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) = 0$. Then

$$\langle Z, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}} = -\frac{|S|(4m|D|)^{p-t}}{D^t \binom{2p}{p-t}} u^2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}}(n) r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m|D|+nN) Q_{k,t} \left(1+\frac{2nN}{m|D|}\right),$$

$$\langle \bar{Z}, T_m \bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}} = -\frac{|S|(4m|D|)^{p-t}}{D^t \binom{2p}{p-t}} u^2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma_{\mathcal{A}}(n) r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m|D|+nN) Q_{k,t} \left(1+\frac{2nN}{m|D|}\right),$$

and

$$\langle Z, T_m \bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}} = 0 = \langle \bar{Z}, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}}.$$

Proof. The set of infinite places of H is in bijection with the class group Cl_K of K. If w is an infinite place corresponding to the ideal class $\mathcal{B} \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$, then

(76)
$$\langle Z_{\mathcal{A}_1}, Z_{\mathcal{A}_2} \rangle_w = \langle Z_{\mathcal{B}\mathcal{A}_1}, Z_{\mathcal{B}\mathcal{A}_2} \rangle_v,$$

for all $\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2 \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$. The proof of (76) is an adaption of [35, Lem. 4.7].

Using (76), we see that

(77)
$$\langle Z, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}} = \sum_{w \mid \infty} \langle Z, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_w = \sum_{\mathcal{B} \in \mathrm{Cl}_K} \langle Z_{\mathcal{B}}, T_m Z_{\mathcal{B}\mathcal{A}} \rangle_v = \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2 \in \mathrm{Cl}_K \\ \mathcal{A}_1^{-1} \mathcal{A}_2 = \mathcal{A}}} \langle Z_{\mathcal{A}_1}, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}_2} \rangle_v.$$

Let $\mathcal{A}_i = [\mathfrak{a}_i]$ with \mathfrak{a}_i an ideal of \mathcal{O}_K , i = 1, 2. The condition $r_{\mathcal{A}_1^{-1}\mathcal{A}_2}(m) = 0$ implies that $P_{\mathfrak{a}}^{\mathfrak{a}_1}$ and $T_m P_{\mathfrak{a}}^{\mathfrak{a}_2}$ are disjoint in $X_0(N)$. We can therefore apply Theorem 11.1 to obtain

$$\langle Z, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}} = \frac{|S|(4m|D|)^{p-t}}{D^t \binom{2p}{p-t}} \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2 \in \mathrm{Cl}_K\\ \mathcal{A}_1^{-1} \mathcal{A}_2 = \mathcal{A}}} \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_1 \mathfrak{a}_2) \sum_{\gamma \in R_N^m / \pm 1} g(\tau_1, \gamma \tau_2) \alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)^{2t}.$$

Recall that for $\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in R_N^m$, we have $\alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2) = c\bar{\tau}_1\tau_2 + d\bar{\tau}_1 - a\tau_2 - b$ with $\tau_i = \tau_{\mathfrak{a}_i}$ such that $\langle 1, \tau_i \rangle = \mathfrak{a}_i^{-1}$. In particular, $\bar{\tau}_1 \in \bar{\mathfrak{a}}_1^{-1}$ and $\alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2) \in (\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_1\mathfrak{a}_2)^{-1}$. Let $\mathfrak{a} = \bar{\mathfrak{a}}_1\mathfrak{a}_2$. This is an integral ideal of \mathcal{O}_K such that $[\mathfrak{a}] = \mathcal{A}$ and we have $\alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2) \in \mathfrak{a}^{-1}$. For any positive integer j, we have

$$r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(j) := \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{a}' \subset \mathcal{O}_K, [\mathfrak{a}'] = \mathcal{A} \\ N(\mathfrak{a}') = j}} \chi(\mathfrak{a}').$$

Every ideal \mathfrak{a}' satisfying $[\mathfrak{a}'] = \mathcal{A}$ can be written as $\mathfrak{a}' = x\mathfrak{a}$ for some $x \in K$. The fact that \mathfrak{a}' is an integral ideal translates into the requirement $x \in \mathfrak{a}^{-1}$. Note that $N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{a}) = A_1A_2$. Thus, we obtain

(78)
$$r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(j) = \frac{1}{\#\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}} \sum_{\substack{x \in \mathfrak{a}^{-1} \\ N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(x) = \frac{j}{A_1 A_2}}} \chi(x\mathfrak{a}) = \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{a})}{\#\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}} \sum_{\substack{x \in \mathfrak{a}^{-1} \\ N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(x) = \frac{j}{A_1 A_2}}} x^{2t}$$

We used the fact that χ is a homomorphism $I_K \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ with the property $\chi((\alpha)) = \alpha^{2t}$ (since χ is assumed to be unramified). In particular, $\chi((x\alpha)) = \alpha^{2t}$ for any unit $x \in \mathcal{O}_K^{\times}$.

Recall that

(79)
$$g(\tau_1, \gamma \tau_2) = -Q_{k,t} \left(1 + \frac{|\tau_1 - \gamma \tau_2|^2}{2y_1 \Im(\gamma \tau_2)} \right)$$

Define $\beta(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2) = \alpha(\gamma, \overline{\tau}_1, \tau_2) = c\tau_1\tau_2 + d\tau_1 - a\tau_2 - b$ and note that

$$\frac{|\tau_1 - \gamma \tau_2|^2}{2y_1 \Im(\gamma \tau_2)} = \frac{2A_1 A_2 |\beta(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)|^2}{|D| \det(\gamma)} = \frac{2A_1 A_2 N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\beta(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2))}{|D| \det(\gamma)}.$$

The elements $\alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)$ and $\beta(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)$ are the same as the ones denoted α and β in [22, II (3.6)] except that the roles of τ_1 and τ_2 are swapped. We have

$$\alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2) \in (\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_1 \mathfrak{a}_2)^{-1} = \mathfrak{a}^{-1}$$
 and $\beta(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2) \in (\mathfrak{a}_1 \mathfrak{a}_2)^{-1}\mathfrak{n}$,

and we set

$$n = \frac{A_1 A_2}{N} N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\beta(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)).$$

This is an integer by the same calculation as in [22, II (3.5)] (the only difference being that the roles of τ_1 and τ_2 are swapped there). Moreover, we have

$$N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\alpha(\gamma,\tau_1,\tau_2)) = \frac{m|D| + nN}{A_1A_2},$$

as in [22, II (3.9)]. With these notations, we have

(80)
$$g(\tau_1, \gamma \tau_2) = -Q_{k,t} \left(1 + \frac{2nN}{m|D|} \right)$$

Define

$$\rho^m_{\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2}(n) := \#\{\gamma \in R_N^m / \pm 1 \mid A_1 A_2 N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\beta(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)) = nN\}.$$

According to [22, II (3.9)], the association $\gamma \mapsto (\alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2), \beta(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2))$ gives a bijection from $\{\gamma \in R_N^m / \pm 1 \mid A_1 A_2 N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\beta(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)) = nN\}$ to the set

$$\begin{split} \Xi_{\mathcal{A}_1,\mathcal{A}_2}(n) &:= \left\{ (\alpha,\beta) \in (\mathfrak{a}^{-1} \times (\mathfrak{a}_1 \mathfrak{a}_2)^{-1} \mathfrak{n}) / \pm 1 \mid N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\alpha) = \frac{m|D| + nN}{A_1 A_2}, \\ N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\beta) &= \frac{nN}{A_1 A_2}, A_1 A_2 \alpha \equiv A_1 A_2 \beta \pmod{\mathfrak{d}} \right\}. \end{split}$$

Putting all this together yields

$$\langle Z, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}} = -\frac{|S|(4m|D|)^{p-t}}{D^t \binom{2p}{p-t}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} Q_{k,t} \left(1 + \frac{2nN}{m|D|}\right) \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2 \in \mathrm{Cl}_K\\\mathcal{A}_1^{-1}\mathcal{A}_2 = \mathcal{A}}} \chi(\mathfrak{a}) \sum_{\substack{(\alpha,\beta) \in \Xi_{\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2}(n)}} \alpha^{2t}.$$

In view of (78) and the proof of [22, II (3.16)], we obtain

$$\sum_{\substack{\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2 \in \mathrm{Cl}_K\\ \mathcal{A}_1^{-1} \mathcal{A}_2 = \mathcal{A}}} \chi(\mathfrak{a}) \sum_{(\alpha, \beta) \in \Xi_{\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2}(n)} \alpha^{2t} = u^2 \delta(n) R_{\{\bar{\mathcal{A}}[\mathfrak{n}]\}}(n) r_{\mathcal{A}, \chi}(m|D| + nN).$$

Here, $R_{\{\bar{\mathcal{A}}[n]\}}(n)$ is the number of integral ideals of norm n in the genus of $\bar{\mathcal{A}}n$, $\delta(n)$ is $2^{\omega((n,D))}$, and $u = |\mathcal{O}_{K}^{\times}|/2$. By [22, IV (4.6)], we have $\sigma_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}}(n) = \delta(n)R_{\{\bar{\mathcal{A}}[n]\}}(n)$. We deduce the final formula

$$\langle Z, T_m Z_\mathcal{A} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}} = -\frac{|S|(4m|D|)^{p-t}}{D^t \binom{2p}{p-t}} u^2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}}(n) r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m|D|+nN) Q_{k,t} \left(1 + \frac{2nN}{m|D|}\right).$$

The calculation for $\langle \bar{Z}, T_m \bar{Z}_A \rangle_{\infty}^{BB}$ can be checked similarly.

11.2. The case $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) \neq 0$. In this section, we prove the following generalization of Theorem 11.2, valid even in the case of improper intersection:

Theorem 11.3. Given $\mathcal{A} = [\mathfrak{a}] \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$ and (m, N) = 1, we have

$$\langle Z, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}} = \frac{|S|(4m|D|)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \left[-u^2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}}(n) r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m|D|+nN) Q_{k,t} \left(1 + \frac{2nN}{m|D|} \right) + hu D^t r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m) \left(\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k+t) + \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k-t) - 2\log(2\pi) + 2\frac{L'}{L}(1,\epsilon_K) + \log(|D|) \right) \right],$$

$$\langle \bar{Z}, T_m \bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}} = \frac{|S|(4m|D|)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \left[-u^2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma_{\mathcal{A}}(n) r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m|D|+nN) Q_{k,t} \left(1 + \frac{2nN}{m|D|} \right) + hu D^t r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m) \left(\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k+t) + \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k-t) - 2\log(2\pi) + 2\frac{L'}{L}(1,\epsilon_K) + \log(|D|) \right) \right],$$

and

$$\langle Z, T_m \bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}} = 0 = \langle \bar{Z}, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}}.$$

We will give a detailed proof of the formula for $\langle Z, T_m Z_A \rangle_{\infty}^{BB}$. The one for $\langle \overline{Z}, T_m \overline{Z}_A \rangle_{\infty}^{BB}$ can be deduced similarly and is left to the reader.

11.2.1. Gross and Zagier's modification. We begin by reviewing the modifications required in [22], where the height pairing is between divisors of degree zero on $X_0(N)$. Let a and b be two divisors of degree zero with common support equal to a point $x \in X_0(N)(\mathbb{C})$. For every point $y \in X_0(N)(\mathbb{C})$ near x but not in the support of b, define a_y to be the divisor obtained from a by replacing every occurrence of x by y. In other words, if $a = \sum_{z \neq x} m_z(z) + m_x(x)$, then $a_y = \sum_{z \neq x} m_z(z) + m_x(y)$. Then the local intersection $\langle a_y, b \rangle_v$ is well-defined and can be used to approximate $\langle a, b \rangle_v$. More precisely, let t_0 be a uniformizing parameter for x on $X_0(N)$, i.e., a function such that $\operatorname{ord}_x(t_0) = 1$. Then Gross defined in [21] the local archimedean height pairing

(81)
$$\langle a, b \rangle_{v} := \lim_{y \to x} (\langle a_{y}, b \rangle_{v} - \operatorname{ord}_{x}(a) \operatorname{ord}_{x}(b) \log |t_{0}(y)|_{v})$$

and showed that, with an appropriate definition of local non-archimedean height pairings, $\sum_{v} \langle a, b \rangle_{v}$ is independent of the choice of t_0 and equal to the global Néron–Tate height pairing $\langle a, b \rangle^{\text{NT}}$ (which is well-defined on linear equivalence classes of divisors even if there is common support since one can use a moving lemma).

If x is a Heegner point, $c = (x) - (\infty)$, d = (x) - (0), (m, N) = 1, and $\sigma = \sigma_{\mathcal{A}} \in \text{Gal}(H/K)$, then ord_x $(T_m d^{\sigma}) = r_{\mathcal{A}}(m)$. Hence, when $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) \neq 0$, the common support of c and $T_m d^{\sigma}$ is non-empty and equal to x. Applying (81) yields

$$\langle c, T_m d^\sigma \rangle_v = \lim_{y \to x} (\langle (y) - (\infty), T_m d^\sigma \rangle_v - r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) \log |t_0(y)|_v).$$

The uniformizing parameter in [22] is chosen as follows: consider the differential

$$\omega = \eta^4(z)\frac{dq}{q} = 2\pi i\eta^4(z)dz$$

where $\eta(z) = q^{1/24} \prod_n (1-q^n)$ is the Dedekind eta function. The differential ω is only well-defined up to sixth roots of unity, but this does not affect the later calculations. Letting $u(x) = |\operatorname{Aut}(x)|/2$, we have

$$\operatorname{ord}_x(\omega) = \frac{1}{u(x)} - 1,$$

and ω may be normalized such that in a neighborhood of x it takes the form

$$\omega = (1 + O(t_0)) t_0^{\frac{1}{u(x)}} \frac{dt_0}{t_0}$$

This normalization ensures that for a complex place v, we have

(82)
$$\lim_{y \to x} (\log |t_0(y)|_v - u(x) \log |2\pi i \eta^4(z)(w-z)|_v) = 0,$$

where $x = \Gamma_0(N)z$ and $y = \Gamma_0(N)w$. Setting $t_1 = t_0^{1/u(x)}$ yields a uniformizing parameter for $\Gamma(M)z$ on X(M).

11.2.2. Archimedean self-intersections of generalized Heegner cycles over X(M). Let $\mathcal{A} = [\mathfrak{a}] \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$ and let v denote our fixed archimedean place. The aim of this section is to compute $\langle Z_{\mathcal{A}}, Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_v$.

Define

$$\mathcal{G}_1(z,z') := \frac{4^{p-2t}|D|^p}{\binom{2p}{p-t}(y')^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_1(N)} j(\gamma,z)^{-2t} \mu_g^-(\gamma z,z'),$$

which makes sense for any $z, z' \in \mathcal{H}$ such that $\Gamma(M)z \neq \Gamma(M)z'$. We then have

$$\mathcal{G}_1(\tau_{\mathfrak{a}_1},\tau_{\mathfrak{a}_2}) = \langle \epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}_1}, \epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}_2} \rangle_v$$

by Theorem 9.1 and Proposition 10.3, whenever $\Gamma(M)\tau_{\mathfrak{a}_1}\neq\Gamma(M)\tau_{\mathfrak{a}_2}$.

Proposition 11.4. We have

$$\left\langle \epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}}, \epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}} \right\rangle_{v} = \lim_{w \to \tau_{\mathfrak{a}}} \left(\mathcal{G}_{1}(\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}, w) + (-1)^{k+t} (\epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}} \cdot \epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}})_{\pi^{-1}(\tau_{\mathfrak{a}})} \log |t_{1}(w)|_{v} \right).$$

Proof. We apply Theorem 4.3 to $X \longrightarrow \overline{C} = X(M)$. Indeed, the set of Heegner points with CM by orders $\mathcal{O} \subset \mathcal{O}_K$ is dense in $X_0(N)$, and the corresponding set of preimages of such points under $\pi_{M,N}: \overline{C} \longrightarrow X_0(N)$ is dense. In the fiber of $\pi: X \longrightarrow \overline{C}$ above each such point there is a generalized Heegner cycle whose cycle class provides the desired cohomology class in Theorem 4.3 corresponding to $cl_{\tau_a}(\epsilon Y^a)$. When $\mathcal{O} = \mathcal{O}_K$, it follows from Lemma 10.4 that these Hodge classes span the fiber of $\mathcal{W}_0 \otimes \mathbb{C}$ above that point. The general case follows via isogeny.

Remark 11.5. The self-intersection of $\epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}}$ in the fiber above $\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}$ is with respect to the intersection form $(,)_{\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}}$ on $H^{2k+2t-2}_{dR}(\pi^{-1}(\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}))$ defined by

$$(\alpha,\beta)_{\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}} = \int_{\pi^{-1}(\tau_{\mathfrak{a}})} \alpha \wedge \beta$$

More precisely, we have

$$(\epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}} \cdot \epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}})_{\pi^{-1}(\tau_{\mathfrak{a}})} = (\mathrm{cl}_{\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}}(\epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}}), \overline{\mathrm{cl}_{\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}}(\epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}})})_{\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}} = (-1)^{k+t-1} \langle \mathrm{cl}_{\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}}(\epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}}), \mathrm{cl}_{\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}}(\epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}}) \rangle_{\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}}.$$

Recalling that p = k - 1, we deduce that

$$(\epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}} \cdot \epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}})_{\pi^{-1}(\tau_{\mathfrak{a}})} = (-1)^{p+t} \frac{4^{p-2t}|D|^{p}}{\binom{2p}{p-t}} \langle w^{-}(\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}), w^{-}(\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}) \rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} = (-1)^{p+t} \frac{4^{p-2t}|D|^{p}}{\binom{2p}{p-t}y_{\mathfrak{a}}^{2t}}$$

by Proposition 10.3. This agrees with the Hodge Index Theorem [37, Thm. 6.33], which implies that the signature of $(,)_{\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}}$ restricted to a primitive class of type (p + t, p + t) is non-trivial of signature $(-1)^{p+t}$. See also Zhang's remark [41, p. 123].

Putting everything together yields the formula

$$\left\langle \epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}}, \epsilon Y^{\mathfrak{a}} \right\rangle_{v} = \frac{4^{k-2t-1} |D|^{k-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1} y_{\mathfrak{a}}^{2t}} \lim_{w \to \tau_{\mathfrak{a}}} \left(\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma(M)} g(\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}, \gamma w) \left(\frac{\bar{\tau}_{\mathfrak{a}} - \gamma w}{2iy_{\mathfrak{a}}} \right)^{2t} j(\gamma, w)^{2t} - \log |t_{1}(w)|_{v} \right).$$

11.2.3. Archimedean self-intersections of generalized Heegner cycles over $X_0(N)$. Let t_0 be a uniformizing parameter for $P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}} = \Gamma_0(N)\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}$ on $X_0(N)$, chosen with the same normalization as in [22]. Let $u_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}} = u(P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}})$.

Proposition 11.6. We have

$$\left\langle Z_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}, Z_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}} \right\rangle_{v} = \frac{|S|2^{2k-4t-2}|D|^{k-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}y_{\mathfrak{a}}^{2t}} \lim_{w \to \tau_{\mathfrak{a}}} \left(\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N)/\pm 1} g(\tau_{\mathfrak{a}}, \gamma w) \left(\frac{\bar{\tau}_{\mathfrak{a}} - \gamma w}{2iy_{\mathfrak{a}}}\right)^{2t} j(\gamma, w)^{2t} - \log|t_{0}(w)|_{v} \right).$$

Proof. Write $Q_i = \Gamma(M)\tau_i$ for the points of X(M) sitting above $P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$. Write $Z_i = \epsilon Y_{Q_i}^{\mathfrak{a}}$. Just as in the proof of Theorem 9.3, we have

$$|S|^{-1} \langle Z_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}, Z_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}} \rangle_{v} = \left\langle \sum_{i} Z_{i}, Z_{1} \right\rangle_{v} = \langle Z_{1}, Z_{1} \rangle_{v} + \sum_{i \neq 1} \langle Z_{i}, Z_{1} \rangle_{v}.$$

Setting $t_1 = t_0^{\frac{1}{u_{\mathfrak{h}}^2}}$ gives a uniformizing parameter for Q_1 on X(M). We then have

$$|S|^{-1} \langle Z_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}, Z_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}} \rangle_{v} = \lim_{w \to \tau_{1}} \left(\mathcal{G}_{1}(\tau_{1}, w) + (-1)^{k+t} (Z_{1} \cdot Z_{1})_{\pi^{-1}(\tau_{1})} u_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}} \log |t_{1}(w)|_{v} \right) + \sum_{i \neq 1} \mathcal{G}_{1}(\tau_{i}, \tau_{1})$$
$$= \lim_{w \to \tau_{1}} \left(\sum_{i} \mathcal{G}_{1}(\tau_{i}, w) + (-1)^{k+t} (Z_{1} \cdot Z_{1})_{\pi^{-1}(\tau_{1})} \log |t_{0}(w)|_{v} \right).$$

The formula then follows as in the proof of Theorem 9.3.

11.2.4. Archimedean local heights of generalized Heegner cycles. Given (m, N) = 1 and $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$ we ultimately wish to compute $\langle Z, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}$ and $\langle \overline{Z}, T_m \overline{Z}_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}$ in the case $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) \neq 0$. Let v be our fixed archimedean place as chosen above. Let $\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2 \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$ such that $\mathcal{A}_1^{-1}\mathcal{A}_2 = \mathcal{A}$ and let $P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}_i} = \Gamma_0(N)\tau_{\mathfrak{a}_i}$. For the sake of notation, we write $\tau_i = \tau_{\mathfrak{a}_i}$.

The following elementary observation will be useful in proving the next theorem.

Lemma 11.7. Let
$$\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in R_N$$
 with $det(\gamma) = m$. Assume that $\gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1$. Then

$$|j(\gamma,\tau_2)|^2 = my_2y_1^{-1} = m\frac{A_1}{A_2} \qquad and \qquad |\alpha(\gamma,\tau_1,\tau_2)|^2 = 4my_1y_2 = \frac{m|D|}{A_1A_2}.$$

Proof. Since $\gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1$, we have in particular $\Im(\gamma \tau_2) = \Im(\tau_1)$, i.e.,

$$\frac{my_2}{|c\tau_2 + d|^2} = y_1.$$

The first equality follows since $j(\gamma, \tau_2) = c\tau_2 + d$. The second equality follows from the first after noticing that

$$\alpha(\gamma,\tau_1,\tau_2) = (\bar{\tau}_1 - \gamma\tau_2)j(\gamma,\tau_2) = -2iy_1j(\gamma,\tau_2),$$

since $\gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1$.

The following result generalizes Theorem 11.1.

Theorem 11.8. Given $A_1, A_2 \in Cl_K$, we have

$$\langle Z_{\mathcal{A}_{1}}, T_{m} Z_{\mathcal{A}_{2}} \rangle_{v} = \frac{|S|(4m|D|)^{k-t-1}}{D^{t} \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{1}\mathfrak{a}_{2}) \left[\sum_{\substack{\gamma \in R_{N}^{m}/\pm 1\\\gamma\tau_{2} \neq \tau_{1}}} g(\tau_{1}, \gamma\tau_{2}) \alpha(\gamma, \tau_{1}, \tau_{2})^{2t} \right] + \lim_{w \to \tau_{1}} \left(\left(\sum_{\substack{\gamma \in R_{N}^{m}/\pm 1\\\gamma\tau_{2} = \tau_{1}}} \alpha(\gamma, \tau_{1}, \tau_{2})^{2t} \right) g(\tau_{1}, w) - \left(\sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N) \setminus R_{N}^{m}\\\gamma\tau_{2} = \tau_{1}}} \alpha(\gamma, \tau_{1}, \tau_{2})^{2t} \right) \log |t_{0}(w)|_{v} \right) \right].$$

Proof. We set p = k - 1. We compute

$$\begin{split} \langle Z_{\mathcal{A}_{1}}, T_{m} Z_{\mathcal{A}_{2}} \rangle_{v} &= \left\langle \mathrm{cl}_{P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}_{1}}}(Z_{\mathcal{A}_{1}}), \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N) \setminus R_{N}^{m}} \gamma \cdot \mathrm{cl}_{P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}_{2}}}(Z_{\mathcal{A}_{2}}) \right\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} \\ &= \frac{4^{p-2t} |D|^{p}}{\binom{2p}{p-t} \chi(\mathfrak{a}_{1}) \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{2})} \left\langle w^{-}(P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}_{1}}), \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N) \setminus R_{N}^{m}} \gamma \cdot w^{-}(P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}_{2}}) \right\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} \\ &= \frac{4^{p-2t} |D|^{p}}{\binom{2p}{p-t} \chi(\mathfrak{a}_{1}) \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{2})} \left\langle w^{-}(P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}_{1}}), \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N) \setminus R_{N}^{m}} m^{p+t} j(\gamma, \tau_{2})^{-2t} w^{-}(\gamma P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}_{2}}) \right\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} \\ &= \frac{|S|4^{p-2t} |D|^{p}}{\binom{2p}{p-t} \chi(\mathfrak{a}_{1}) \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{2})} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N) \setminus R_{N}^{m}} m^{p+t} j(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_{2})^{-2t} \left\langle w^{-}(\tau_{1}), w^{-}(\gamma \tau_{2}) \right\rangle^{\mathrm{Br}} \\ &= \frac{|S|4^{p-2t} |D|^{p}}{\binom{2p}{p-t} \chi(\mathfrak{a}_{1}) \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{2})} \frac{m^{p-t}}{(2iy_{1}y_{2})^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma' \in \Gamma_{0}(N) / \pm 1} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N) \setminus R_{N}^{m}} g(\tau_{1}, \gamma' \gamma \tau_{2}) \alpha(\gamma' \gamma, \tau_{1}, \tau_{2})^{2t} \\ &+ \frac{1}{\chi(\mathfrak{a}_{1}) \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{2})} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N) \setminus R_{N}^{m}} m^{p+t} j(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_{2})^{-2t} \left\langle Z_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}_{1}}, Z_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}_{1}} \right\rangle_{v}. \end{split}$$

Using Proposition 11.6, we then obtain

$$\begin{split} \langle Z_{\mathcal{A}_{1}}, T_{m} Z_{\mathcal{A}_{2}} \rangle_{v} \\ &= \frac{|S| 4^{p-2t} |D|^{p}}{\binom{2p}{p-t} \chi(\mathfrak{a}_{1}) \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{2})} \left[\frac{m^{p-t}}{(2iy_{1}y_{2})^{2t}} \sum_{\gamma' \in \Gamma_{0}(N)/\pm 1} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N) \setminus R_{N}^{m}} g(\tau_{1}, \gamma' \gamma \tau_{2}) \alpha(\gamma' \gamma, \tau_{1}, \tau_{2})^{2t} \right. \\ &+ \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N) \setminus R_{N}^{m}} m^{p+t} j(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_{2})^{-2t} \lim_{w \to \tau_{1}} \left(\sum_{\gamma' \in \Gamma_{0}(N)/\pm 1} g(\tau_{1}, \gamma' w) \left(\frac{\alpha(\gamma', \tau_{1}, w)}{2iy_{1} \Im(w)} \right)^{2t} \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{1}{y_{1}^{2t}} \log |t_{0}(w)|_{v} \right) \right]. \end{split}$$

Next, we consider the term

(83)
$$\sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \Gamma_0(N) \setminus \mathbb{R}_N^m \\ \gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1}} m^{p+t} j(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_2)^{-2t} \lim_{w \to \tau_1} \sum_{\gamma' \in \Gamma_0(N)/\pm 1} g(\tau_1, \gamma'w) \left(\frac{\alpha(\gamma', \tau_1, w)}{2iy_1 \Im(w)}\right)^{2t}.$$

We begin by replacing the limit to τ_1 with a limit to τ_2 by replacing w by γw , yielding

$$\sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \Gamma_0(N) \setminus R_N^m \\ \gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1}} m^{p+t} j(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_2)^{-2t} \lim_{w \to \tau_2} \sum_{\gamma' \in \Gamma_0(N)/\pm 1} g(\tau_1, \gamma' \gamma w) \left(\frac{\alpha(\gamma', \tau_1, \gamma w)}{2iy_1 \Im(\gamma w)}\right)^{2t}.$$

By Lemma 11.7, we see that $j(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_2)^{-1} = j(\gamma, \tau_2)m^{-1}y_1y_2^{-1}$, and we obtain

$$\sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \Gamma_0(N) \setminus R_N^m \\ \gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1}} \frac{m^{p-t} y_1^{2t}}{y_2^{2t}} j(\gamma, \tau_2)^{2t} \lim_{w \to \tau_2} \sum_{\gamma' \in \Gamma_0(N)/\pm 1} g(\tau_1, \gamma' \gamma w) \left(\frac{\alpha(\gamma', \tau_1, \gamma w)}{2iy_1 \Im(\gamma w)}\right)^{2t}.$$

This is in turn equal to

$$\frac{m^{p-t}}{(2iy_1y_2)^{2t}} \lim_{w \to \tau_2} \sum_{\substack{\gamma' \in \Gamma_0(N) / \pm 1}} \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \Gamma_0(N) \setminus R_N^m \\ \gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1}} g(\tau_1, \gamma' \gamma w) \alpha(\gamma', \tau_1, \gamma w)^{2t} j(\gamma, \tau_2)^{2t}.$$

Next, observe that

$$\lim_{w \to \tau_2} \alpha(\gamma', \tau_1, \gamma w) j(\gamma, \tau_2) = \alpha(\gamma', \tau_1, \gamma \tau_2) j(\gamma, \tau_2) = (\bar{\tau}_1 - \gamma' \gamma \tau_2) j(\gamma', \gamma \tau_2) j(\gamma, \tau_2)$$
$$= (\bar{\tau}_1 - \gamma' \gamma \tau_2) j(\gamma' \gamma, \tau_2) = \alpha(\gamma' \gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2).$$

We deduce that the desired limit (83) is equal to

$$\frac{m^{p-t}}{(2iy_1y_2)^{2t}} \left(\sum_{\substack{\gamma \in R_N^m \neq 1 \\ \gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1}} \alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)^{2t} \right) \lim_{w \to \tau_1} g(\tau_1, w) \\
+ \frac{m^{p-t}}{(2iy_1y_2)^{2t}} \sum_{\substack{\gamma' \in \Gamma_0(N) \neq 1 \\ \gamma' \tau_1 \neq \tau_1}} \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \Gamma_0(N) \setminus R_N^m \\ \gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1}} g(\tau_1, \gamma' \gamma \tau_2) \alpha(\gamma' \gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)^{2t}.$$

It remains to prove the equality

(84)
$$\lim_{w \to \tau_2} \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \Gamma_0(N) \setminus R_N^m \\ \gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1}} \frac{m^{p+t}}{(y_1 j(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_2))^{2t}} \log |t_0(\gamma w)|_v$$
$$= \frac{m^{p-t}}{(2iy_1 y_2)^{2t}} \left(\sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \Gamma_0(N) \setminus R_N^m \\ \gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1}} \alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)^{2t} \right) \lim_{w \to \tau_1} \log |t(w)|_v.$$

We use the equality

$$\alpha(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_1, \bar{\tau}_2) = (\tau_1 - \gamma \bar{\tau}_2)j(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_2) = 2iy_1j(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_2)$$

in order to substitute $(y_1 j(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_2))^{-2t} = (2i)^{2t} \alpha(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_1, \bar{\tau}_2)^{-2t}$. Using Lemma 11.7, we make the substitution

$$\alpha(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_1, \bar{\tau}_2)^{-1} = \alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2) |\alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)|^{-2} = \frac{\alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)}{4my_1y_2}.$$

We obtain,

$$(y_1 j(\gamma, \bar{\tau}_2))^{-2t} = \frac{(2i)^{2t} \alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)^{2t}}{(4my_1 y_2)^{2t}} = \frac{\alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)^{2t}}{(2imy_1 y_2)^{2t}}.$$

Equation (84) easily follows.

Theorem 11.9. Given $\mathcal{A} = [\mathfrak{a}] \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$ and (m, N) = 1, and letting p = k - 1, we have

$$\langle Z, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}} = \frac{|S|(4m|D|)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \left[-u^2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}}(n) r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m|D|+nN) Q_{k,t} \left(1 + \frac{2nN}{m|D|} \right) \right. \\ \left. + u D^t r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m) \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2 \in \mathrm{Cl}_K\\\mathcal{A}^{-1}\mathcal{A}_2 = \mathcal{A}}} \lim_{w \to \tau_1} \left(g(\tau_1, w) - \log |2\pi i \eta^4(\tau_1)(w - \tau_1)|_v \right) \right],$$

Proof. We set p = k - 1. We proceed as in the proof of Theorem (11.2): letting $\beta(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2) = \alpha(\gamma, \overline{\tau}_1, \tau_2) = (\tau_1 - \gamma \tau_2) j(\gamma, \tau_2)$, we set

$$n := \frac{A_1 A_2}{N} N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\beta(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)),$$

which is a non-negative integer. We remark that n = 0 if and only if $\gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1$. In particular, when $\gamma \tau_2 \neq \tau_1$, we have n > 0 and the exact same proof as for Theorem 11.2 shows that

$$\sum_{\substack{\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2 \in \operatorname{Cl}_K\\\mathcal{A}_1^{-1}\mathcal{A}_2 = \mathcal{A}}} \frac{|S|(4m|D|)^{p-t}}{D^t \binom{2p}{p-t}} \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_1 \mathfrak{a}_2) \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in R_N^m / \pm 1\\\gamma \tau_2 \neq \tau_1}} g(\tau_1, \gamma \tau_2) \alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2)^{2t}$$
$$= -\frac{|S|(4m|D|)^{p-t}}{D^t \binom{2p}{p-t}} u^2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}}(n) r_{\mathcal{A}, \chi}(m|D| + nN) Q_{k, t} \left(1 + \frac{2nN}{m|D|}\right)$$

Next, we claim that

$$\chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_1\mathfrak{a}_2)\sum_{\substack{\gamma\in R_N^m/\pm 1\\\gamma\tau_2=\tau_1}}\alpha(\gamma,\tau_1,\tau_2)^{2t}=D^t ur_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m).$$

Indeed, when $\gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1$ we have the simple expression

$$\alpha(\gamma, \tau_1, \tau_2) = -2iy_1(c\tau_2 + d) = -\frac{\sqrt{D}}{A_1}j(\gamma, \tau_2).$$

Therefore, we have

$$\chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_1\mathfrak{a}_2)\sum_{\substack{\gamma\in R_N^m/\pm 1\\\gamma\tau_2=\tau_1}}\alpha(\gamma,\tau_1,\tau_2)^{2t}=D^t\chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_1\mathfrak{a}_2)\sum_{\substack{\gamma\in R_N^m/\pm 1\\\gamma\tau_2=\tau_1}}(A_1^{-1}j(\gamma,\tau_2))^{2t}.$$

Let $\mathfrak{a} = \overline{\mathfrak{a}}_1 \mathfrak{a}_2$. We claim that the assignment $\gamma \mapsto \eta(\gamma) := A_1^{-1} j(\gamma, \tau_2)$ gives a bijection between

$$S_1 := \{ \gamma \in R_N^m / \pm 1 \mid \gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1 \}$$

and

$$S_2 := \{\eta \in \mathfrak{a}^{-1}/\pm 1 \mid N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\eta) = m/N(\mathfrak{a})\}$$

Recall that $\mathfrak{a}_i = \langle A_i, (B_i + \sqrt{D})/2 \rangle = A_i \langle 1, \overline{\tau}_i \rangle$ and $\mathfrak{a}_i^{-1} = \langle 1, \tau_i \rangle$. Because $\gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1$, we then have $\mathfrak{n}(\gamma) = A^{-1}\mathfrak{i}(\gamma, \tau_2) = A^{-1}\mathfrak{r}^{-1}(\gamma, \tau_2 + b) \subset A^{-1}\mathfrak{r} \mathfrak{r}^{-1} = (A_i \mathfrak{r}^{-1}\mathfrak{r}^{-1}\mathfrak{r}^{-1} - (A_i \mathfrak{r}^{-1}\mathfrak{r}^{-1}\mathfrak{r}^{-1}) = A^{-1}\mathfrak{r}^{-1}$

$$\eta(\gamma) = A_1^{-1} j(\gamma, \tau_2) = A_1^{-1} \tau_1^{-1} (a \tau_2 + b) \in A_1^{-1} \mathfrak{a}_1 \mathfrak{a}_2^{-1} = (A_1 \mathfrak{a}_1^{-1} \mathfrak{a}_2)^{-1} = (\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_1 \mathfrak{a}_2)^{-1} = \mathfrak{a}^{-1}.$$

Using Lemma 11.7, we see that

$$N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\eta(\gamma)) = A_1^{-2} |j(\gamma, \tau_2)|^2 = A_1^{-2} m \frac{A_1}{A_2} = \frac{m}{A_1 A_2} = \frac{m}{N(\mathfrak{a})}$$

We conclude that $\eta(\gamma) \in S_2$ for all $\gamma \in S_1$. Suppose that $\gamma, \gamma' \in S_1$ satisfy $\eta(\gamma) = \eta(\gamma')$. Then $j(\gamma, \tau_2) = j(\gamma', \tau_2)$. In particular, $(c - c')\tau_2 = d' - d$, which implies that $(c - c')y_2 = 0$, hence c = c' and thus d = d'. We conclude that the assignment $\gamma \mapsto \eta(\gamma)$ is injective. There are $ur_{\mathcal{A}}(m)$ elements $\gamma \in R_N^m / \pm 1$ satisfying $\gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1$ [22, p. 251]. Since

$$\#S_2 = \frac{1}{2} \# \left\{ \eta \in \mathfrak{a}^{-1} \mid N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\eta) = \frac{m}{N(\mathfrak{a})} \right\} = \frac{\#\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}}{2} r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) = ur_{\mathcal{A}}(m),$$

we deduce that S_1 and S_2 are indeed in bijection.

We deduce that

$$\chi(\mathfrak{a})\sum_{\substack{\gamma\in R_N^m/\pm 1\\\gamma\tau_2=\tau_1}}\alpha(\gamma,\tau_1,\tau_2)^{2t}=D^t\frac{\chi(\mathfrak{a})}{2}\sum_{\substack{\eta\in\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\\N(\eta)=m/N(\mathfrak{a})}}\eta^{2t}=D^tur_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m),$$

where we used (78).

To finish the proof, we must argue that

$$\chi(\mathfrak{a})\sum_{\substack{\gamma\in\Gamma_0(N)\backslash R_N^m\\\gamma\tau_2=\tau_1}}\alpha(\gamma,\tau_1,\tau_2)^{2t}=D^t r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m).$$

Suppose that $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}_N^m$ satisfies $\gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1$ and that there exists $\gamma' \in \Gamma_0(N)/\pm 1$ such that $\gamma' \gamma \tau_2 = \tau_1$. Then $\gamma' \tau_1 = \tau_1$ and

$$\alpha(\gamma'\gamma,\tau_1,\tau_2) = -2iy_1j(\gamma'\gamma,\tau_2) = \alpha(\gamma'\gamma,\tau_1,\tau_2) = -2iy_1j(\gamma,\tau_2)j(\gamma',\tau_1) = \alpha(\gamma,\tau_1,\tau_2)j(\gamma',\tau_1).$$

We have

$$D^{t}ur_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m) = \chi(\mathfrak{a}) \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in R_{N}^{m}/\pm 1\\\gamma\tau_{2}=\tau_{1}}} \alpha(\gamma,\tau_{1},\tau_{2})^{2t} = \chi(\mathfrak{a}) \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \Gamma_{0}(N) \setminus R_{N}^{m}\\\gamma\tau_{2}=\tau_{1}}} \alpha(\gamma,\tau_{1},\tau_{2})^{2t} \sum_{\substack{\gamma' \in \Gamma_{0}(N)/\pm 1\\\gamma'\tau_{1}=\tau_{1}}} j(\gamma',\tau_{1})^{2t}.$$

The problem thus reduces to showing that

(85)
$$\sum_{\substack{\gamma'\in\Gamma_0(N)/\pm 1\\\gamma'\tau_1=\tau_1}} j(\gamma',\tau_1)^{2t} = u.$$

We have

$$\sum_{\substack{\gamma' \in \Gamma_0(N)/\pm 1\\\gamma'\tau_1 = \tau_1}} j(\gamma', \tau_1)^{2t} = \sum_{\substack{\gamma' \in \Gamma_0(N)/\pm 1\\\gamma'\tau_1 = \tau_1}} \chi((j(\gamma', \tau_1)))$$

If u = 1, then only $\gamma' = 1$ appears and $j(\gamma', \tau_1) = 1$ so that (85) is satisfied trivially. Assume now that u > 1. The condition $\gamma'\tau_1 = \tau_1$ implies that $N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(j(\gamma', \tau_1)) = 1$. If $j(\gamma', \tau_1) \in \mathcal{O}_K$, then $j(\gamma', \tau_1) \in \mathcal{O}_K^{\times}$ so $\chi((j(\gamma', \tau_1))) = 1$ and we are done because the sum has size u. Note that

$$j(\gamma', \tau_1) = \tau_1^{-1}(a\tau_1 + b).$$

We have $a\tau_1 + b \in \mathfrak{a}_1^{-1}$, so if $\tau_1^{-1} \in \mathfrak{a}_1$, then $j(\gamma', \tau_1) \in \mathcal{O}_K$. Thus, it suffices to check that $\tau_1^{-1} \in \mathfrak{a}_1$. If u = 2, then $K = \mathbb{Q}(i)$ and $\Gamma_0(N)\tau_1 \in X_0(N)$ is a lift of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})i \in X_0(1)$. We may thus assume that $\tau_1 = i$. If u = 3, then $K = \mathbb{Q}(\rho)$ where $\rho = e^{2\pi i/3}$ and we may assume $\tau_1 = \rho$. In either case, we have $|\tau_1|^2 = 1$ and $A_1 = 1$, hence $\tau_1^{-1} = \overline{\tau}_1 \in \mathfrak{a}_1 = A_1\langle 1, \overline{\tau}_1 \rangle$. This concludes the proof.

The logarithmic term is dealt with by using (82).

We deal with the limit that appears in Theorem 11.9:

Proposition 11.10. We have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2 \in \operatorname{Cl}_K\\\mathcal{A}^{-1}\mathcal{A}_2 = \mathcal{A}}} \lim_{w \to \tau_1} (g(\tau_1, w) - \log |2\pi i \eta^4(\tau_1)(w - \tau_1)|_v) \\ &= h\left(\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k+t) + \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k-t) - 2\log(2\pi) + 2\frac{L'}{L}(1, \epsilon_K) + \log(|D|)\right). \end{split}$$

Proof. The proof is the same as the proof of [22, II (5.8)], except that we use Lemma 2.5.

Combining Proposition 11.10 with Theorem 11.9 completes the proof of Theorem 11.3.

12. Non-Archimedean local heights

In this section we compute the non-archimedean contribution to the height pairing of generalized Heegner cycles. More precisely, we derive a formula for

$$\langle Z, T_m \bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\text{fin}}^{\text{BB}} := \sum_{v \nmid \infty} \langle Z, T_m \bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_v \epsilon_v.$$

The analogous formula for $\langle \bar{Z}, T_m Z_A \rangle_{\text{fin}}^{\text{BB}}$ can be deduced by noting, as in [34, bottom p. 75], that

(86)
$$\langle \bar{Z}, T_m Z_A \rangle_{\text{fin}}^{\text{BB}} = \langle Z, T_m \bar{Z}_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}} \rangle_{\text{fin}}^{\text{BB}}.$$

12.1. The case $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) = 0$. Let v be a non-archimedean place above a prime q. Let $m \geq 1$ and assume that $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) = 0$. Let $L = H_v$ denote the completion at v and let Λ be the ring of integers of the maximal unramified extension L^{ur} of L, with residue field $\mathbb{F} = \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$. Let $\underline{X}_0(N) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$ be the Katz-Mazur integral model [26] and denote by $\underline{X}_0(N)_{\Lambda} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Spec}(\Lambda)$ the pull-back with special fiber $\underline{X}_0(N)_{\mathbb{F}} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{F}) = s$ and generic fiber $X_0(N)_{L^{\mathrm{ur}}} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Spec}(L^{\mathrm{ur}}) = \eta$. Let ι denote the inclusion $Y_0(N) \times_{\mathbb{Q}} F^{\mathrm{ur}} \hookrightarrow \underline{X}_0(N)_{\Lambda}$.

Choose a prime p that splits in K and that is distinct from q. Consider the following smooth \mathbb{Q}_p -sheaf on Y(M):

$$\mathcal{W}_p := \operatorname{Sym}^{2k-2}(R^1 \pi_{\mathcal{E},*} \mathbb{Q}_p)(k-1) \otimes \kappa_{2t} H^{2t}(\bar{A}^{2t}, \mathbb{Q}_p(t)),$$

where $\pi_{\mathcal{E}} \colon \mathcal{E} \longrightarrow Y(M)$ is the universal elliptic curve. The cycle $\epsilon Y_Q^{\mathfrak{a}} \in \operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(X_F)_{0,K}$ is supported in the fiber of $\pi_X \colon X \longrightarrow \overline{C} = X(M)$ over $Q^{\mathfrak{a}} \in Y(M)(F)$, which is identified with $(A_F^{\mathfrak{a}})^{2k-2} \times_F A_F^{2t}$. Its image under the *p*-adic cycle class map on $\pi_X^{-1}(Q^{\mathfrak{a}})$ is denoted

$$b(Y_Q^{\mathfrak{a}}) \in \epsilon H_{\text{et}}^{2k+2t-2} \left(\pi_X^{-1}(Q^{\mathfrak{a}})_{\bar{F}}, \mathbb{Q}_p(k+t-1) \right) \simeq H^0(\overline{Q^{\mathfrak{a}}}, \mathcal{W}_p),$$

and in fact lies in $H^0(\overline{Q^{\mathfrak{a}}}, \mathcal{W}_p)^{G_F}$. This is the Tate vector associated with the cycle $\epsilon Y_Q^{\mathfrak{a}}$. Taking the *p*-adic cycle class map with respect to $\pi_X^{-1}(Q^{\mathfrak{a}})$ of the cycle $\overline{\epsilon}Y_Q^{\mathfrak{a}}$ yields a Tate vector that we denote by $\overline{b}(Y_Q^{\mathfrak{a}})$. These Tate vectors completely determine the *p*-adic Abel–Jacobi images of the respective cycles with respect to the variety X. Recall the quotient map $\pi = \pi_{M,N} \colon Y(M) \longrightarrow Y_0(N) = Y(M)/S$ and let $\mathcal{W}_p^0 := (\pi_*\mathcal{W}_p)^S$, a \mathbb{Q}_p -sheaf on $Y_0(N)$. Then $a(Y^{\mathfrak{a}}) = \sum_{Q \in \pi^{-1}(P_{\mathfrak{n}})} \overline{b}(Y_Q^{\mathfrak{a}})$ and $\overline{a}(Y^{\mathfrak{a}}) = \sum_{Q \in \pi^{-1}(P_{\mathfrak{n}})} \overline{b}(Y_Q^{\mathfrak{a}})$ are Tate vectors with respect to the sheaf \mathcal{W}_p^0 defined over H.

Following [35], suppose c and d are Tate vectors with respect to the sheaf \mathcal{W}_p^0 supported at points $y_c \neq y_d$ of $Y_0(N)(L^{\mathrm{ur}})$ of good reduction. Let \underline{y}_c and \underline{y}_d be the Zariski closures of the points y_c and y_d in $X_0(N)_{\Lambda}$, and let \underline{c} and \underline{d} be extensions of c and d to $H^0(\underline{y}_c, \iota_*\mathcal{W}_p^0)$ and $H^0(\underline{y}_d, \iota_*\mathcal{W}_p^0)$ respectively. If \underline{y}_c and \underline{y}_d have common special fiber $z \in \underline{X}_0(N)_{\mathbb{F}}$ corresponding to an elliptic curve E/\mathbb{F} , then define

$$(c,d)_v := (\underline{y}_c \cdot \underline{y}_d)_z \cdot (\underline{c}_z, \underline{d}_z),$$

where $(\underline{y}_c \cdot \underline{y}_d)_z$ is the usual intersection number at z on the arithmetic surface $\underline{X}_0(N)_{\Lambda}$ and $(\underline{c}_z, \underline{d}_z)$ is the intersection pairing on the p-adic étale cohomology of $E^{2k-2} \times A_{\mathbb{F}}^{2t}$.

The assumption $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) = 0$ guarantees that the Tate vectors a(Y) and $T_m a(Y^{\mathfrak{a}})$ have disjoint supports. Moreover, we may assume that they are supported at points of good reduction (because CM elliptic curves have potential good reduction). The number $(a(Y), T_m a(Y^{\mathfrak{a}}))_v$ is thus defined. The cycle $Z_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ sits above the Heegner point $P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}} = \Gamma_0(N)\tau_{\mathfrak{a}} \in Y_0(N)(H)$. Letting $\underline{P}_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ denote the Zariski closure of $P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ in $\underline{X}_0(N)_{\Lambda}$, the cycle $Z_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ admits an extension $\mathbf{Z}_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ sitting in the fiber of $\underline{P}_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$. The intersection cycle $\mathbf{Z}_{\mathfrak{n}} \cdot T_m \mathbf{Z}_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ has a flat presentation over the common support $|\underline{P}_{\mathfrak{n}}| \cap |T_m \underline{P}_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}|$ by [41, Lem. 3.3.2] and the fact that the cycles have presentations by abelian subvarieties. Thus, following [41, (3.3.1)], we obtain

$$\mathbf{Z}_{\mathfrak{n}} \cdot T_m \mathbf{Z}_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}} = (-1)^{k+t} (a(Y), T_m \bar{a}(Y^{\mathfrak{a}}))_v.$$

We conclude that

(87)
$$\langle Z_{\mathfrak{n}}, T_m \bar{Z}_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}} \rangle_v \epsilon_v = (a(Y), T_m \bar{a}(Y^{\mathfrak{a}}))_v \log N(v)$$

Remark 12.1. Under the assumption $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) = 0$, the local Brylinski pairing at v of the vectors a(Y) and $T_m \bar{a}(Y^{\mathfrak{a}})$ is defined and, according to [10, Appendix], we have

$$\langle Z_{\mathfrak{n}}, T_m Z_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}} \rangle_v \epsilon_v = \langle a(Y), T_m \overline{a}(Y^{\mathfrak{a}}) \rangle_v^{\mathrm{Br}},$$

where the local height on the left hand side is the one of Gillet–Soulé. Brylinski moreover gives an explicit description of his local pairing under the assumption that $H^2(\underline{Y}_0(N)_{\mathbb{F}}, \mathcal{W}_p^0(1)) = 0$, namely

$$\langle a(Y), T_m \bar{a}(Y^{\mathfrak{a}}) \rangle_v^{\mathrm{Br}} = (a(Y), T_m \bar{a}(Y^{\mathfrak{a}}))_v \log N(v)$$

The proof that $H^2(\underline{Y}_0(N)_{\mathbb{F}}, \mathcal{W}_p^0(1)) = 0$ can be found in [35, Proof of Prop. 5.1].

We have seen that the calculation of $\langle Z_n, T_m \overline{Z}_n^{\mathfrak{a}} \rangle_v \epsilon_v$ boils down to calculating $(a(Y), T_m \overline{a}(Y^{\mathfrak{a}}))_v$. The latter has been calculated already in [35]:

Proposition 12.2. Let $m \ge 1$ such that (m, N) = 1 and $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) = 0$. Then

$$\begin{split} (a(Y), T_m \bar{a}(Y^{\mathfrak{a}}))_v \\ &= \frac{|S|}{2} m^{k-t-1} \sum_{n \ge 1} \sum_{g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda/\pi^n}(\underline{P}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\mathfrak{n}}, \underline{P}_{\mathfrak{n}})_m} \left(\bar{\epsilon} \left(X_{g\sqrt{D}g^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1} \otimes X_{\overline{g\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}}^{\otimes 2t} \right), \epsilon \left(X_{\sqrt{D}}^{\otimes k-t-1} \otimes X_1^{\otimes 2t} \right) \right). \end{split}$$

Proof. This is [35, Prop. 5.2], except for the factor of |S| due to our normalizations. For future use, we summarize the proof. In order to do this, we switch to the notations used in [35] and [31].

We let x = a(Y) and $\bar{x}^{\mathfrak{a}} = \bar{a}(Y^{\mathfrak{a}})$. These Tate vectors sit above the points $y = P_{\mathfrak{a}}$ and $y^{\sigma} = P_{\mathfrak{a}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ in $X_0(N)$, where $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(H/K)$ corresponds to $[\mathfrak{a}] \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$. We denote by $\underline{x}, \underline{x}^{\mathfrak{a}}, \underline{y}, \underline{y}^{\sigma}$ the extensions over Λ , and by $\underline{x}_s, (\underline{x}^{\mathfrak{a}})_s, y_s, (y^{\sigma})_s$ the corresponding special fibers.

Let q be the prime below v and write $m = m_0 q^s$ with $(m_0, q) = 1$. Following [22, III §5], we have

$$T_{m_0}\underline{y}^{\sigma} = \sum_{g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}^{\sigma}, \underline{y}_g^{\sigma})_{m_0}} \underline{y}_g^{\sigma},$$

and

$$T_{q^s}\underline{y}_g^{\sigma} = \sum_j \underline{y}_g^{\sigma}(j).$$

The latter sum is indexed by certain integers between 0 and s, and the $\underline{y}_{g}^{\sigma}(j)$ are divisors over Λ comprised of quasi-canonical liftings of level p^{j} of their reductions (the notations are borrowed from [22, III (5.2)]).

By definition of the Hecke operators, we have

$$T_m \underline{\overline{x}}^{\mathfrak{a}} = \sum_{g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}^{\sigma}, \underline{y}_{g}^{\sigma})_{m_{0}}} \sum_{j} m^{k-t-1} \underline{\overline{x}}_{g}^{\mathfrak{a}}(j),$$

where $\underline{x}^{\mathfrak{a}}(j)$ is a Tate vector sitting above $\underline{y}^{\mathfrak{a}}(j)$. In the case where \underline{y} and $\underline{y}_{g}^{\sigma}(j)$ intersect, the special fiber of $\underline{x}^{\mathfrak{a}}(j)$ is represented by [35, p. 1150]

(88)
$$(\underline{\overline{x}}^{\mathfrak{a}}(j))_{s} = (\underline{y}_{s}, \overline{\epsilon}(X_{hg\sqrt{D}g^{-1}h^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1} \otimes X_{\overline{hg\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}}^{\otimes 2t})),$$

for any $h \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda/\pi^n}(\underline{y}_q^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_{q^s}$ with $n \ge 1$. Note that this special fiber does not depend on j.

We deduce that

$$\begin{split} |S|^{-1}(\underline{x},T_m\underline{\overline{x}}^{\mathfrak{a}})_v &= \sum_{g\in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}^{\sigma},\underline{y}_{g}^{\sigma})_{m_0}} \sum_{j} m^{k-t-1}(\underline{x},\overline{\underline{x}}_{g}^{\mathfrak{a}}(j)) \\ &= m^{k-t-1} \sum_{g\in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}^{\sigma},\underline{y}_{g}^{\sigma})_{m_0}} \sum_{j} (\underline{y} \cdot \underline{y}_{g}^{\sigma}(j)) (\bar{\epsilon}(X_{hg\sqrt{D}g^{-1}h^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1} \otimes X_{hg\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}^{\otimes 2t}), \epsilon(X_{\sqrt{D}}^{k-t-1} \otimes X_{1}^{\otimes 2t})) \\ &= m^{k-t-1} \sum_{g\in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}^{\sigma},\underline{y}_{g}^{\sigma})_{m_0}} (\underline{y} \cdot T_{q^s}\underline{y}_{g}^{\sigma}) (\bar{\epsilon}(X_{hg\sqrt{D}g^{-1}h^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1} \otimes X_{\overline{h}g\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}^{\otimes 2t}), \epsilon(X_{\sqrt{D}}^{k-t-1} \otimes X_{1}^{\otimes 2t})). \end{split}$$

By [22, III (4.4)], we have

$$(\underline{y} \cdot T_{q^s} \underline{y}_g^{\sigma}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n \ge 1} \sum_{h' \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda/\pi^n}(\underline{y}_g^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_{q^s}} 1.$$

Injecting this into the above expression, we obtain

$$\begin{split} &(\underline{x}, T_m \overline{\underline{x}}^{\mathfrak{a}})_v \\ &= \frac{|S|m^{k-t-1}}{2} \sum_{g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}^{\sigma}, \underline{y}_g^{\sigma})_{m_0}} \sum_{n \ge 1} \sum_{h \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda/\pi^n}(\underline{y}_g^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_{q^s}} (\bar{\epsilon}(X_{hg\sqrt{D}g^{-1}h^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1} \otimes X_{hg\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}^{\otimes 2t}), \epsilon(X_{\sqrt{D}}^{k-t-1} \otimes X_1^{\otimes 2t})) \\ &= \frac{|S|m^{k-t-1}}{2} \sum_{n \ge 1} \sum_{g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda/\pi^n}(\underline{y}^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_m} (\bar{\epsilon}(X_{g\sqrt{D}g^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1} \otimes X_{g\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}^{\otimes 2t}), \epsilon(X_{\sqrt{D}}^{k-t-1} \otimes X_1^{\otimes 2t})), \end{split}$$

where the first equality holds because (88) is true for any h.

The right hand side of the formula of Proposition 12.2 is 0 when the prime q splits in K by [22, III (7.1)] (which shows that the double sum is empty). When q is non-split, $\operatorname{End}_{\Lambda/\pi}(\underline{P}_n) = R$ is an order in the quaternion algebra B ramified at ∞ and q. In this case, the double sum above can be made more explicit. The reduction of endomorphisms induces an embedding $K \hookrightarrow B$, which yields a decomposition

$$B = B_+ \oplus B_- = K \oplus Kj,$$

where j is an element in the non-trivial coset of $N_{B^{\times}}(K^{\times})/K^{\times}$. The reduced norm on B is additive with respect to this decomposition. Every $b \in B$ will be written as $b = \alpha + b_{-} = \alpha + \beta j$, and we then have $N(b) = N(\alpha) + N(b_{-}) = N(\alpha) + N(\beta j)$.

Proposition 12.3. Let $m \ge 1$ such that (m, N) = 1 and $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) = 0$. Then

$$(a(Y), T_m\bar{a}(Y^{\mathfrak{a}}))_v = |S|m^{k-t-1}\frac{(4D)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{\substack{b=\alpha+b_-\in R\mathfrak{a}/\pm 1\\N(b)=mN(\mathfrak{a})}} \bar{\alpha}^{2t}U(b_-)P_{k,t}\left(1-\frac{2N(b_-)}{N(b)}\right),$$

where

$$U(b_{-}) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } q \text{ splits in } K \\ \frac{1}{2}(1 + \operatorname{ord}_q(N(b_{-}))) & \text{if } q \text{ is inert in } K \\ \operatorname{ord}_q(|D|N(b_{-})) & \text{if } q \text{ is ramified in } K \end{cases}$$

and $P_{k,t}(x)$ is the Jacobi polynomial introduced in (11).

Proof. By the previous discussion, we may assume that q is non-split in K. According to [22, III (7.3)], we then have

 $\operatorname{End}_{W/\pi^n}(\underline{P}_{\mathfrak{n}}) = \{ b = \alpha + b_- \in R \colon |D|N(b_-) \equiv 0 \mod q(N(\mathfrak{q}))^{n-1} \},\$

$$\square$$

and the association $g \mapsto g\phi_{\mathfrak{a}} = b = \alpha + b_{-}$ yields an identification between $\operatorname{Hom}_{W/\pi^{n}}(\underline{P}_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}, \underline{P}_{\mathfrak{n}})$ and $\operatorname{End}_{W/\pi^{n}}(\underline{P}_{\mathfrak{n}}) \cdot \mathfrak{a}$ in B such that $\operatorname{deg}(g) = N(b)/N(\mathfrak{a})$. Under this identification, we have [35, Prop. 5.3]¹⁰

$$\left(\bar{\epsilon}\left(X_{g\sqrt{D}g^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1}\otimes X_{\overline{g\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}}^{\otimes 2t}\right), \epsilon\left(X_{\sqrt{D}}^{\otimes k-t-1}\otimes X_{1}^{\otimes 2t}\right)\right) = \frac{(4D)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}}\bar{\alpha}^{2t}P_{k,t}\left(1-\frac{2N(b_{-})}{N(b)}\right)$$

Combining this with Proposition 12.2 yields

$$(a(Y), T_m \bar{a}(Y^{\mathfrak{a}}))_v = \frac{|S|}{2} m^{k-t-1} \frac{(4D)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{n \ge 1} \sum_{\substack{n \ge 1 \\ N(b) = mN(\mathfrak{a}) \\ |D|N(b_-) \equiv 0 \mod q(N(\mathfrak{q}))^{n-1}}} \bar{\alpha}^{2t} P_{k,t} \left(1 - \frac{2N(b_-)}{N(b)} \right).$$

The result follows after interchanging the order of summation in the double sum and noting that

$$\#\{n \ge 1 \colon |D|N(b_{-}) \equiv 0 \mod q(N(\mathfrak{q})^{n-1})\} = U(b_{-}).$$

Let $\langle , \rangle_{\text{fin}}^{\text{BB}} = \sum_{v \nmid \infty} \langle , \rangle_v \epsilon_v$ be the sum of the local heights on X over all the finite places of H.

Proposition 12.4. Assume that (m, N) = 1 and $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) = 0$. Then

$$\langle Z, T_m \bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\text{fin}}^{\text{BB}} = -u^2 \frac{|S|(4|D|m)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{0 < n < \frac{m|D|}{N}} \sigma_{\mathcal{A}}(n) r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m|D|-nN) P_{k,t} \left(1 - \frac{2nN}{m|D|}\right).$$

Proof. The only difference between the formula of Proposition 12.3 and the one of [31, II Prop. 4.15] is the fact that the sum is weighted by $\bar{\alpha}^{2t}$. The factor responsible for the appearance of $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m|D| - nN)$ in [31] is thus replaced by

$$\sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{c} \subset \mathcal{O}_K \\ [\mathfrak{c}] = \mathcal{A}^{-1} \\ N(\mathfrak{c}) = m|D| - nN}} \bar{\alpha}^{2t}$$

where $\mathfrak{c} = (\alpha)\mathfrak{d}\mathfrak{a}^{-1}$ and $\alpha \in \mathfrak{d}^{-1}\mathfrak{a}$. But this expression is equal to

$$\sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{c} \subset \mathcal{O}_{K} \\ [\mathfrak{c}] = \mathcal{A}^{-1} \\ N(\mathfrak{c}) = m|D| - nN}} \bar{\chi}(\mathfrak{cad}^{-1}) = \frac{\chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}})}{D^{t}} r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\bar{\chi}}(m|D| - nN) = \frac{\chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}})}{D^{t}} r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m|D| - nN).$$

12.2. The case $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) \neq 0$. Given points \underline{x}_1 and \underline{x}_2 of $\underline{X}_0(N)$, reduction of homomorphisms induces injections

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda/\pi^{n+1}}(\underline{x}_1,\underline{x}_2) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda/\pi^n}(\underline{x}_1,\underline{x}_2), \qquad n \ge 1$$

and we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{L^{\operatorname{ur}}}(x_1, x_2) = \operatorname{Hom}_{W}(\underline{x}_1, \underline{x}_2) = \bigcap_{n \ge 1} \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda/\pi^n}(\underline{x}_1, \underline{x}_2).$$

We define

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda/\pi^n}^{\operatorname{new}}(\underline{x}_1,\underline{x}_2) := \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda/\pi^n}(\underline{x}_1,\underline{x}_2) \setminus \operatorname{Hom}_W(\underline{x}_1,\underline{x}_2).$$

¹⁰The function $H_{k-t-1,t}(x)$ in [35] is equal to the function $P_{k,t}(x)$ defined in (11).

The integer $2ur_{\mathcal{A}}(m)$ is the multiplicity with which $P_{\mathfrak{n}}$ occurs in $T_m P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$, i.e.,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{P}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\mathfrak{n}},\underline{P}_{\mathfrak{n}})_{m}|=2ur_{\mathcal{A}}(m).$$

Theorem 12.5. Assume that (m, N) = 1. Then

$$\langle Z, T_m \bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\text{fin}}^{\text{BB}} = -u^2 \frac{|S|(4|D|m)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{0 < n < \frac{m|D|}{N}} \sigma_{\mathcal{A}}(n) r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m|D|-nN) P_{k,t} \left(1 - \frac{2nN}{m|D|}\right)$$
$$+ \frac{|S|(4|D|m)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} hur_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m) \log \frac{N}{m}.$$

Proof. We use the same notations as in the proof of Proposition 12.2. As in the proof of Proposition 12.2, we have

$$(\underline{x}, T_m \underline{\overline{x}}^{\mathfrak{a}})_v = |S| m^{k-t-1} \sum_{g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}^{\sigma}, \underline{y}_g^{\sigma})_{m_0}} (\underline{y} \cdot T_{q^s} \underline{y}_g^{\sigma}) (\bar{\epsilon} (X_{hg\sqrt{D}g^{-1}h^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1} \otimes X_{\overline{hg\phi}\mathfrak{a}}^{\otimes 2t}), \epsilon (X_{\sqrt{D}}^{k-t-1} \otimes X_1^{\otimes 2t})),$$

where h is an arbitrary element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda/\pi^n}(\underline{y}_g^{\sigma},\underline{y})_{q^s}$ for some $n \geq 1$. Note that this element h can be the reduction of an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}_g^{\sigma},\underline{y})_{q^s}$ in the present case since $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) \neq 0$.

We begin by assuming that v sits over a prime q that is non-split in K. In particular, q does not divide N. By [22, III (8.5)], we have

$$(\underline{y} \cdot T_{q^s} \underline{y}_g^{\sigma}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n \ge 1} \sum_{h' \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda/\pi^n}^{\operatorname{new}} (\underline{y}_g^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_{q^s}} 1 + \frac{v_q}{2} \sum_{h' \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda} (\underline{y}_g^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_{q^s}} 1,$$

with $v_q = s$ or s/2 depending on whether q is ramified or inert in K. Injecting this into the above expression, we obtain

$$(\underline{x}, T_m \underline{\overline{x}}^{\mathfrak{a}})_v = \frac{|S|m^{k-t-1}}{2} \sum_{n \ge 1} \sum_{g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda/\pi^n}(\underline{y}^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_m} (\overline{\epsilon}(X_{g\sqrt{D}g^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1} \otimes X_{\overline{g\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}}^{\otimes 2t}), \epsilon(X_{\sqrt{D}}^{k-t-1} \otimes X_1^{\otimes 2t})) + v_q \frac{|S|m^{k-t-1}}{2} \sum_{g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_m} (\overline{\epsilon}(X_{g\sqrt{D}g^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1} \otimes X_{\overline{g\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}}^{\otimes 2t}), \epsilon(X_{\sqrt{D}}^{k-t-1} \otimes X_1^{\otimes 2t})),$$

where the equality holds because (88) is true for arbitrary h.

The quaternionic expression of Proposition 12.3 continues to hold for the first term if we impose the additional constraint that $b_{-} \neq 0$ (always satisfied when $r_{\mathcal{A}}(m) = 0$):

$$\frac{|S|m^{k-t-1}}{2} \sum_{n \ge 1} \sum_{g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda/\pi^n}^{\operatorname{new}}(\underline{y}^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_m} (\bar{\epsilon}(X_{g\sqrt{D}g^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1} \otimes X_{g\phi_a}^{\otimes 2t}), \epsilon(X_{\sqrt{D}}^{k-t-1} \otimes X_1^{\otimes 2t})) \\ = |S|m^{k-t-1} \frac{(4D)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{\substack{b=\alpha+b_- \in R\mathfrak{a}/\pm 1\\ N(b)=mN(\mathfrak{a})\\b=\neq 0}} \bar{\alpha}^{2t} U(b_-) P_{k,t} \left(1 - \frac{2N(b_-)}{N(b)}\right).$$

It remains to handle the second term above, namely

$$v_q \frac{|S|m^{k-t-1}}{2} \sum_{g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_m} (\bar{\epsilon}(X_{g\sqrt{D}g^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1} \otimes X_{\overline{g\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}}^{\otimes 2t}), \epsilon(X_{\sqrt{D}}^{k-t-1} \otimes X_1^{\otimes 2t})).$$

The result [35, Prop. 5.3] continues to hold in this case with $b_{-} = 0$ since $g\phi_{\mathfrak{a}} = b = \alpha + b_{-} \in$ End_A $(y) = \mathcal{O}_{K}$. Hence, we obtain

$$(\bar{\epsilon}(X_{g\sqrt{D}g^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1}\otimes X_{\overline{g\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}}^{\otimes 2t}), \epsilon(X_{\sqrt{D}}^{k-t-1}\otimes X_{1}^{\otimes 2t})) = \frac{(4D)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}}\bar{\alpha}^{2t}P_{k,t}(1).$$

But $P_{k,t}(1) = 1$, and we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} v_q \frac{|S|m^{k-t-1}}{2} \sum_{g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_m} (\bar{\epsilon}(X_{g\sqrt{D}g^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1} \otimes X_{\overline{g\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}}^{\otimes 2t}), \epsilon(X_{\sqrt{D}}^{k-t-1} \otimes X_1^{\otimes 2t})) \\ &= v_q \frac{|S|(4mD)^{k-t-1}}{2\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{\substack{g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_m \\ g\phi_{\mathfrak{a}} = \alpha \in \operatorname{End}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y})}} \bar{\alpha}^{2t}. \end{aligned}$$

Recall that $y = P_{\mathfrak{n}}$ is represented by $A = \mathbb{C}/\mathcal{O}_K$, $y^{\sigma} = P_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ is represented by $A^{\mathfrak{a}} = \mathbb{C}/\mathfrak{a}^{-1}$, and with these identifications the isogeny $\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}$ is the quotient isogeny $\mathbb{C}/\mathcal{O}_K \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}/\mathfrak{a}^{-1}$. In particular, $g\phi_{\mathfrak{a}} \in \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{C}/\mathcal{O}_K)$ is given by multiplication by some $\alpha \in \mathcal{O}_K$ that must satisfy $\alpha a \in \mathcal{O}_K$ for all $a \in \mathfrak{a}^{-1}$. In other words, we must have $\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}$. The norm of α is deg(g) deg $(\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}) = mN(\mathfrak{a})$. We have shown that the assignment $g \mapsto g\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}$ gives a map

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_m \longrightarrow \{ \alpha \in \mathfrak{a} \colon N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\alpha) = mN(\mathfrak{a}) \}.$$

This map is injective and $\operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_m$ has size $2ur_{\mathcal{A}}(m)$. On the other hand, the integral ideal $\alpha \mathfrak{a}^{-1} \in \mathcal{A}^{-1}$ has norm m and thus the right hand set has size $|\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}|r_{\mathcal{A}^{-1}}(m) = 2ur_{\mathcal{A}}(m)$. We deduce that the map is a bijection. We thus obtain

$$\begin{split} v_q \frac{|S|m^{k-t-1}}{2} \sum_{g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_{m}} (\bar{\epsilon}(X_{g\sqrt{D}g^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1} \otimes X_{g\phi_{a}}^{\otimes 2t}), \epsilon(X_{\sqrt{D}}^{k-t-1} \otimes X_{1}^{\otimes 2t})) \\ &= v_q \frac{|S|(4mD)^{k-t-1}}{2\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathfrak{a} \\ N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\alpha) = mN(\mathfrak{a})}} \bar{\alpha}^{2t} \\ &= v_q \frac{|S|(4mD)^{k-t-1}}{2\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathfrak{a} \\ N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\alpha) = mN(\mathfrak{a})}} \bar{\chi}(\alpha) \\ &= v_q \frac{|S|(4mD)^{k-t-1}}{2\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \bar{\chi}(\mathfrak{a}^{-1})^{-1} \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathfrak{a} \\ N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\alpha) = mN(\mathfrak{a})}} \bar{\chi}(\alpha\mathfrak{a}^{-1}) \\ &= v_q \frac{|S|(4mD)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}})u \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathfrak{a} \\ N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\alpha) = mN(\mathfrak{a})}} \bar{\chi}(\alpha\mathfrak{a}^{-1}) \\ &= v_q \frac{|S|(4mD)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}})ur_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\bar{\chi}}(m) \\ &= v_q \frac{|S|(4mD)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}})ur_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\bar{\chi}}(m) \\ &= v_q \frac{|S|(4mD)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}})ur_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m). \end{split}$$

To summarize, when v sits over a non-split prime q, we have established that

$$(\underline{x}, T_m \overline{\underline{x}}^{\mathfrak{a}})_v = |S| m^{k-t-1} \frac{(4D)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{\substack{b=\alpha+b_- \in R\mathfrak{a}/\pm 1\\N(b)=mN(\mathfrak{a})\\b_- \neq 0}} \overline{\alpha}^{2t} U(b_-) P_{k,t} \left(1 - \frac{2N(b_-)}{N(b)}\right) + v_q \frac{|S|(4mD)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}) ur_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m).$$

Next, we deal with the case when v sits above a prime q that splits in K, say $q\mathcal{O}_K = q\bar{q}$. Our starting point is (89). In this case, by [22, III (8.5) 3) and III (8.6)], we have

$$(\underline{y} \cdot T_{q^s} \underline{y}_g^{\sigma}) = \frac{v_q}{2} \sum_{h' \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}_g^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_{q^s}} 1,$$

where

$$v_q = \begin{cases} k_{\mathfrak{q}} & \text{if } v \nmid N, \text{ where } k_{\mathfrak{q}} \geq 0 \text{ and } k_{\mathfrak{q}} + k_{\bar{\mathfrak{q}}} = s \\ 0 & \text{if } v \mid \mathfrak{n} \\ -\operatorname{ord}_q(N) & \text{if } v \mid \bar{\mathfrak{n}}. \end{cases}$$

Injecting this expression into (89) yields

$$\begin{aligned} (\underline{x}, T_m \overline{\underline{x}}^{\mathfrak{a}})_v &= v_q \frac{|S|m^{k-t-1}}{2} \sum_{g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\underline{y}^{\sigma}, \underline{y})_m} (\bar{\epsilon} (X_{g\sqrt{D}g^{-1}}^{\otimes k-t-1} \otimes X_{\overline{g\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}}}^{\otimes 2t}), \epsilon (X_{\sqrt{D}}^{k-t-1} \otimes X_1^{\otimes 2t})) \\ &= v_q \frac{|S|(4mD)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \chi(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}) ur_{\mathcal{A}, \chi}(m). \end{aligned}$$

(This exact expression was calculated above.) Putting everything together, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \langle Z, T_m \bar{Z}_A \rangle_{\text{fin}}^{\text{BB}} \\ &= -u^2 \frac{|S|(4|D|m)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{0 < n < \frac{m|D|}{N}} \sigma_A(n) r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m|D| - nN) P_{k,t} \left(1 - \frac{2nN}{m|D|}\right) \\ &+ (-1)^{k+t} \frac{|S|(4mD)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} ur_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m) \sum_q v_q \sum_{v|q} \log N(v) \\ &= -u^2 \frac{|S|(4|D|m)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{0 < n < \frac{m|D|}{N}} \sigma_A(n) r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m|D| - nN) P_{k,t} \left(1 - \frac{2nN}{m|D|}\right) \\ &+ (-1)^{k+t} \frac{|S|(4mD)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} ur_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m) \left(\sum_{q \text{ split}} h \operatorname{ord}_q(m/N) \log q + \sum_{q \text{ non-split}} h \operatorname{ord}_q(m) \log q\right) \\ &= -u^2 \frac{|S|(4|D|m)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{0 < n < \frac{m|D|}{N}} \sigma_A(n) r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m|D| - nN) P_{k,t} \left(1 - \frac{2nN}{m|D|}\right) \\ &+ \frac{|S|(4m|D|)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{0 < n < \frac{m|D|}{N}} \sigma_A(n) r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m|D| - nN) P_{k,t} \left(1 - \frac{2nN}{m|D|}\right) \\ &+ \frac{|S|(4m|D|)^{k-t-1}}{\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} hur_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m) \log(N/m). \end{split}$$

13. FINAL FORMULA

We recall from (27) and (28) that

$$Z_{\mathcal{A}} = \chi(\mathfrak{a})^{-1} Z_{\mathfrak{a}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$$
 and $\bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}} = \bar{\chi}(\mathfrak{a})^{-1} \bar{Z}_{\mathfrak{a}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$.

Define

$$\Delta := \frac{1}{\sqrt{\deg(\pi_{M,N})}} (Z + \bar{Z}).$$

If $\mathcal{A} = [\mathfrak{a}] \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$, then define

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{A},\chi} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{\deg(\pi_{M,N})}} (Z_{\mathcal{A}} + \bar{Z}_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}}).$$

Recall from (29) the cycle

$$\Delta_{\chi} := \sum_{\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Cl}_K} \Delta_{\mathcal{A},\chi} \in \operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(X)_{0,K(\sqrt{\operatorname{deg}(\pi_{M,N})})(\chi)}$$

Recall that $g_{\mathcal{A}} = \sum_{n \ge 1} a_m(\mathcal{A}) q^n \in S_{2k}^{\text{new}}(\Gamma_0(N))$ represents the linear functional on $S_{2k}^{\text{new}}(\Gamma_0(N))$ given by

$$f\longmapsto \frac{(2k-2)!\sqrt{|D|D^t}}{2^{4k-1}\pi^{2k}}L'_{\mathcal{A}}(f,\chi,k+t).$$

Theorem 13.1. Assume that $0 < t \le k - 1$. For all (m, N) = 1, we have

$$\langle \Delta_{\chi}, T_m \Delta_{\chi} \rangle^{\mathrm{BB}} = 2hu^2 \frac{(4|D|)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{\mathcal{A}} a_m(\mathcal{A}).$$

Proof. By Theorem 3.6, for any (m, N) = 1, we have

$$a_m(\mathcal{A}) = a_m^{\text{fin}}(\mathcal{A}) + a_m^{\infty}(\mathcal{A}),$$

where (90)

$$a_m^{\text{fin}}(\mathcal{A}) = m^{k-t-1} \left[\frac{h}{u} D^t r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m) \log \frac{N}{m} - \sum_{0 < n \le \frac{m|D|}{N}} \sigma'_{\mathcal{A}}(n) r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m|D| - nN) P_{k,t} \left(1 - \frac{2nN}{m|D|} \right) \right]$$
(91)

$$a_{m}^{\infty}(\mathcal{A}) = m^{k-t-1} \left[\frac{h}{u} D^{t} r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m) \left(\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k+t) + \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}(k-t) + \log\left(\frac{|D|}{4\pi^{2}}\right) + 2\frac{L'}{L}(1,\epsilon_{K}) \right) - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma_{\mathcal{A}}(n) r_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\chi}(m|D|+nN) Q_{k,t} \left(1 + \frac{2nN}{m|D|} \right) \right]$$
(92)

(93)

By Theorem 12.5, using also (86), we have

(94)
$$\langle \bar{Z}, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\text{fin}}^{\text{BB}} = \langle Z, T_m \bar{Z}_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}} \rangle_{\text{fin}}^{\text{BB}} = u^2 \frac{|S|(4|D|)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} a_m^{\text{fin}}(\mathcal{A}).$$

By Theorem 11.3, we have

(95)
$$\langle Z, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}} = \langle \bar{Z}, T_m \bar{Z}_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}} = u^2 \frac{|S|(4|D|)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} a_m^{\infty}(\bar{\mathcal{A}}).$$

Recall that $|S| = \deg(\pi_{M,N})$. We deduce that, for all (m, N = 1), we have

$$h^{-1} \langle \Delta_{\chi}, T_m \Delta_{\chi} \rangle^{\text{BB}} = \langle \Delta, T_m \sum_{\mathcal{A}} \Delta_{\mathcal{A}, \chi} \rangle^{\text{BB}}$$

$$= \langle Z + \bar{Z}, T_m \sum_{\mathcal{A}} (Z_{\mathcal{A}} + \bar{Z}_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}}) \rangle^{\text{BB}}$$

$$= \sum_{\mathcal{A}} (\langle Z, T_m \bar{Z}_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}} \rangle^{\text{BB}}_{\text{fin}} + \langle \bar{Z}, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle^{\text{BB}}_{\text{fin}} + \langle Z, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle^{\text{BB}}_{\infty} + \langle \bar{Z}, T_m \bar{Z}_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}} \rangle^{\text{BB}}_{\infty})$$

$$= u^2 \frac{(4|D|)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{\mathcal{A}} (2a_m^{\text{fin}}(\mathcal{A}) + 2a_m^{\infty}(\bar{\mathcal{A}}))$$

$$= 2u^2 \frac{(4|D|)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{\mathcal{A}} a_m(\mathcal{A}).$$

Define W to be the subspace of generalized Heegner cycles generated by

$$\{T_m\Delta_{\chi} \mid (m,N)=1\}.$$

Let W' denote the quotient of W modulo the null space with respect to the Gillet–Soulé height pairing on $W \times W$.

Proposition 13.2. The module W' is isomorphic as a Hecke module to a subquotient of $S_{2k}(\Gamma_0(N))$.

Proof. The argument is the same as [41, Prop. 5.1.2], but requires Lemma 13.3, which we prove below. \Box

Lemma 13.3. For n and m coprime to N, we have

$$T_n T_m \Delta_{\chi} = \sum_{d \mid (n,m)} d^{2k-1} T_{\frac{nm}{d^2}} \Delta_{\chi}.$$

Proof. We immediately reduce to the case where m and n are powers of a single prime p. Since the action of Hecke operators on Δ_{χ} lies over the action of the Hecke operators on the modular curve, the desired formula follows from the case k = 1 and the formula $f^*\Delta_{\chi} = p^{2k-2}\Delta_{\chi}$, where $f = [p] \times 1: W_{2k-2} \times A^{2t} \to W_{2k-2} \times A^{2t}$. To verify this, we consider separately, in the definition of the generalized Heegner cycle (see Section 5.2), the k-t-1 pure Kuga–Sato factors and the 2t "mixed" factors. Let η be the projection onto $H^1(E_y)^{\otimes 2}$, so that, e.g., $\eta\Gamma_1 = \Gamma_1 - E_y \times \{0\} - \{0\} \times E_y$. On the pure Kuga–Sato factors, the pullback of $\eta\Gamma_{\sqrt{D}}$ along $[p] \times [p]: E_y \times E_y \to E_y \times E_y$ is $p^2\eta\Gamma_{\sqrt{D}}$ [41, 2.4.2]. On the mixed factors the pullback of $\eta\Gamma_1$ along $[p] \times [1]: E_y \times A_F \to E_y \times A_F$ is $\eta\Gamma_p = p\eta\Gamma_1$. It follows that $f^*\epsilon Y = p^{2k-2t-2}p^{2t}\epsilon Y = p^{2k-2}\epsilon Y$, and hence $f^*\Delta_{\chi} = p^{2k-2}\Delta_{\chi}$, as claimed.

Given an element $T \in W$, denote its image in W' by T'. If f is a normalized newform, we may consider the f-isotypic component of Δ'_{χ} , which we denote by $\Delta'_{\chi,f}$.

Theorem 13.4. Assume that $0 < t \le k - 1$. For any normalized newform $f \in S_{2k}(\Gamma_0(N))$, we have

$$L'(f,\chi,k+t) = \frac{4^{k+t}\pi^{2k}(f,f)}{(k-t-1)!(k+t-1)!hu^2\sqrt{|D|}|D|^{k-t-1}} \langle \Delta'_{\chi,f}, \Delta'_{\chi,f} \rangle^{\mathrm{BB}}.$$

Proof. We have

$$L'(f,\chi,k+t) = \sum_{\mathcal{A}} L'_{\mathcal{A}}(f,\chi,k+t) = \frac{2^{4k-1}\pi^{2k}}{(2k-2)!\sqrt{|D|}D^t} (f,\sum_{\mathcal{A}} g_{\mathcal{A}}).$$

Extend $\{f\}$ to a basis $\{f_1 = f, f_2, \ldots, f_d\}$ of $S_{2k}(\Gamma_0(N))$ consisting of the normalized newforms together with a basis of the space of oldforms. We may then write

$$\Delta'_{\chi} = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \Delta'_{\chi,f_i}$$

such that $T_m \Delta'_{\chi,f_i} = a_m(f_i) \Delta'_{\chi,f_i}$ for all (m,N) = 1. We then have

$$\langle \Delta_{\chi}, T_m \Delta_{\chi} \rangle^{\mathrm{BB}} = \langle \Delta'_{\chi}, T_m \Delta'_{\chi} \rangle^{\mathrm{BB}} = \sum_{i,j} \langle \Delta'_{\chi,f_i}, T_m \Delta'_{\chi,f_j} \rangle^{\mathrm{BB}} = \sum_{i,j} a_m(f_j) \langle \Delta'_{\chi,f_i}, \Delta'_{\chi,f_j} \rangle^{\mathrm{BB}}$$

Using Theorem 13.1, we deduce that up to oldforms we have

$$\sum_{\mathcal{A}} g_{\mathcal{A}} = \frac{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}}{2u^2 h(4|D|)^{k-t-1}} \sum_{i,j} \langle \Delta'_{\chi,f_i}, \Delta'_{\chi,f_j} \rangle^{\mathrm{BB}} f_j$$

The cycles Δ'_{χ,f_j} have different eigenvalues with respect to the Hecke operators, which are self-dual with respect to the height pairing. Thus, $\langle \Delta'_{\chi,f_i}, \Delta'_{\chi,f_j} \rangle^{\text{BB}} = 0$ if $i \neq j$ and

$$L'(f,\chi,k+t) = \frac{2^{4k-1}\pi^{2k}}{(2k-2)!\sqrt{|D|}D^t} \frac{D^t\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}}{2u^2h(4|D|)^{k-t-1}} \overline{\langle \Delta'_{\chi,f}, \Delta'_{\chi,f} \rangle^{BB}}.$$

The result follows since \langle , \rangle^{BB} is Hermitian and in particular, any self-pairing is a real number. \Box

14. Algebraicity

We prove generalizations of the algebraicity results of Gross–Zagier [22, V (4.3)] and Zhang [41, Thm. 5.2.2]. Define

$$(96) \quad \mathcal{G}_{M,N,k,t,\chi}^{m}(z,z') := \frac{|S|(4|D|)^{k-t-1}}{D^{t}\binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \bigg[\sum_{\substack{\gamma \in R_{N}^{m}/\pm 1\\ \gamma z' \neq z}} g_{k,t}(z,\gamma z') \alpha(\gamma,z,z')^{2t} \\ + uD^{t}r_{\mathcal{A}_{1}^{-1}\mathcal{A}_{2},\chi}(m) \lim_{w \to z} (g_{k,t}(z,w) - \log|2\pi i \eta^{4}(z)(w-z)|_{v}) \bigg],$$

where we recall that for $\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in R_N^m$, we have $\alpha(\gamma, z, z') = c\bar{z}z' + d\bar{z} - az' - b$, and

$$g_{k,t}(z,z') := -Q_{k,t}\left(1 + \frac{|z-z'|^2}{2yy'}\right),$$

with $Q_{k,t}$ the Jacobi function of the second type (17).

Let $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$ with corresponding Galois element $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(H/K)$. Let $\tau_0 = \frac{-1+\sqrt{D}}{2} \in \mathcal{H}$ such that $\Gamma_0(N)\tau_0 = P_{\mathfrak{n}}$, as in Section 10.2. Define the quantity

$$\gamma_{M,N,k,t,\chi}^{m}(\mathcal{A}) := \sum_{\rho \in \operatorname{Gal}(H/K)} \mathcal{G}_{M,N,k,t,\chi}^{m}(\tau_{0}^{\rho},\tau_{0}^{\rho\sigma}) = \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{A}_{1},\mathcal{A}_{2} \in \operatorname{Cl}_{K} \\ \mathcal{A}_{1}^{-1}\mathcal{A}_{2} = \mathcal{A}}} \mathcal{G}_{M,N,k,t,\chi}^{m}(\tau_{\mathfrak{a}_{1}},\tau_{\mathfrak{a}_{2}}).$$

By Theorem 11.9 and (95), we have

$$\langle Z, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle_{\infty}^{\mathrm{BB}} = m^{k-t-1} \gamma_{M,N,k,t,\chi}^m(\mathcal{A}) = u^2 \frac{|S|(4|D|)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} a_m^{\infty}(\bar{\mathcal{A}}),$$

where $a_m^{\infty}(\bar{\mathcal{A}})$ is given by (91). We deduce that

$$(97) \quad a_m(\bar{\mathcal{A}}) = \frac{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}}{u^2 |S|(4|D|)^{k-t-1}} m^{k-t-1} \gamma^m_{M,N,k,t,\chi}(\mathcal{A}) + m^{k-t-1} \left[\frac{h}{u} D^t r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m) \log \frac{N}{m} - \sum_{0 < n \le \frac{m|D|}{N}} \sigma'_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}}(n) r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m|D| - nN) P_{k,t} \left(1 - \frac{2nN}{m|D|} \right) \right].$$

Let $\lambda = {\lambda_m}_{\geq 1}$ be a relation for $S_{2k}(\Gamma_0(N))$, in the sense of [22, p. 316], so that:

- i) $\lambda_m \in \mathbb{Z}, \lambda_m = 0$ for all but finitely many m;
- ii) $\sum_{m>1} \lambda_m a_m = 0$ for all $\sum_{m>1} a_m q^m \in S_{2k}(\Gamma_0(N));$
- iii) $\lambda_m = 0$ for $(m, N) \neq 1$.

Define

$$\gamma_{M,N,k,t,\chi,\lambda}(\mathcal{A}) := \sum_{m \ge 1} m^{k-t-1} \lambda_m \gamma_{M,N,k,t,\chi}^m(\mathcal{A}) = \sum_{\rho \in \operatorname{Gal}(H/K)} \mathcal{G}_{M,N,k,t,\chi,\lambda}(\tau_0^{\rho}, \tau_0^{\rho\sigma}).$$

Then (97) implies the equality:

Theorem 14.1. For all $0 < t \le k - 1$, λ a relation for $S_{2k}(\Gamma_0(N))$, and \mathcal{A} an ideal class of K, we have

(98)
$$\gamma_{M,N,k,t,\chi,\lambda}(\mathcal{A}) = u^2 \frac{|S|(4|D|)^{k-t-1}}{D^t \binom{2k-2}{k-t-1}} \sum_{m\geq 1} m^{k-t-1} \lambda_m \bigg[-\frac{h}{u} D^t r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m) \log \frac{N}{m} + \sum_{0 < n \leq \frac{m|D|}{N}} \sigma'_{\mathcal{A}}(n) r_{\mathcal{A},\chi}(m|D| - nN) P_{k,t} \left(1 - \frac{2nN}{m|D|} \right) \bigg].$$

The quantity $\sigma'_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}}(n)$ appearing in the sum on the right hand side is a non-negative even integral multiple of the logarithm of a prime (by the remark following [22, IV (4.6)]). Hence, Theorem 14.1 expresses $\gamma_{M,N,k,t,\chi,\lambda}(\mathcal{A})$ as a $\mathbb{Q}(\chi)$ -rational linear combination of logarithms of primes, generalizing [22, V (4.3)] to the case t > 0.

We also obtain the following result in support of a generalization of the algebraicity conjecture of Gross–Zagier [22, V (4.4)]:

Theorem 14.2. Let $0 < t \le k - 1$, λ be a relation for $S_{2k}(\Gamma_0(N))$, and $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(H/K)$. Assume that the height pairing on generalized Heegner cycles is non-degenerate. Then there exists a $K(\chi)$ -rational number c and an element $\delta \in H \otimes K(\chi)$ such that

$$\mathcal{G}_{M,N,k,t,\chi,\lambda}(\tau_0^{\rho},\tau_0^{\rho\sigma}) = c\log|\delta^{\rho}|_v,$$

for all $\rho \in \operatorname{Gal}(H/K)$, where $v \colon H \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ is the embedding fixed in Section 10.2.

Proof. Let \mathcal{A} be the ideal class corresponding to σ . By Theorem 11.8 and (76), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}_{M,N,k,t,\chi,\lambda}(\tau_0^{\rho},\tau_0^{\rho\sigma}) &= \sum_{m\geq 1} m^{k-t-1} \lambda_m \mathcal{G}_{M,N,k,t,\chi}^m(\tau_0^{\rho},\tau_0^{\rho\sigma}) \\ &= \sum_{m\geq 1} \lambda_m \left\langle Z_{\mathcal{A}_1}, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}_2} \right\rangle_v \\ &= \sum_{m\geq 1} \lambda_m \left\langle Z, T_m Z_{\mathcal{A}} \right\rangle_w \\ &= \left\langle \sum_{m\geq 1} \lambda_m T_m Z, Z_{\mathcal{A}} \right\rangle_w, \end{aligned}$$

where \mathcal{A}_1 is the ideal class corresponding to $\rho \in \operatorname{Gal}(H/K)$, $\mathcal{A}_2 = \mathcal{A}_1 \mathcal{A}$, and w is the infinite place corresponding to ρ . Thus, the individual terms $\mathcal{G}_{M,N,k,t,\chi,\lambda}(\tau_0^{\rho}, \tau_0^{\rho\sigma})$ in the definition of $\gamma_{M,N,k,t,\chi,\lambda}(\mathcal{A})$ are the local height pairings at archimedean places of the cycles $\sum_{m\geq 1}\lambda_m T_m Z$ and $Z_{\mathcal{A}}$. Using the non-degeneracy of the height pairing and Proposition 13.2, the fact that λ is a relation for $S_{2k}(\Gamma_0(N))$ implies that $\sum_{m\geq 1}\lambda_m T_m Z = 0 \in \operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(X)_{0,K(\chi)}$. Thus, there exist subvarieties W_i of X and functions f_i in W_i defined over H such that

$$\sum_{m\geq 1} \lambda_m T_m Z = c \sum_i \operatorname{div}(f_i | W_i),$$

for some $c \in K(\chi)$. It follows that

$$\sum_{m\geq 1} \lambda_m \langle Z, T_m Z_\mathcal{A} \rangle_w = c \sum_i \log |f_i(Z_\mathcal{A} \cdot W_i)| w$$
$$= c \log \left| \prod_i f_i(Z_\mathcal{A} \cdot W_i) \right|_w$$
$$= c \log \left| \left(\prod_i f_i(Z_\mathcal{A} \cdot W_i) \right)^\rho \right|_v.$$

г		٦
L		1
н		
L		л

Theorem 14.2 generalizes [41, Thm. 5.2.2] to the case t > 0.

15. Corollary

Proof of Corollary 1.4. Fix a prime $\ell \nmid 2(2k-1)!N\varphi(N)$ split in K. Let $\chi' := \chi \cdot \mathrm{Nm}^{-t}$, a Hecke character of infinity type (t, -t). Consider the ℓ -adic Gal_K-representation $V_{f,\chi',\ell} = V_{f,\ell}(k) \otimes \chi'_{\ell} = V_{f,\ell}(k) \otimes \chi'_{\ell}(t)$. The Rankin–Selberg L-function $L(f,\chi,s)$ has global root number -1.

Let F/\mathbb{Q}_{ℓ} be a finite extension containing the Fourier coefficients of F and the values of χ' . Consider the generalized Kuga–Sato variety $X' := W_{2k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \times A^{2k-2}$, where $W_{2k-2}(\Gamma_1(N))$ is the Kuga– Sato (2k-1)-fold over the modular curve $X_1(N)$ with $\Gamma_1(N)$ -level structure, and A is a CM elliptic curve as in [13, §4.1]. It contains the generalized Heegner cycle

$$\Upsilon := \epsilon_W \otimes \epsilon_A((\Gamma_{\mathrm{id}}^T)^{2k-2}) \in \mathrm{CH}^{2k-1}(X'_H)_0,$$

where the projectors ϵ_W and ϵ_A are the ones defined in [3, (2.1.2), (1.4.4)]. Define a class $z_{f,\chi'} \in H^1_f(K, V_{f,\chi',\ell})$ by

$$z_{f,\chi'} = \operatorname{cor}_{H/K}(z_{f,\chi',1}),$$

where $z_{f,\chi',1} \in H^1(H, V_{f,\chi',\ell})$ is the χ'_{ℓ} -component of the image of $\operatorname{AJ}^{2k-1}_{X'}(\Upsilon)$ in $H^1(H, V_{f,\ell}(k) \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{2k-2} H^1_{et}(\bar{A}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}(1))).$ By [13, Thm. B], we have

(99)
$$z_{f,\chi'} \neq 0 \implies H^1_f(K, V_{f,\chi',\ell}) = F \cdot z_{f,\chi'}.$$

Since we assume the injectivity of AJ_X^{k+t} , to prove Corollary 1.4 it suffices to prove that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{s=1} L(f, \chi, s) = 1 \implies z_{f,\chi'} \neq 0.$$

Let $\tilde{X} := W_{2k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \times A^{2t}$ and define the generalized Heegner cycles

$$\Upsilon^t_{\mathcal{A}} = \epsilon_W \otimes \epsilon_A((\Gamma_{\sqrt{D}})^{k-t-1} \times (\Gamma^T_{\phi_{\mathfrak{a}}})^{2t}) \in \mathrm{CH}^{k+t}(\tilde{X}_H)_0.$$

Define

$$z_{f,\chi'}^t = \operatorname{cor}_{H/K}(z_{f,\chi',1}^t) \in H^1(K, V_{f,\chi',\ell})$$

where $z_{f,\chi',1}^t \in H^1(H, V_{f,\chi',\ell})$ is the χ'_{ℓ} -component of the image of $\operatorname{AJ}^{k+t}_{\tilde{X}}(\Upsilon^t_{[\mathcal{O}_K]})$ in

$$H^1(H, V_{f,\ell}(k) \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{2t} H^1_{\operatorname{et}}(\bar{A}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}(1)))$$

By [5, Prop. 4.1.1], there exists an algebraic correspondence mapping Υ to an integral multiple of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{O}]_K}^t$. Thus, in order to prove that $z_{f,\chi'} \neq 0$, it suffices to prove that $z_{f,\chi'}^t \neq 0$.

Recall the generalized Kuga–Sato variety $X = W_{2k-2} \times A^{2t}$ studied in this paper, along with the generalized Heegner cycles $Z_{\mathcal{A}}, \bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}} \in \operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(X_H)_{0,K(\chi)}$. Define $\tilde{z}_{f,\chi'}^t \in H^1(K, V_{f,\chi',\ell})$ to be the χ' -component of

$$\operatorname{cor}_{H/K}(\operatorname{AJ}_{X,f}^{k+t}(Z)) \in H^1(K, V_{f,\ell}(k) \otimes \kappa_{2t} H^{2t}_{\operatorname{et}}(\bar{A}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}(t))),$$

where $AJ_{X,f}^{k+t}$ denotes the composition

$$\mathrm{CH}^{k+t}(X)_{0} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{AJ}_{X}^{k+t}} H^{1}(H, H_{\mathrm{et}}^{2k-1}(\bar{X}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}(k)) \otimes \kappa_{2t} H_{\mathrm{et}}^{2t}(\bar{A}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}(t))) \xrightarrow{\epsilon_{f}} H^{1}(K, V_{f,\ell}(k) \otimes \kappa_{2t} H_{\mathrm{et}}^{2t}(\bar{A}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}(t))).$$

Note that $\kappa_{2t}H^{2t}(\bar{A}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}(t))$ is a quotient of $\epsilon_A H^{2t}(\bar{A}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}(t))$. In order to prove that $z_{f,\chi'}^t \neq 0$, it therefore suffices to prove that $\tilde{z}_{f,\chi'}^t \neq 0$ (the different level structures have no effect since we are projecting the cohomology classes to the cohomology of the representation $V_{f,\ell}$, which can be cut out from the cohomology of W_{2k-2} and/or $W_{2k-2}(\Gamma_1(N))$).

We have

$$\tilde{z}_{f,\chi'}^t = \sum_{\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Cl}_K} \operatorname{AJ}_{X,f}^{k+t}(Z_{\mathcal{A}}) = \operatorname{AJ}_{X,f}^{k+t}\left(\sum_{\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Cl}_K} Z_{\mathcal{A}}\right).$$

Let $\tau \in \text{Gal}(H/,\mathbb{Q})$ be a lift of a generator of $\text{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q})$. Let $(-1)^k \nu_f$ be the sign of the functional equation of L(f,s). By [35, Lem. 4.8], we have

$$\tau(\tilde{z}_{f,\chi'}^t) = (-1)^{k-t-1} \nu_f \chi'(\mathfrak{n}) \operatorname{AJ}_{X,f}^{k+t} \left(\sum_{\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Cl}_K} \bar{Z}_{\mathcal{A}}\right)$$

In view of (29), we thus have

(100)
$$\tilde{z}_{f,\chi'}^t + (-1)^{k-t-1} \nu_f \chi'(\bar{\mathfrak{n}}) \tau(\tilde{z}_{f,\chi'}^t) = \sqrt{\deg(\pi_{M,N})} \operatorname{AJ}_X^{k+t}(\Delta_{\chi,f}).$$
Using Theorem 1.1, we see that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{s=k+t} L(f, \chi, s) = 1 \stackrel{(1.1)}{\Longrightarrow} \langle \Delta_{\chi, f}, \Delta_{\chi, f} \rangle^{\operatorname{BB}} \neq 0$$

$$\Longrightarrow \Delta_{\chi, f} \neq 0$$

$$\stackrel{\operatorname{AJ inj.}}{\Longrightarrow} \operatorname{AJ}_{X}^{k+t}(\Delta_{\chi, f}) \neq 0$$

$$\stackrel{(100)}{\Longrightarrow} \tilde{z}_{f, \chi'}^{t} \neq 0$$

$$\Longrightarrow z_{f, \chi'} \neq 0$$

$$\stackrel{(99)}{\Longrightarrow} \dim_{F} H_{f}^{1}(K, V_{f, \chi', \ell}) = 1$$

$$\stackrel{\operatorname{AJ inj.}}{\Longrightarrow} \dim_{K(\chi)} \epsilon_{f, \chi} \operatorname{CH}^{k+t}(X)_{0} = 1.$$

APPENDIX: CONVENTIONS FOR HEEGNER POINTS

Following [20], any Heegner point on $X_0(N)$ for K can be described as $(\mathcal{A}, \mathfrak{n}) := (\mathbb{C}/\mathfrak{a} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}/\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{n}^{-1})$ for any integral ideal \mathfrak{a} such that $[\mathfrak{a}] = \mathcal{A}$. The identification of $Y_0(N)$ with $\Gamma_0(N) \setminus \mathcal{H}$ is obtained as follows. Given a point $\tau \in \mathcal{H}$, assign to it $(\mathbb{C}/\langle 1, \tau \rangle, 1/N + \langle 1, \tau \rangle)$. Conversely, given a cyclic N-isogeny $E \longrightarrow E'$, write $E = \mathbb{C}/L$ and $E' = \mathbb{C}/L'$. Up to homothety, we may assume $L \subset$ L' and $\mathbb{C}/L \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}/L'$ is the identity map on covering spaces. We can then choose an oriented basis $L = \langle \omega_2, \omega_1 \rangle$ such that $\tau = \omega_1/\omega_2 \in \mathcal{H}$ and $L' = \langle \omega_2/N, \omega_1 \rangle$. The point $(E \longrightarrow E')$ of $Y_0(N)$ then corresponds to $\Gamma_0(N)\tau$. The point corresponding to the Heegner point $(\mathcal{A}, \mathfrak{n})$ will be denoted by $z_{\mathcal{A},\mathfrak{n}} \in \mathcal{H}$. Since $z_{\mathcal{A},\mathfrak{n}} \in K$ and $Nz_{\mathcal{A},\mathfrak{n}} \in K$, the point satisfies a quadratic equation $az_{\mathcal{A},\mathfrak{n}}^2 + bz_{\mathcal{A},\mathfrak{n}} + c = 0$ with $\gcd(a, b, c) = 1$, $D = b^2 - 4ac$, and $N \mid a$. We have $\bar{z}_{\mathcal{A},\mathfrak{n}} = z_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\bar{\mathfrak{n}}}$. If $\sigma_{\mathcal{B}} \in \operatorname{Gal}(\mathcal{H}/K)$ corresponds to $\mathcal{B} \in \operatorname{Cl}_K$ under the Artin map, then $z_{\mathcal{A},\mathfrak{n}}^{\sigma_{\mathcal{B}}} = z_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{B}^{-1},\mathfrak{n}}$. Letting $p \mid N$, $p\mathcal{O}_K = \mathfrak{p}\bar{\mathfrak{p}}, \mathfrak{n} = \mathfrak{p}^k\mathfrak{m}$ and $\mathfrak{n}' = \bar{\mathfrak{p}}^k\mathfrak{m}$, we have $w_p(z_{\mathcal{A},\mathfrak{n}}) = z_{\mathcal{A}[\bar{p}^k],\mathfrak{n}'}$. These are the conventions used in [31, p. 663].

These conventions differ slightly from the ones in [22]. We begin by recalling that $\mathcal{O}_K = \langle 1, \frac{-1+\sqrt{D}}{2} \rangle$. The ideal \mathfrak{n} is determined by some $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}/2N\mathbb{Z}$ such that $\beta^2 \equiv D \pmod{4N}$ and $\mathfrak{n} = \langle N, \frac{\beta+\sqrt{D}}{2} \rangle$. We have $N(\mathfrak{n}) = N$ and $\mathfrak{n}^{-1} = \bar{\mathfrak{n}}N^{-1} = \langle 1, \frac{-\beta+\sqrt{D}}{2N} \rangle$. Consider a quadratic equation of the form

(101)
$$AX^2 + BX + C = 0, \quad A > 0, \quad B^2 - 4AC = D, \quad N \mid A, \quad B \equiv \beta \pmod{2N}$$

and consider the integral ideal $\mathfrak{a} = \langle A, \frac{B+\sqrt{D}}{2} \rangle$. Observe that $N(\mathfrak{a}) = A, \mathfrak{a}^{-1} = \bar{\mathfrak{a}}A^{-1} = \langle 1, \frac{-B+\sqrt{D}}{2A} \rangle$, and $\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{n}^{-1} = \langle \frac{A}{N}, \frac{B+\sqrt{D}}{2} \rangle$. Gross and Zagier define $\tau_{\mathcal{A},\mathfrak{n}} = (-B+\sqrt{D})/2A \in \mathcal{H}$ to be the solution to (101) that lies in \mathcal{H} . Then $\mathfrak{a}^{-1} = \langle 1, \tau_{\mathcal{A},\mathfrak{n}} \rangle$. Observe moreover that

$$\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\bar{\mathfrak{n}}^{-1} = \mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{n}N^{-1} = (\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{n}^{-1})^{-1}N^{-1} = \overline{\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{n}^{-1}}NA^{-1}N^{-1} = \overline{\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{n}^{-1}}A^{-1} = \left\langle \frac{1}{N}, \tau_{\mathcal{A},\mathfrak{n}} \right\rangle$$

We deduce that

$$\Gamma_0(N)\tau_{\mathcal{A},\mathfrak{n}} = \Gamma_0(N)z_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\bar{\mathfrak{n}}} = \Gamma_0(N)\bar{z}_{\mathcal{A},\mathfrak{n}}$$

In particular, we obtain

(102)
$$\tau_{\mathcal{A},\mathfrak{n}}^{\sigma_{\mathcal{B}}} = z_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\bar{\mathfrak{n}}}^{\sigma_{\mathcal{B}}} = z_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{B}^{-1},\bar{\mathfrak{n}}} = \tau_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{B},\mathfrak{n}}.$$

This is coherent with the statement [22, p. 235] that "Gal $(H/K) \simeq \operatorname{Cl}_K$ acts by multiplication on \mathcal{A} ". Letting $p \mid N, p\mathcal{O}_K = \mathfrak{p}\bar{\mathfrak{p}}, \mathfrak{n} = \mathfrak{p}^k\mathfrak{m}$ and $\mathfrak{n}' = \bar{\mathfrak{p}}^k\mathfrak{m}$, we have

(103)
$$w_p(\tau_{\mathcal{A},\mathfrak{n}}) = w_p(z_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\bar{\mathfrak{n}}}) = z_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}[\bar{\mathfrak{p}}^k],\mathfrak{p}^k\bar{\mathfrak{m}}} = \tau_{\mathcal{A}[\bar{\mathfrak{p}}^k],\mathfrak{p}^k} = \tau_{\mathcal{A}[\bar{\mathfrak{p}}^k],\mathfrak{n}'}.$$

Note that the cycles $Z_{\mathcal{A}}$ and $Z_{\mathcal{A}}$ sit above the Heegner point

$$P^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\mathfrak{n}} = (\mathbb{C}/\mathfrak{a}^{-1} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}/\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{n}^{-1}) = z_{\bar{\mathcal{A}},\mathfrak{n}} = \tau_{\mathcal{A},\bar{\mathfrak{n}}} = (A^{\mathfrak{a}} \longrightarrow A^{\mathfrak{a}}/A^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{n}]).$$

Equation (103) is consistent with the claim [22, p. 243] about Atkin–Lehner, but inconsistent with the claim in [22, p. 236 i)]. It is moreover claimed in [22, top of p. 243] that $\tau_{\mathcal{A},n}^{\sigma_{\mathcal{B}}} = \tau_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{B}^{-1},n}$. This contradicts (102) and is the reason that all sums in the archimedean calculation of [22] are over ideal classes \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_2 satisfying $\mathcal{A}_1\mathcal{A}_2^{-1} = \mathcal{A}$, when the sums should in fact be taken over ideal classes \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_2 satisfying $\mathcal{A}_1^{-1}\mathcal{A}_2 = \mathcal{A}$. This does not affect the results of [22] because there is no infinite order Hecke character to deal with, but it does matter in our setting. In the same vein, it seems that [41, 2nd equality bottom p. 142] should contain \mathcal{A}^{-1} instead of \mathcal{A} . Once again, this does not affect the results of [41], since there is no infinite order Hecke character.

References

- A. Beilinson. Height pairing between algebraic cycles. In Current trends in arithmetical algebraic geometry (Arcata, Calif., 1985), volume 67 of Contemp. Math., pages 1–24. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1987.
- [2] M. Bertolini, H. Darmon, and K. Prasanna. p-adic Rankin L-series and rational points on CM elliptic curves. Pacific J. Math., 260(2):261–303, 2012.
- [3] M. Bertolini, H. Darmon, and K. Prasanna. Generalized Heegner cycles and p-adic Rankin L-series. Duke Math. J., 162(6):1033–1148, 2013. With an appendix by Brian Conrad.
- [4] M. Bertolini, H. Darmon, and K. Prasanna. Chow-Heegner points on CM elliptic curves and values of p-adic L-functions. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, (3):745–793, 2014.
- [5] M. Bertolini, H. Darmon, and K. Prasanna. p-adic L-functions and the coniveau filtration on Chow groups. J. Reine Angew. Math., 731:21–86, 2017. With an appendix by Brian Conrad.
- [6] S. Bloch. Algebraic cycles and values of L-functions. J. Reine Angew. Math., 350:94–108, 1984.
- [7] S. Bloch. Height pairings for algebraic cycles. In Proceedings of the Luminy conference on algebraic K-theory (Luminy, 1983), volume 34, pages 119–145, 1984.
- [8] S. Bloch and K. Kato. L-functions and Tamagawa numbers of motives. In The Grothendieck Festschrift, Vol. I, volume 86 of Progr. Math., pages 333–400. Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1990.
- J. H. Bruinier, S. Ehlen, and T. Yang. CM values of higher automorphic Green functions for orthogonal groups. Invent. Math., 225(3):693-785, 2021.
- [10] J.-L. Brylinski. Heights for local systems on curves. Duke Math. J., 59(1):1–26, 1989.
- [11] F. Castella. Tamagawa number conjecture for CM modular forms and Rankin-Selberg convolutions. Preprint, arXiv:2407.11891v2, 2024.
- [12] F. Castella and K.T. Do. Diagonal cycles and anticyclotomic Iwasawa theory of modular forms. Preprint, arXiv:2303.06751v1, 2023.
- [13] F. Castella and M.-L. Hsieh. Heegner cycles and p-adic L-functions. Math. Ann., 370(1-2):567–628, 2018.
- [14] D. Disegni. The universal *p*-adic Gross-Zagier formula. *Invent. Math.*, 230(2):509–649, 2022.
- [15] Y. Elias. On the Selmer group attached to a modular form and an algebraic Hecke character. Ramanujan J., 45(1):141–169, 2018.
- [16] A. Erdélyi, W. Magnus, F. Oberhettinger, and F. G. Tricomi. *Higher transcendental functions. Vol. I-III.* Robert E. Krieger Publishing Co., Inc., Melbourne, FL, 1981. Based on notes left by Harry Bateman, With a preface by Mina Rees, With a foreword by E. C. Watson, Reprint of the 1953 original.
- [17] H. Gillet and C. Soulé. Arithmetic intersection theory. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., (72):93–174, 1990.
- [18] F. Q. Gouvêa and N. Yui. Rigid Calabi-Yau threefolds over Q are modular. *Expo. Math.*, 29(1):142–149, 2011.
- [19] C. C. Grosjean. The weight functions, generating functions and miscellaneous properties of the sequences of orthogonal polynomials of the second kind associated with the Jacobi and the Gegenbauer polynomials. J. Comput. Appl. Math., 16(3):259–307, 1986.
- [20] B. H. Gross. Heegner points on $X_0(N)$. In Modular forms (Durham, 1983), Ellis Horwood Ser. Math. Appl.: Statist. Oper. Res., pages 87–105. Horwood, Chichester, 1984.
- [21] B. H. Gross. Local heights on curves. In Arithmetic geometry (Storrs, Conn., 1984), pages 327–339. Springer, New York, 1986.
- [22] B. H. Gross and D. B. Zagier. Heegner points and derivatives of L-series. Invent. Math., 84(2):225-320, 1986.
- [23] D. A. Hejhal. The Selberg trace formula for PSL(2, R). Vol. 2, volume 1001 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1983.
- [24] E. Hunter Brooks. Shimura curves and special values of p-adic L-functions. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, (12):4177–4241, 2015.

- [25] D. Huybrechts. Complex geometry. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2005. An introduction.
- [26] N. M. Katz and B. Mazur. Arithmetic moduli of elliptic curves, volume 108 of Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1985.
- [27] Y. Li. Algebraicity of higher Green functions at a CM point. Invent. Math., 234(1):375–418, 2023.
- [28] D. T.-B. G. Lilienfeldt and A. Shnidman. Experiments with Ceresa classes of cyclic Fermat quotients. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 151:931–947, 2023.
- [29] M. Masdeu. CM cycles on Shimura curves, and p-adic L-functions. Compos. Math., 148(4):1003–1032, 2012.
- [30] S. Müller-Stach. A remark on height pairings. In Algebraic cycles and Hodge theory (Torino, 1993), volume 1594 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 253–259. Springer, Berlin, 1994.
- [31] J. Nekovář. On the p-adic height of Heegner cycles. Math. Ann., 302(4):609–686, 1995.
- [32] C. Qiu. Modularity and heights of CM cycles on Kuga-Sato varieties. Preprint, arXiv:2105.12561v2, 2021.
- [33] A. J. Scholl. Motives for modular forms. Invent. Math., 100(2):419-430, 1990.
- [34] A. Shnidman. Heights of generalized Heegner cycles. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2015. Thesis (Ph.D.)–The University of Michigan, Ann Arbor.
- [35] A. Shnidman. p-adic heights of generalized Heegner cycles. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 66(3):1117–1174, 2016.
- [36] G. Szego. Orthogonal polynomials, volume Vol. XXIII of American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, fourth edition, 1975.
- [37] C. Voisin. Hodge theory and complex algebraic geometry. I, volume 76 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002. Translated from the French original by Leila Schneps.
- [38] B. Wen. Harmonic Analysis on Local Systems on Graphs: Towards a Gross-Zagier Formula on CM-Cycles Over Shimura Curves. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2022. Thesis (Ph.D.)–Princeton University.
- [39] X. Yuan, S. Zhang, and W. Zhang. Triple product L-series and Gross-Kudla-Schoen cycles. Preprint, http://math.mit.edu/~wz2113/math/online/triple.pdf, 2012.
- [40] X. Yuan, S. Zhang, and W. Zhang. The Gross-Zagier formula on Shimura curves, volume 184 of Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2013.
- [41] S. Zhang. Heights of Heegner cycles and derivatives of L-series. Invent. Math., 130(1):99–152, 1997.
- [42] S. Zucker. Hodge theory with degenerating coefficients. L_2 cohomology in the Poincaré metric. Ann. of Math. (2), 109(3):415–476, 1979.

MATHEMATICAL INSTITUTE, LEIDEN UNIVERSITY, THE NETHERLANDS

Email address: d.t.b.g.lilienfeldt@math.leidenuniv.nl

EINSTEIN INSTITUTE OF MATHEMATICS, HEBREW UNIVERSITY OF JERUSALEM, ISRAEL

Email address: ariel.shnidman@mail.huji.ac.il